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PART I
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
Many of the matters discussed within this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) contain forward-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) on our current expectations and
projections about future events. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “should,”
“potential,” “continue,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” and similar expressions. These
statements are based on our current beliefs, expectations, and assumptions and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of
which are difficult to predict and generally beyond our control, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed,
projected or implied in or by the forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include the risks noted under Part 1. “Business,
“Part 1A “Risk Factors” And Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations,
but are also contained elsewhere. We do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements. Unless the context
requires otherwise, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Icagen,” refer to Icagen, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
You should refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”” section of this Annual Report for a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. As a result of these factors, we cannot
assure you that the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report will prove to be accurate. Furthermore, if our forward-looking
statements prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be material. In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking
statements, you should not regard these statements as a representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our
objectives and plans in any specified time frame, or at all. We do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
Item 1. Business
Overview
We partner with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to offer industry-leading scientific expertise and comprehensive access to
technologies for ion channel and transporter drug discovery and development. With over 20 years of leadership in the ion channel field, our
team has an extensive track record of success in advancing molecules from drug discovery to clinical development across multiple
therapeutic areas and ion channel classes. We offer a full complement of screening services to the broader pharmaceutical sector, including
the use of proprietary x-ray fluorescence technology marketed under the XRpro® trademark to deliver ion channel and transporter
screening, assay development, cell line generation and custom assay services to our customers. Our capabilities include molecular biology
and the use of complex functional assays, electrophysiology, bioanalytics and pharmacology. We believe that this integrated set of
capabilities enhances our ability to help our customers develop drug candidates and is a commercial opportunity that meets a significant
unmet medical need and commercial opportunity.
We utilize a target class approach to drug discovery. Whereas traditional drug discovery starts with a disease and seeks to identify potential
intervention points, or drug targets, our target class approach starts with all potential ion channel targets and seeks to identify applications to
the treatment of various diseases. We believe that our understanding of the ion channel genome and ability to apply this knowledge in a
target class approach to drug discovery facilitates our identification of small molecule drug candidates with novel mechanisms of action and
enhanced selectivity and specificity profiles. Moreover, because our drug discovery and development process screens for potential side
effects at an earlier stage than some alternative approaches, we believe that this process enables us to identify small molecule drug
candidates that may have a reduced risk of clinical failure and may shorten clinical development timelines.
Through our recent acquisition of the assets of Pfizer, Inc.’s subsidiary, Icagen, which was formed in 1992, we now have an extensive
platform of assay tools and technologies for the interrogation of ion channel and transporter function and pharmacological modulation
including our proprietary label free XRpro® technology. With our extensive experience in ion channels, screening, and drug development,
that dates back to 1992, when Icagen was first founded, the Company has built an extensive portfolio of over 1000 cell lines, including cell
lines stably expressing recombinant human ion channels and transporters, species orthologs and distinct disease-related or drug binding site
mutants. These tools form the basis for compound screening, selectivity assays, detailed assessment of activity, and mechanism of action
studies to support hit-to-lead, lead optimization and clinical candidate selection for drug discovery partners.
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We also offer a full complement of assay technologies including high throughput fluorescence, manual and automated electrophysiology,
and radiotracer flux assays. Combined with our cell line and assay development expertise, these technologies enable us to rapidly provide
quality assays for a broad set of ion channels and transporters.
Since inception, we have financed our operations primarily through private sales of our securities, settlement of previous legal matters in
our favor and prior to our acquisition of certain assets of Icagen from Pfizer, Inc. substantially all of our revenue was derived from
government grants. Subsequent to our acquisition of certain assets of Icagen from Pfizer, Inc. a substantial portion of our revenue has been
derived from one commercial customer. We expect to continue to seek to obtain our required capital through the private sale of securities
and revenue derived for the services we provide.
Prior to July 2015, substantially all of our revenue was derived from government grants related to services provided by our XRpro
technology. Since July 2015, our customer base has expanded and a significant portion of our revenue is now derived from commercial
customers. For the year ended December 31, 2015, 84% of our revenue was derived from provision of services to commercial customers,
and approximately 75.8% of our revenue was derived from one commercial customer. The remaining 16% of our revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2015 was derived from three government grants from the National Institutes of Health.
Recent Developments
On July 1, 2015, we consummated the acquisition contemplated by the Asset Purchase and Collaboration Agreement (“APA”) that we
entered into with Icagen Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Pfizer Inc. (“Pfizer”). In terms of the agreement we acquired certain assets of
Icagen (including certain cell lines, office equipment, servers, biology instruments, benchtops and the Icagen name), assumed certain
liabilities of Icagen and agreed to continue the employment of several employees of Icagen for at least two years. Icagen was founded in
1992 and acquired by Pfizer in 2007. We believe that a large part of the value added from the acquisition was the in excess of twenty years
of know-how of the members of the Icagen team who joined us after the closing of the acquisition. We agreed to pay: (i) an upfront cash
purchase price of $500,000, of which $125,000 was paid at closing date, July 1, 2015, a further $125,000 was paid on September 1, 2015
an additional $125,000 was paid on December 1, 2015 and the final installment of $125,000 was paid on March 1, 2016; (ii) a cash
payment of $500,000 on the second anniversary of the closing provided that prior to such date the MSSA (as defined below) has generated
at least $4,000,000 in revenue; and (iii) beginning in 2017, a quarterly earn out payment (the “Earn Out Payment”) of 10% of revenue
earned during the quarter up to a maximum aggregate payment of $10,000,000.
We also entered into a Master Scientific Services Agreement with Pfizer (the “MSSA”), the execution of which was a condition to closing
under the APA. In accordance with the terms of the MSSA, we agreed to perform ion channel screening and other contract research for
Pfizer, including but not limited to, on demand assay development, modification and optimization, compound screening, ion channel
screening, reagent and cell line generation, biology platform development. The MSSA and APA provide that Pfizer will guarantee revenue
to us totaling at least $1,000,000 for each of the first two 12-month periods following the closing on a “take or pay” basis.
The XRpro Instrument and its Advantages
Our proprietary XRpro instrument is a label-free technology that leverages the unique capabilities of X-ray fluorescence for highthroughput ion flux assays. XRpro technology directly measures elements across the periodic table, from monovalent and divalent ions
including potassium and calcium to halogens and transition metals including zinc. Combined with the penetrating ability of X-rays to deal
with complex solutions including 100% serum, the system enables analysis of electrogenic and non-electrogenic transporters that challenge
other technologies.
In an XRpro® instrument, an energy resolving, photon counting X-ray detector is used to measure the intensity of X-ray fluorescence. A
full spectrum is measured for each sample, allowing simultaneous measurements of multiple elements.
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The strengths of XRpro technology are derived from the physical properties of X-rays and the large number of elements that can
simultaneously be analyzed. XRpro enables direct measurement of ions and metals that are otherwise difficult to address. This benefit
opens the door to analysis of non-electrogenic systems, transporters, and other targets that were not previously possible or cost effective on
a large scale, including a large number of inorganic transporters.
The penetrating ability of X-rays and the lack of dyes make XRpro insensitive to the chemical environment of target ions. It is compatible
with complex buffers and media, including 100% serum, that are challenging for other technologies. This feature enables high throughput,
direct activity-based measurements to identify reductions in compound efficacy due to serum protein binding.
Some key features of XRpro® include:
●

Direct label-free measurements. This feature reduces assay development times, allows measurement of previously difficult or
unfeasible assays, and allows significant cost reductions compared to other technology options that our clients might have.

●

Assay confidentiality. We are able to provide services to clients in a model that allows them to protect their compound intellectual
property.

●

Assay performance. We have demonstrated that our assays meet client performance requirements for accuracy and precision.

Our Government Grants
Prior to our acquisition of the Icagen assets, substantially all of our revenue was derived from government grants related to the use of our
XRpro technology. To date, we have been granted twenty-one (21) grants and contracts from United States governmental agencies; of
which nine (9) were granted from the Department of Defense and twelve (12) were granted from the National Institutes of Health. Of such
contracts, eighteen (18) have been completed and we received payment in full for all eighteen (18) completed contracts. There are three
contracts under which we are currently performing services. All the contracts contained standard terms, including termination provisions
which allow for the government to terminate the contract, in whole or in part, at any time for convenience. In that event, the government
agency concerned would notify us of their intention to terminate, and all costs incurred in our performance of the work terminated will be
recoverable and we will have no refund obligations for our research conducted to the date of termination. The contracts also contain BayhDole and related provisions for disposition of intellectual property. The Bayh-Dole Act allows small businesses, such as ours, to retain title
to federally funded inventions if we follow certain procedures, including filing for patent protection and actively pursuing
commercialization of the invention, and the U.S. government retains a non-exclusive, non-transferable, paid up irrevocable license,
throughout the world, with respect to the invention. In addition, the U.S. government also retains a “march in” right that allows it to license
the invention to third parties, without our consent, if it determines that the invention is not being made available to the public on a
reasonable basis. Set forth below are the details of the firm - fixed price contract under which we are continuing to provide services to the
National Institutes of Health under which we expect to receive an additional $842,435 for our services.
Grant 2R44AI079935-03 with the National Institutes of Health; to develop strontium-selective therapies, contract amount: $3,000,000.00
operative from August 24, 2011 to July 31, 2014, $2,000,000 of the grant was awarded for the period August 24, 2011 to July 31, 2013. An
additional $1,000,000 was made available for us to invoice our project time and expenses against on July 9, 2013, initially expiring on July
31, 2014, extended until August 31, 2015, with negotiations currently underway with the NIH on the status of this project. To date we have
received $2,934,291 under this contract and we have a potential $65,709 remaining under the contract, subject to further grant extension.
Grant 1R43AI091186-01A1 with the National Institutes of Health; to develop Radioactive Cesium Decorporation Agents, contract amount
of $600,000 operative from July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2016. To date we have received $48,274 under this contact and have $551,726
remaining under the contract.
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We were awarded a new contract on September 22, 2015 with the National Institutes of Health – National Cancer Institute; Contract
number N43CO-2015-0050 – Systemic Target Radionuclide Therapy for Cancer Treatment, contract amount of $300,000 operative from
September 22, 2015 to June 30, 2016. We have received $75,000 under this contract and have $225,000 remaining under the contract.
History
Icagen, formerly known as XRpro Sciences and Caldera, was founded by Dr. Benjamin Warner in 2003 at the request of the then director
of Los Alamos National Laboratory (“LANL”) for the purpose of commercializing previous work done by Dr. Warner at LANL regarding
the use of x-ray fluorescence to measure the chemical composition of pharmaceuticals. Dr. Warner earned his PhD in Chemistry from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (“MIT”) in 1995. After MIT, Dr. Warner joined LANL where he held various positions including the
position of Project Leader for National Security Programs from 2000 until 2004.
While at LANL, Dr. Warner patented through the auspices of the University of California (then the manager of LANL) his improvement to
x-ray fluorescence technology that allowed it to be used to measure nanograms of material. This improvement made x-ray fluorescence
economically feasible to measure the chemical composition of pharmaceuticals.
Dr. Warner has won numerous awards from LANL for his commercialization and patenting work, including the Distinguished Licensing
Award, the Distinguished Entrepreneurial Award, the Distinguished Patent Award, and the Federal Laboratory Consortium Distinguished
Service Award. Jointly with LANL, Icagen won the 2007 Federal Laboratory Consortium Award for Excellence in Technology Transfer
and an R&D 100 Award. Icagen has won multiple Technology Ventures Corporation awards for top technology companies in New Mexico.
LANL is a United States Department of Energy national laboratory. LANL is managed and operated by Los Alamos National Security,
LLC (LANS), a private limited liability company formed by the University of California, Bechtel, Babcock & Wilcox Technical Services,
and URS Energy and Construction. LANL is one of the largest science and technology institutions in the world. It conducts
multidisciplinary research in national security, space exploration, renewable energy, medicine, nanotechnology, supercomputing and other
disciplines. LANL’s mission is to develop and apply science and technology to ensure the safety, security, and reliability of the U.S. nuclear
deterrent; reduce global threats; and solve other emerging national security challenges. LANL is the largest institution in Northern New
Mexico with more than 9,000 employees plus approximately 650 contractor personnel and an annual budget of approximately $2.2 billion.
On August 28, 2015, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with
the Secretary of State of Delaware to change its name to Icagen Inc. effective August 28, 2015.
Corporate Information
We were incorporated in the State of Delaware on November 12, 2003 under the name Caldera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Our principal
executive offices are located at 4222 Emperor Blvd., Suite 350 Durham, North Carolina 27703 our telephone number is (919) 941-5206.
On December 4, 2014 we changed our name to XRpro Sciences, Inc. and on August 28, 2015, after our acquisition of certain assets of
Icagen Inc., we changed our name to Icagen, Inc.
Discussions with respect to our operations included herein include the operations of our operating subsidiary, Icagen Corp (Formerly
known as XRpro Corp). Our company formed Icagen Corp. on July 9, 2010. We have two other subsidiaries, XRpro Sciences Inc., formed
on December 10, 2015 and Caldera Discovery Inc., formed on March 26, 2015, which have always been dormant.
Source and Availability of Raw Materials
In general, most of the materials we use for our research operation are readily available from multiple suppliers including specialty
chemicals for certain types of assays. We do, however, conduct high throughput electrophysiology experiments on specific pieces of
equipment from multiple vendors. In these cases, the consumables (i.e. chips or plates) are manufactured and sold by the same vendor who
manufactures the equipment. Should these vendors fail to deliver the consumables in a timely manner this could adversely affect our assay
services operation.
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Research and Development
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we spent approximately $251,309 and $309,747, on research and development activities.
For more information regarding our research and development expenses, please see “Critical Accounting Policies” in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
Intellectual Property
Patents and Trade Secrets
Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain proprietary protection for our product candidates, technology and knowhow, to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others and to prevent others from infringing our proprietary rights. Our policy is
to seek to protect our proprietary position by, among other methods, filing United States and foreign patent applications related to our
proprietary technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the development of our business. We also rely on trade secrets,
know-how, continuing technological innovation and in-licensing opportunities to develop and maintain our proprietary position.
We are maintaining and building our patent portfolio by filing new patent applications and prosecuting existing applications. In total, we
hold approximately 40 patents, both U.S and foreign, and approximately 15 pending patent applications, both U.S and foreign. As shown
below, these patents and patent applications are spread across roughly 9 technology families.
Under an Exclusive Patent License agreement (“LANS License”) covering national and international patents entered into with the Los
Alamos National Security LLC (“the Licensor”) dated September 8, 2005, we had the exclusive right to the use of certain U.S. and foreign
patents. On October 15, 2014, the U.S. and foreign owned by Los Alamos National Security (“LANS”) and previously licensed to us were
assigned to us. On January 29, 2015, we notified LANS that upon the assignment of all the patents underlying the License Agreement on
October 15, 2014, that the LANS License was terminated ab Initio and that the 90-day notice period was waived, alternatively the letter
served as our 90-day notice period.
Our patent estate as of March 30, 2016 is summarized below:
●

Method for Detecting Binding Events Using Micro X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry, which includes an issued U.S. patent that is
expected to expire in about 2021;

●

Flow Method and Apparatus for Screening Chemicals Using Micro X-Ray Fluorescence, which includes issued patents in the U.S.,
Japan and Singapore, as well as a pending application in Europe, such patents and patent application, if issued, are expected to
expire in 2022;

●

Method and Apparatus for Detecting Chemical Binding, which includes about 10 issued patents in the U.S., Europe, Japan and
Singapore; such patents are expected to expire in 2023;

●

Drug Development and Manufacturing, which includes an issued U.S. patent that is expected to expire in about 2021.

●

Advanced Drug Development and Manufacturing, which includes over 15 issued foreign patents, in Europe, Japan, and Hong Kong,
expected to expire in about 2026, and pending applications in the U.S. and Japan which, if issued, are expected to expire between
2021-2026.

●

Well Plate/Apparatus for Preparing Samples for Measurement by X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry, which includes issued patents
in the U.S. and Japan, which are expected to expire in about 2028, and pending applications in the U.S., Europe, and Japan, which, if
issued, are also expected to expire in 2028.

●

Method and Apparatus for Measuring Protein Post Translational Modification, which includes a patent issued in Japan, which is
expected to expire in about 2028 and pending applications in U.S., Europe and Japan, which, if issued, are also expected to expire in
about 2028.

●

Method and Apparatus for Measuring Analyte Transport Across Barriers, which includes 2 issued U.S. patents and issued patents in
China and Hong Kong, which are expected to expire in about 2030/2031, and pending applications in U.S., Europe, and China,
which, if issued, are also expected to expire in about 2030.

●

Method for Analysis Using X-Ray Fluorescence, which includes an issued U.S. patent, which is expected to expire in 2031, and
three pending U.S. patent applications which, if issued, are expected to expire in 2031.

The patent positions of companies like ours are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Our ability to maintain
and solidify our proprietary position for our technology will depend on our success in obtaining effective claims and enforcing those claims
once granted. We do not know whether any of our patent applications or those patent applications that we license will result in the issuance
of any patents. Our issued patents and those that may issue in the future, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, which could limit
our ability to stop competitors from marketing related products or the length of term of patent protection that we may have for our
products. In addition, our competitors may independently develop similar technologies or duplicate any technology developed by us, and
the rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with any meaningful competitive advantages against these competitors.
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We may rely, in some circumstances, on trade secrets to protect our technology. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We seek to
protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors
and other contractors, as well as physical security of our premises and our information technology systems. These agreements may be
breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. In addition, our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be
independently discovered by competitors. To the extent that our consultants or contractors use intellectual property owned by others in their
work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.
Competition
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong
emphasis on proprietary products. We face competition from many different sources and organizational sizes, including commercial
pharmaceutical and biotechnology enterprises, academic institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions.
Many of the major multi-national contract research organizations offer some similar assay services to those we provide. These include
companies with operations in the US, China, Europe and Asia. None of these companies, however, are exclusively focused and dedicated to
ion channel services. There are also a small number of private companies of similar size to us that provide ion channel-related services. In
addition, we also compete in the pre-clinical drug discovery space with in-house groups of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies as
well as universities.
Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development. Smaller or early stage
companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established
companies. Our commercial opportunity will be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop screening services that are more
effective, faster or are less expensive than any products that we may develop. These third parties compete with us in recruiting and
retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, as well as customers.
Government and Environmental Regulation and Laws
Our laboratory services are subject to various regulatory requirements and our standard operating procedures are written in accordance with
appropriate regulations and guidelines for operations.
There are certain licensing and regulations under federal, state and local laws relating to hazard communication and employee right-toknow regulations, our use and handling and disposal of bio-medical specimens and hazardous waste. In addition, there are regulations
related to ensuring the health and safety of laboratory employees. Our laboratory is subject to applicable laws and regulations as appropriate
from the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Environmental Protection Agency, the Department of Transportation, and the National Fire
Protection Agency and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. In addition, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission has rules and
regulations regarding the use of x-ray devices and radioactive materials. To the best of our knowledge we are currently in compliance in all
material respects with such laws and continual endeavors to maintain compliance. Lack of compliance with such laws could subject us to
denial of the right to conduct business, fines, criminal penalties and other enforcement actions.
The Occupational Safety and Health Administration have also established extensive requirements relating to workplace safety for
healthcare employers whose workers may be exposed to blood-borne pathogens. Our employees receive initial and periodic training
focusing on lab safety including blood-borne pathogens.
The use of controlled substances in testing for drugs with a potential for abuse is regulated in the United States by the U.S. Drug
Enforcement Administration. Our laboratory has all necessary licenses from the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration for the use of
controlled substances.
The United States has addressed the disclosure of confidential personal data with increased regulation. In the United States, various federal
and state laws address the security and privacy of health and other personal information. We will continue to monitor our compliance with
applicable regulations.
The regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation, the U.S. Public Health Service and the U.S. Postal Service apply to the surface
and air transportation of laboratory specimens. Our laboratory also must comply with the applicable International Air Transport Association
regulations, which govern international shipments of laboratory specimens.
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Employees
As of April 8, 2016, we employed twenty-one full time employees. A significant number of our management and professional employees
have had prior experience with pharmaceutical, biotechnology or medical product companies. None of our employees are covered by
collective bargaining agreements, and management considers relations with our employees to be good.
Available Information
Additional information about Icagen is contained at our website, www.icagen.com. Information on our website is not incorporated by
reference into and does not form ant part of this Annual Report. We have included our website address as a factual reference and do not
intend it to be an active link to our website. We make available on our website, www.icagen.com, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are available free of charge through the investor relations page of our internet website as soon as
reasonably practicable after those reports are filed with the SEC. The following Corporate Governance documents are also posted on our
website: Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Charters for the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors. Our phone number is (919) 433-3205 and our facsimile number is (919) 9410813.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the risks related to our business set forth in this Form 10-K and
the other information included and incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K, you should carefully consider the risks described below
before purchasing our common stock. Additional risks, uncertainties and other factors not presently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial may also impair our business operations.
Risks Related to the Company
We have a history of losses and there can be no assurance that we will generate or sustain positive earnings.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, we had a net loss of $(8,676,037), for the year ended December 31, 2014 we had a net income of
$49,517, primarily due to the favorable settlement of the LANS matter in the prior year, and for the year ended December 31, 2013, we had
a net loss of $(3,694,786). We cannot be certain that our business strategy will ever be successful. Future revenues and profits, if any, will
depend upon various factors, including the success, if any, of our expansion plans for the lease of our instruments and services to
biotechnical and pharmaceutical customers, marketability of our instruments and services, our ability to maintain favorable relations with
manufacturers and customers, and general economic conditions. There is no assurance that we can operate profitably or that we will
successfully implement our plans. There can be no assurance that we will ever generate positive earnings.
A significant portion of our net revenue has been generated from services provided to one customer. Prior to 2015, substantially all of
our revenue was derived from services provided to governmental agencies.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, we derived 84% of our revenues from commercial contracts of which 75.8% of our revenue were
for services provided to Pfizer, the remaining 16.3% was derived from Government contracts. Prior to the acquisition of certain of the
assets of Icagen we derived substantially all of our revenue from services we performed for two governmental agencies. For the year ended
December 31, 2014, 84% of our revenue has been generated from government contracts and the remaining 16% generated from
commercial contracts. Our business model which now concentrates on commercial customers is relatively new and there can be no
assurance that we will be able to increase the revenue derived from commercial customers to a significant amount. As of the date hereof we
have three existing contracts with the National Institutes of Health (“NIH”) pursuant to which we are continuing to perform services. Our
MSSA with Pfizer which terminates in July 2017 guarantees $1,000,000 of revenue to us per each twelve-month period until June 30, 2017.
The termination of our relationship with Pfizer would adversely affect our business. There can be no assurance that we will attract other
pharmaceutical companies to provide our services to or that our current contract customer will increase the scope of the services required.
We do not have enough information regarding this new business model to assess its success.
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern.
Although we have generated revenue, our operating losses, negative cash flows from operations and limited alternative sources of revenue
raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. We will be required to obtain additional financing in order to pay
existing contractual obligations and to continue to cover operating losses and working capital needs. We cannot assure you that our revenue
generated from operations or any future funds we raise will be sufficient to support our continued operations.
The audit report of RBSM LLP for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 contained a paragraph that emphasizes the substantial doubt as
to our continuance as a going concern. If we cannot raise adequate capital on acceptable terms we will need to revise our business plans.
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If we cannot establish profitable operations, we will need to raise additional capital to fully implement our business plan, which may not
be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and which may dilute your investment.
We incurred a net loss of $(8,676,037) for the year ended December 31, 2015 and generated a net income of $49,517 for the year ended
December 31, 2014 primarily due to the favorable settlement of the LANS matter in the prior year. Achieving and sustaining profitability
will require us to increase our revenues and manage our product, operating and administrative expenses. We cannot guarantee that we will
be successful in achieving profitability. Pursuant to the terms of the APA, we are required to pay Pfizer an additional $500,000 on July 1,
2017. In addition, we assumed certain liabilities of Icagen, Inc. of approximately $35,000 and agreed to retain eighteen employees of
Icagen, Inc. at an estimated cost of $3,100,000 per annum, for at least two years. If we are unable to generate sufficient revenues to pay our
expenses and our existing sources of cash and cash flows are otherwise insufficient to fund our activities, we will need to raise additional
funds to continue our operations at their current level and in order to fully implement our business plan. We do not have any commitments
in place for additional funds. If needed, additional funds may not be available on favorable terms, or at all. As of the date hereof, we expect
that our current cash and revenues generated from services, our private placement financings and the settlement of the LANS litigation will
provide us with enough funds to continue our operations at our current level for at least an additional 2 months. Unless we raise additional
funds or increase revenues we will be forced to curtail our operations and limit our marketing expenditures. Furthermore, if we issue equity
or debt securities to raise additional funds, our existing stockholders may experience dilution, and the new equity or debt securities may
have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our existing stockholders. If we are unsuccessful in achieving profitability and we
cannot obtain additional funds on commercially reasonable terms or at all, we may be required to curtail significantly or cease our
operations, which could result in the loss of all of your investment in our stock.
We may be unable to generate sufficient revenues to meet the minimum payments required under our agreements and will need to raise
additional capital to meet our working capital needs,
In accordance with the terms of the Asset Purchase and Collaboration Agreement that we entered into on June 26, 2015 with a subsidiary of
Pfizer Inc. our remaining payment obligations; (ii) a cash payment of $500,000 on the second anniversary of the closing provided that prior
to such date the service agreement we entered into has generated at least $4,000,000 in revenue; and (iii) beginning in 2017, a quarterly
earn out payment (the "Earn Out Payment") of 10% of revenue earned during the quarter up to a maximum aggregate payment of
$10,000,000. We also agreed to continue the employment of several prior individuals of the subsidiary for at least two years, which we
estimate will require an additional $3,722,000 in compensation. In addition, pursuant to the Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement that
we entered into with Joel J. Bellows on September 28, 2015, we agreed to pay Mr. Bellows $1,650,000 (of which $433,333 remains to be
paid commencing on March 31, 2016. To date, we have not generated sufficient revenue to pay all of these commitments. If we do not
increase our revenue, we may be required to raise additional capital to meet our obligations which could result in dilution to stockholders.
We depend significantly on our relationship with our third party collaborators.
We are currently a party to an MSSA with Pfizer to perform ion channel screening and other contract research for Pfizer Inc. Pfizer Inc. has
guaranteed revenue of $1,000,000 for each of the first two years of the agreement, which based on current revenue will represent a
substantial portion of our revenue. Our collaboration with Pfizer or future collaborations we may enter into may not be scientifically or
commercially successful.
Collaborations with pharmaceutical companies and other third parties often are terminated or allowed to expire by the other party. A
termination or expiration of our current collaboration with Pfizer or any potential future collaborations would adversely affect us financially
and could harm our business reputation.
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Our business is difficult to evaluate because we have recently changed our business model to offering a full complement of screening
services to the broader pharmaceutical sector.
Since our acquisition of the Icagen assets, we have shifted our business model from offering only our XRpro screening services to
governmental agencies as we did in the past to now offer a full complement of screening services to the broader pharmaceutical sector.
There is a risk that we will be unable to successfully conduct our business or be able to successfully integrate the assets acquired with our
management and structure. Our estimates of capital, personnel and equipment required for our expanded business model are based on the
experience of management and businesses they are familiar with. We are subject to the risks such as our ability to implement our business
plan, market acceptance of our services, under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financing and other
resources, competition from better funded and experienced companies, and uncertainty of our ability to generate revenues. There is no
assurance that our activities will be successful or will result in any revenues or profit, and the likelihood of our success must be considered
in light of the stage of our development. Even if we generate revenue, there can be no assurance that we will be profitable. In addition, no
assurance can be given that we will be able to consummate our business strategy and plans, as described herein, or that financial,
technological, market, or other limitations may force us to modify, alter, significantly delay, or significantly impede the implementation of
such plans. We have insufficient results for investors to use to identify historical trends or even to make quarter to quarter comparisons of
our operating results. You should consider our prospects in light of the risk, expenses and difficulties we will encounter as an early stage
company. Our revenue and income potential is unproven and our business model is continually evolving. We are subject to the risks
inherent to the operation of a new business enterprise, and cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully address these risks.
We may not be able to utilize our tax net operating loss carry-forwards to offset future taxable income.
At December 31, 2015 we had approximately $13,430,000 in tax net operating loss carry-forwards available to offset future taxable
income, thereby potentially reducing our future tax expense/liabilities. However, these tax net operating loss carry-forwards may be limited
in accordance with IRC Section 382 following a more than 50 percentage point change in ownership, in aggregate during any three year
look-back period. This potential limitation on our ability to use our tax net operating loss carry-forwards to offset future taxable income
could result in increased tax expense/liabilities and decreased net earnings. These loss carry-forwards expire through 2034 if unused.
We must expend a significant amount of time and resources to develop new products, and if these products do not achieve commercial
acceptance, our operating results may suffer.
We expect to spend a significant amount of time and resources to develop new products and refine existing products, and have spent
significant time and money developing our XRpro® instruments. We commenced development of our XRpro® instruments in the year
2006 and since then have developed four enhanced versions of our original instrument; each enhancement was developed over an
approximate two-year period of time. We enhance our XRpro® instruments on a regular basis, including recent improvements to the
throughput capabilities of the instrument, increasing production efficiency. We may also be required to make modifications or
enhancements at the request of our customers. Our research and development expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 was
$251,309 and for the year ended December 31, 2014 was approximately $309,747, most of which was used to develop assays for
commercial applications. In light of the long product development cycles inherent in our industry, any developmental expenditure will
typically be made well in advance of the prospect of deriving revenues from the sale of new products. Our ability to commercially
introduce and successfully market new products will be subject to a wide variety of challenges during this development cycle that could
delay introduction of these products. In addition, since our potential customers are not expected to be obligated by long-term contracts to
purchase our products, our anticipated product orders may not materialize, or orders that do materialize may be canceled. As a result, if we
do not achieve market acceptance of new products, our operating results will suffer. Our products may also be priced higher than
competitive products, which may impair commercial acceptance. We cannot predict whether new products that we expect to introduce will
achieve commercial acceptance.
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Our Founder and Board Member beneficially owns a substantial portion of our outstanding Common Stock, which may limit your
ability and the ability of our other stockholders, whether acting alone or together, to propose or direct the management or overall
direction of our company.
The concentration of ownership of our stock could discourage or prevent a potential takeover of our company that might otherwise result in
an investor receiving a premium over the market price for his shares. Our Founder and Board Member beneficially owns 1,602,403 shares
of our Common Stock, representing 24.3% of our outstanding shares of Common Stock. In addition, including the shareholding of our
founder, the directors as a group beneficially own 3,043,566 shares of our Common Stock, representing 41.6% of our outstanding shares of
Common Stock. Accordingly, our Founder and Board Member alone and together with our directors would have significant influence over
the election of our directors and the approval of actions for which the approval of our stockholders is required. If you acquire shares of our
securities, you may have no effective voice in the management of our Company. Such significant influence over control of our Company
may adversely affect the price of our Common Stock. Our principal stockholder as well as our board of directors may be able to
significantly influence matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors, as well as mergers or other
business combinations which require the vote of a majority of our outstanding shares. Such significant influence may also make it difficult
for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our Common Stock in the event we merge with a third party or enter into
different transactions which require stockholder approval. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay
in the future for shares of our Common Stock.
If we deliver products or services with defects, our credibility will be harmed and the sales and market acceptance of our products will
decrease.
Our products and services are complex and may at times contain errors, defects and bugs when introduced. If in the future we deliver
products or services with errors, defects or bugs, our credibility and the market acceptance and sales of our products would be harmed.
Further, if our products or services contain errors, defects or bugs, we may be required to expend significant capital and resources to
alleviate such problems. Defects could also lead to product liability as a result of product liability lawsuits against us or against our
customers. We may agree to indemnify our customers in some circumstances against liability arising from defects in our products or
services. In the event of a successful product liability claim, we could be obligated to pay significant damages.
Most of our potential customers are from the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sector and are subject to risks faced by those industries.
We expect to derive a significant portion of our future revenues from sales to customers in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sector,
which includes governments and private companies. We expect a substantial part of our future revenue to be derived from pharmaceutical
companies, including Pfizer. As a result, we will be subject to risks and uncertainties that affect the pharmaceutical and biotechnology
industries, such as availability of capital and reduction and delays in research and development expenditures by companies in these
industries, pricing pressures as third-party payers continue challenging the pricing of medical products and services, government
regulation, and the uncertainty resulting from technological change.
In addition, our future revenues may be adversely affected by the ongoing consolidation in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology
industries, which would reduce the number of our potential customers. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies that may be our customers will not develop their own competing products or capabilities, or choose our
competitors’ technology instead of our technology.
Many of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater resources than we do, and increased competition could impair
sales of our products and services.
We operate in a highly competitive industry and face competition from companies that design, manufacture and market instruments for use
in the life sciences research industry, from genomic, pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic companies and from academic and
research institutions and government or other publicly-funded agencies, both in the United States and elsewhere. We may not be able to
compete effectively with all of these competitors. Many of these companies and institutions have greater financial, engineering,
manufacturing, marketing and customer support resources than we do. As a result, our competitors may be able to respond more quickly to
new or emerging technologies or market developments by devoting greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of products,
which could impair sales of our products. Moreover, there has been significant merger and acquisition activity among our competitors and
potential competitors. These transactions by our competitors and potential competitors may provide them with a competitive advantage
over us by enabling them to rapidly expand their product offerings and service capabilities to meet a broader range of customer needs.
Many of our potential customers are large companies that require global support and service, which may be easier for our larger
competitors to provide.
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We believe that competition within the markets we serve is primarily driven by the need for innovative products that address the needs of
customers. We attempt to counter competition by seeking to develop new products and provide quality, cost-effective products and services
that meet customers’ needs. We cannot assure you, however, that we will be able to successfully develop new products or that our existing
or new products and services will adequately meet our potential customers’ needs.
Rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, changes in customer needs, emerging competition and frequent new product and
service introductions characterize the markets for our products. To remain competitive, we may be required to develop new products and
periodically enhance our existing products in a timely manner. We may face increased competition as new companies enter the market with
new technologies that compete with our products and future products, and our services and future services. We cannot assure you that one
or more of our competitors will not succeed in developing or marketing technologies products or services that are more effective or
commercially attractive than our products or future products, or our services or future services, or that would render our technologies and
products obsolete or uneconomical. Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to maintain a competitive position with
respect to our current and future technologies, which we may not be able to do. In addition, delays in the launch of our new products or the
provision of our services may result in loss of market share due to our customers’ purchases of competitors’ products or services during any
delay.
We depend on our key personnel, the loss of whom would impair our ability to compete.
We are highly dependent on the employment services of key management, engineering and scientific staff. The loss of the service of any of
these persons could seriously harm our product development and commercialization efforts. In addition, research, product development and
commercialization will require additional skilled personnel in areas such as chemistry and biology, and software and electronic engineering
and recruitment and retention of personnel, particularly for employees with technical expertise, is uncertain. If we are unable to hire, train
and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees, our ability to conduct and expand our business could be seriously reduced. The
inability to retain and hire qualified personnel could also hinder the planned expansion of our business and may result in us relocating some
or all of our operations.
We have initiated and may in the future need to initiate lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents and other proprietary rights, which
would be expensive and, if we lose, may cause us to lose some of our intellectual property rights, which would reduce our ability to
compete in the market.
Our success will depend in part upon protecting our technology from infringement, misappropriation, duplication and discovery, and
avoiding infringement and misappropriation of third party rights. We intend to rely, in part, on a combination of patent and contract law to
protect our technology in the United States and abroad.
The risks and uncertainties that we face with respect to our patents and other proprietary rights include the following:
●

the pending patent applications we have filed or to which we have exclusive rights may not result in issued patents or may take
longer than we expect to result in issued patents;

●

the claims of any patents which are issued may not provide meaningful protection;

●

we may not be able to develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

●

the patents licensed or issued to us or our customers may not provide a competitive advantage;

●

other companies may challenge patents licensed or issued to us or our customers;

●

patents issued to other companies may harm our ability to do business;

●

other companies may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate our technologies; and

●

other companies may design around the technologies we have licensed or developed.
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There can be no assurance that any of our patent applications or licensed patent applications will issue or that any patents that may issue
will be valid and enforceable. We may not be successful in securing or maintaining proprietary patent protection for our products and
technologies that we develop or license. In addition, our competitors may develop products similar to ours using methods and technologies
that are beyond the scope of our intellectual property protection, which could reduce our anticipated sales. While some of our products have
proprietary patent protection, a challenge to these patents can subject us to expensive litigation. Litigation concerning patents, other forms
of intellectual property, and proprietary technology is becoming more widespread and can be protracted and expensive and distract
management and other personnel from performing their duties.
We also rely upon trade secrets, unpatented proprietary know-how, and continuing technological innovation to develop a competitive
position. If these measures do not protect our rights, third parties could use our technology, and our ability to compete in the market would
be reduced. In addition, employees, consultants and others who participate in the development of our products may breach their agreements
with us regarding our intellectual property, and we may not have adequate remedies for the breach. We also may not be able to effectively
protect our intellectual property rights in some foreign countries and our trade secrets may become known through other means not
currently foreseen by us. We cannot assure you that others will not independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary technology
and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets and technology, or that we can adequately protect our trade secrets and
technology.
There can be no assurance that third parties will not assert infringement or other claims against us with respect to rights to any of our
products. Litigation to protect and defend the rights to our licensed technology or to determine the validity of any third party claims could
result in significant expense to us and divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel, whether or not such litigation is
determined in our favor. If we determine that additional rights are necessary for the development of our product(s) and further determine
that a license to additional third party rights is needed, there can be no assurance that we can obtain a license from the relevant party or
parties on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. We could be sued for infringing patents or other intellectual property that purportedly
cover products and/or methods of using such products held by persons other than us. Litigation arising from an alleged infringement could
result in removal from the market, or a substantial delay in, or prevention of, the introduction of our products, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
Additionally, in order to protect or enforce our patent rights, we may initiate patent litigation against third parties, such as infringement suits
or interference proceedings. Litigation may be necessary to:
●

assert claims of infringement;

●

enforce our patents;

●

protect our trade secrets or know-how; or

●

determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others.

Lawsuits could be expensive, take significant time and divert management’s attention from other business concerns. They would put our
licensed patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. We may also provoke
third parties to assert claims against us. Patent law relating to the scope of claims in the technology fields in which we operate is still
evolving and, consequently, patent positions in our industry are generally uncertain. If initiated, we cannot assure you that we would prevail
in any of these suits or that the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, would be commercially valuable. During the course of these
suits, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions and other interim proceedings or developments in the
litigation. If securities analysts or investors were to perceive any of these results to be negative, our stock price could decline.
We have claims and lawsuits against us that may result in material adverse outcomes.
On March 16, 2015, the Circuit Court in Cook County, Illinois ruled against us and held that the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk owns no
less than 177,500 shares of our stock, effectively nullifying the original recall by the Company on December 23, 2011 (88,750 shares post
reverse split which took place on March 25, 2015). The Court further awarded sanctions against us for $172,250. The Court has yet to rule
on certain other claims made by the Estate, which relate to a further 472,500 shares (236,250 shares, post reverse split which took place on
March 25, 2015) of our stock, which were originally recalled by the Company on September 19, 2010 (the 472,500 shares effected by the
reverse split will amount to 236,250 shares post reverse split which took place on March 25, 2015). We are also subject to other claims and
other lawsuits in which adverse outcomes could result in significant monetary damages. A material adverse impact on our financial
statements also could occur for the period in which the effect of an unfavorable final outcome becomes probable and reasonably estimable.
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We may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our products in response to product liability
lawsuits.
We could be the subject of complaints or litigation from customers alleging product quality or operational concerns. Litigation or adverse
publicity resulting from these allegations could materially and adversely affect our business, regardless of whether the allegations are valid
or whether we are liable. We currently do not have product liability insurance coverage, and even if there was such coverage, there would
be no assurance that such coverage would be sufficient to properly protect us. Further, claims of this type, whether substantiated or not,
may divert our financial and management resources from revenue generating activities and the business operation.
We may be subject to the risks of doing business internationally.
We currently offer our services to companies located outside of the United States, because we intend to do so, our business is subject to
risks associated with doing business internationally, including:
●

trade restrictions and changes in tariffs;

●

the impact of business cycles and downturns in economies outside of the United States;

●

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements that may limit our ability to export our products or sell into particular jurisdictions;

●

import and export license requirements and restrictions;

●

difficulties in maintaining effective communications with employees and customers due to distance, language and cultural barriers;

●

disruptions in international transport or delivery;

●

difficulties in protecting our intellectual property rights, particularly in countries where the laws and practices do not protect
proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws and practices of the United States;

●

difficulties in enforcing agreements through non-U.S. legal systems;

●

longer payment cycles and difficulties in collecting receivables; and

●

potentially adverse tax consequences.

If any of these risks materialize, our international sales could decrease and our foreign operations could suffer.
We are an “emerging growth company,” and any decision on our part to comply with certain reduced disclosure requirements
applicable to emerging growth companies could make our Common Stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act enacted in April 2012, and, for as long as
we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may choose to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements
applicable to other public companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports
and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could remain an emerging growth company until the
earliest of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues of $1 billion or more; (ii) the last day of our fiscal
year following the fifth anniversary of the date of our first sale of common equity securities pursuant to an effective registration statement
which has not yet occurred; (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the previous three
years; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer. We cannot predict if investors will find our Common Stock
less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Common Stock less attractive as a result of any choices
to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our Common Stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
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Under Section 107(b) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised
accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of
this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised accounting
standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
As a result of our being a public company, we are subject to additional reporting and corporate governance requirements that require
additional management time, resources and expense.
We are obligated to file with the SEC annual and quarterly information and other reports that are specified in the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). We are also subject to other reporting and corporate governance requirements under the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, all of which impose significant compliance
and reporting obligations upon us.
Our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective which could have a significant and adverse effect on our business and
reputation.
We have identified a material weakness in our internal controls and can’t provide assurances that the weakness will be effectively
remediated. As a public reporting company, we are in a continuing process of developing, establishing, and maintaining internal controls
and procedures that allow our management to report on, and our independent registered public accounting firm to attest to, our internal
controls over financial reporting if and when required to do so under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Our independent
registered public accounting firm is not required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act until the later of the year following our first annual report required to be filed with the SEC, or
the date we are no longer an emerging growth company. Our management is required to report on our internal controls over financial
reporting under Section 404. If we fail to achieve and maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, we would not be able to conclude on
an ongoing basis that we have effective internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404. Our Management has
determined that the adequacy of our internal controls is not effective and is therefore unable to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have
effective internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404. Moreover, our testing, or the subsequent testing by our
independent registered public accounting firm, that must be performed may reveal other material weaknesses or that the material
weaknesses described above have not been fully remediated. If we do not remediate any material weaknesses identified, or if other material
weaknesses are identified or we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, our reported financial
results could be materially misstated or could subsequently require restatement, we could receive an adverse opinion regarding our internal
controls over financial reporting from our independent registered public accounting firm and we could be subject to investigations or
sanctions by regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources, and the market price of our stock
could decline.
Future sales of our Common Stock by our existing shareholders could cause our stock price to decline.
We currently have 6,481,857 shares of our Common Stock outstanding. All of such shares are eligible for resale under Rule 144; however,
2,873,216 are held by affiliates and are subject to certain volume limitations. If our shareholders sell substantial amounts of our Common
Stock in the public market at the same time, the market price of the Common Stock could decrease significantly due to an imbalance in the
supply and demand of our Common Stock. Even if they do not actually sell the stock, the perception in the public market that our
shareholders might sell significant shares of the Common Stock could also depress the market price of the Common Stock.
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A decline in the price of shares of our Common Stock might impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of
our Common Stock or other equity securities, and may cause you to lose part or all of your investment in our shares of Common Stock.
We do not expect to pay dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future.
We do not expect to pay dividends on our Common Stock for the foreseeable future, and we may never pay dividends. Consequently, the
only opportunity for Common Stockholders to achieve a return on their investment may be if a trading market develops and Common
Stockholders are able to sell their shares for a profit or if our business is sold at a price that enables Common stockholders to recognize a
profit. Our Series A Preferred stockholders are entitled to an annual dividend of $0.46 for each share of Series A Preferred, payable in cash
or Common Stock, at the election of the holder, on January 31 of each year. We currently intend to retain any future earnings other than
those paid as dividends to the Series A Preferred Stock or any other class of preferred stock to support the development and expansion of
our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Our payment of any future dividends will be at the
discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including but not limited to our financial condition, operating
results, cash needs, growth plans and the terms of any credit agreements that we may be a party to at the time. In addition, our ability to pay
dividends on our Common Stock may be limited by state law. Accordingly, we cannot assure investors any return on their investment,
other than in connection with a sale of their shares or a sale of our business or dividends on their Series A Preferred Stock. At the present
time there is no trading market for our shares. Therefore, holders of our securities may be unable to sell them. We cannot assure investors
that an active trading market will develop or that any third party will offer to purchase our business on acceptable terms and at a price that
would enable our investors to recognize a profit.
Limitations on director and officer liability and indemnification of our Company’s officers and directors by us may discourage
stockholders from bringing suit against an officer or director.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide, with certain exceptions as permitted by governing state law, that a director or officer
shall not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for breach of fiduciary duty as a director or officer, except for acts or omissions
which involve intentional misconduct, fraud or knowing violation of law, or unlawful payments of dividends. These provisions may
discourage stockholders from bringing suit against a director or officer for breach of fiduciary duty and may reduce the likelihood of
derivative litigation brought by stockholders on our behalf against a director or officer.
We are responsible for the indemnification of our officers and directors.
Should our officers and/or directors require us to contribute to their defense, we may be required to spend significant amounts of our
capital. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws also provide for the indemnification of our directors, officers, employees, and agents,
under certain circumstances, against attorney's fees and other expenses incurred by them in any litigation to which they become a party
arising from their association with or activities on behalf of our Company. This indemnification policy could result in substantial
expenditures, which we may be unable to recoup. If these expenditures are significant, or involve issues which result in significant liability
for our key personnel, we may be unable to continue operating as a going concern.
The rights of our preferred stock could negatively affect holders of Common Stock and make it more difficult to effect a change of
control.
Our board of directors is authorized by our charter to create and issue preferred stock. Certain of the rights of holders of preferred stock take
precedence over the rights of holders of Common Stock. We are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, of which
3,000,000 are designated as Series B Preferred Stock and 400,000 are designated as Series A Preferred Stock. We currently have no shares
of Series B Preferred Stock and 105,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding. Holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to
a dividend of $0.46 per share each year payable in cash or stock at the option of the holder and Series A Preferred stock are entitled to a
preference upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up.
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The Series A Preferred Stock is convertible voluntarily at the election of the holder or automatically ten trading days after delivery to the
holder by us of a notice that the volume-weighted average closing price of our Common Stock over the ten trading days immediately
preceding the date of notice is at least $20.00 per share. The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock and the shares of Common Stock and
warrants issued in our private placement offering that was consummated in January 2015 are also entitled to registration rights with respect
to such shares. We may issue additional shares of Series B or Series A Preferred Stock in addition to other preferred stock. As future
tranches of capital are received by us, additional preferred stock may be issued which such terms and preferences as are determined in the
sole discretion of our board of directors. The rights of future preferred stockholders could delay, defer or prevent a change of control, even
if the holders of Common Stock are in favor of that change of control, as well as enjoy preferential treatment on matters like distributions,
liquidation preferences and voting.
Our Common Stock is not currently traded on any market, so you may be unable to sell at or near ask prices or at all if you need to sell
your shares to raise money or otherwise desire to liquidate your shares.
The Common Stock is not currently traded on any market and therefore no public market for our Common Stock exists. Accordingly,
investors will have great difficulty selling any of our securities. Even if our Common Stock becomes traded on a securities exchange, we
cannot predict the extent to which investors’ interests will lead to an active trading market for our Common Stock or whether the market
price of our Common Stock will be volatile or exceed the price paid by investors for the Common Stock or the exercise price of our
Warrants outstanding. If an active trading market does not develop, investors will continue to have difficulty selling any of our Common
Stock. There may be limited market activity in our stock and we are likely to be too small to attract the interest of many brokerage firms and
analysts. If we trade on OTC markets, the trading volume we will develop may be limited by the fact that many major institutional
investment funds, including mutual funds as well as individual investors, follow a policy of not investing in OTC stocks and certain major
brokerage firms restrict their brokers from recommending OTC stocks because they are considered speculative, volatile, thinly traded and
the market price of the Common Stock may not accurately reflect the underlying value of our Company. The market price of our Common
Stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to quarterly variations in our revenues and operating expenses, announcements of
new products or services by us, significant sales of our Common Stock, including “short” sales, the operating and stock price performance
of other companies that investors may deem comparable to us, and news reports relating to trends in our markets or general economic
conditions.
We will seek to raise additional funds in the future, which may be dilutive to stockholders or impose operational restrictions.
We expect to seek to raise additional capital in the future to help fund development of our business. If we raise additional capital through
the issuance of equity or of debt securities, the percentage ownership of our current stockholders will be reduced. We may also enter into
strategic transactions, issue equity as part of license issue fees to our licensors, compensate consultants or settle outstanding payables using
equity that may be dilutive. Our stockholders may experience additional dilution in net book value per share and any additional equity
securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of the holders of our common stock.
The application of the “penny stock” rules to our Common Stock could limit the trading and liquidity of the Common Stock, adversely
affect the market price of our Common Stock and increase your transaction costs to sell those shares.
If our Common Stock becomes traded on a securities market or exchange, as long as the trading price of our Common Stock is below $5 per
share, the open-market trading of our Common Stock will be subject to the “penny stock” rules, unless we otherwise qualify for an
exemption from the “penny stock” definition. The “penny stock” rules impose additional sales practice requirements on certain brokerdealers who sell securities to persons other than established customers and accredited investors (generally those with assets in excess of
$1,000,000 or annual income exceeding $200,000 or $300,000 together with their spouse). These regulations, if they apply, require the
delivery, prior to any transaction involving a penny stock, of a disclosure schedule explaining the penny stock market and the associated
risks. Under these regulations, certain brokers who recommend such securities to persons other than established customers or certain
accredited investors must make a special written suitability determination regarding such a purchaser and receive such purchaser’s written
agreement to a transaction prior to sale. These regulations may have the effect of limiting the trading activity of our Common Stock,
reducing the liquidity of an investment in our Common Stock and increasing the transaction costs for sales and purchases of our Common
Stock as compared to other securities. The stock market in general and the market prices for penny stock companies in particular, have
experienced volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad market and industry
fluctuations may adversely affect the price of our stock, regardless of our operating performance. Stockholders should be aware that,
according to SEC Release No. 34-29093, the market for penny stocks has suffered in recent years from patterns of fraud and abuse. Such
patterns include: (i) control of the market for the security by one or a few broker-dealers that are often related to the promoter or issuer; (ii)
manipulation of prices through prearranged matching of purchases and sales and false and misleading press releases; (iii) boiler room
practices involving high-pressure sales tactics and unrealistic price projections by inexperienced sales persons; (iv) excessive and
undisclosed bid-ask differential and markups by selling broker-dealers; and (v) the wholesale dumping of the same securities by promoters
and broker-dealers after prices have been manipulated to a desired level, along with the resulting inevitable collapse of those prices and
with consequent investor losses. The occurrence of these patterns or practices could increase the volatility of our share price.
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We may not be able to attract the attention of major brokerage firms, which could have a material adverse impact on the market value of
our Common Stock.
If a trading market develops for our Common Stock, it will rely in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts publish
about us and our business. We do not control these analysts. However, security analysts of major brokerage firms may not provide
coverage of our Common Stock since there is no incentive to brokerage firms to recommend the purchase of our Common Stock, which
may adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock. If equity research analysts do provide research coverage of our Common
Stock, the price of our Common Stock could decline if one or more of these analysts downgrade our Common Stock or if they issue other
unfavorable commentary about us or our business. If one or more of these analysts’ ceases coverage of our Company, we could lose
visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.
There can be no assurance that we will be approved for listing on a national securities exchange or able to comply with other continued
listing standards of a national securities exchange.
Even if the market price of our Common Stock increases sufficiently so that we comply with the minimum market price requirement, we
cannot assure you that we will be able to comply with the other standards that we are required to meet in order to be approved for listing on
a national securities exchange or maintain a listing of our Common Stock on such exchange. Our failure to meet these requirements may
result in our Common Stock being delisted from a national securities exchange.
The reverse stock split may decrease the liquidity of the shares of our Common Stock.
The liquidity of the shares of our Common Stock may be affected adversely by the reverse stock split given the reduced number of shares
that will be outstanding following the reverse stock split. In addition, the reverse stock split may increase the number of shareholders who
own odd lots (less than 100 shares) of our Common Stock, creating the potential for such shareholders to experience an increase in the cost
of selling their shares and greater difficulty affecting such sales.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties
Durham
The Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Icagen, Inc., a subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., whereby certain assets were acquired
from Icagen, Inc., the agreement included the sub-letting of premises located at Research Triangle Park, Durham, North Carolina with
annual calendar year escalations of 3.5%. The lease terminates on April 30, 2019. The rental expense for the year ended December 31,
2015 amounted to $82,823. We believe that we have adequate space for our anticipated needs.
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New Mexico
We leased approximately 5,160 square feet at 278 DP Road, Suite D, Los Alamos, New Mexico 87544, where one of our laboratories is
located under the terms of two leases. Each lease is on a month to month basis until we determine our future need for these premises. The
leases provide for an aggregate annual rent of approximately $5,075 per month excluding utilities and property taxes. Rental expense for
the year ended December 31, 2015 was $55,829.
Due to the consolidation of the Company’s operations, this lease was terminated with effect from November 30, 2015.
Cambridge
The Company entered into a laboratory and office lease agreement for 2,813 square feet in Cambridge, Massachusetts effective June 1,
2013. The term of the lease was for a twelve-month period which terminated on May 31, 2014. The lease agreement was renewed for a
further eighteen-month period, expiring on December 31, 2015 for a monthly rental of approximately $17,500, including estimated
operating costs and property taxes. Rental expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $206,938.
Due to the consolidation of the Company’s operations, this lease was terminated with effect from December 31, 2015.
The Company entered into an apartment lease in Cambridge for one year on August 1, 2014 with monthly rental amounts of $2,500. This
lease was renewed until June 30, 2016 at $2,500 per month. We have informed the landlord of our intention not to renew this lease. Rental
expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 amounted to $30,000.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Dentons Dispute
On July 5, 2013, the Company entered into a fee agreement with Dentons US LLP (“Dentons”), our previous legal counsel, which called
for a payment of 50% of any settlement up to $6 million and 5% thereafter. The Company realized a gross $7,000,000 on the settlement of
the matter that Dentons represented the Company on. The agreement also called for Dentons to cooperate with the Company by making its
partners and/or employees available to furnish information or reasonable assistance in connection with any future disqualification
proceedings, as reasonably requested by the Company. Subsequent to signing the agreement the Company determined that Dentons had
egregiously breached this cooperation clause. As a result, the Company has suffered significant harm. The Company further believes that
due to Dentons breach of its contract with the Company, Dentons is not owed any amount under the breached agreement and the Company
is also considering its legal remedies in regard to the harm it has suffered.
The matter remains unresolved and there is no certainty as to the ultimate amount that the Company may collect from or have to pay to
Dentons.
Bellows’ Dividend and Redemption Litigation
On September 28, 2015, the parties voluntarily participated in mediation and effective as of September 28, 2015, the Company entered into
a Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Joel J. Bellows (“Bellows”) and his law firm Bellows & Bellows PC
to settle the dividend and redemption litigation. In connection therewith Bellows agreed to transfer to the Company 105,000 shares of
Icagen Series A Preferred Stock owned by him, assign to the company his claims against Sigmund Eisenschenk and the Estate of Sigmund
Eisenschenk, currently pending in Circuit Court of Cook County Illinois, and assign the accrued dividends due to him on his Series A
Preferred stock. In return the Company agreed to pay Bellows, in the aggregate, $1,650,000 (of which $1,000,000 has been paid prior to
December 31, 2015 and the remaining $650,000 is payable over a six-month period commencing January 31, 2016, three installments of
$108,333 have been paid to date). The Agreement included mutual releases of claims each party had against the other in addition to the
release by Bellows of claims he had pursued against several other individuals, including various officers and directors of Icagen. The parties
also agreed to dismiss all other ongoing litigation between them with prejudice, on October 29, 2015, the dividend and redemption
litigation was dismissed pursuant to the settlement agreement.
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Litigation with the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk
On June 14, 2014, in a proceeding to probate the estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk (“Estate”) pending in the Circuit Court of Cook County,
Illinois, a claimant, QTM Ventures, LLC (“Claimant”) was granted leave to file a Petition for Citation to Recover Property against the
Company, Aaron Crane and Gregg Rzepczynski.
In the Petition for Citation to Recover Property, the Claimant alleges that the Company; i) breached its fiduciary duties to the deceased by
wrongfully repurchasing 236,250 shares of Company’s common stock held by the deceased in the Company at a nominal value based upon
the false assertion that the deceased breached a financing agreement; ii) conspired with Aaron Crane to divest the Estate of assets, and not
protect the Estates assets; iii) committed fraud by failing to properly notify the deceased of the Company’s repurchase of the 236,250
shares of the Company’s common stock, at a nominal value, held by the deceased in the Company; and iv) converted the deceased’s shares
by repurchasing the shares to prevent them from being acquired by the creditors to the Estate.
The Claimant seeks the following relief:
i.

An award for damages plus interest for any and all losses suffered by the Estate and the Claimant;

ii. Punitive damages against the Company;
iii. Attorney’s fees and costs for the claimant;
iv. Any further relief deemed fit by the court.
On July 11, 2014, the Company removed the Petition for Citation to Recover to the Northern District of Illinois. On August 12, 2014,
QTM filed a motion to remand the petition to the state court. After considering the written submissions of the parties, Judge Harry
Leinenweber entered an order remanding the Petition to state court and denying QTM’s request for attorney fees.
On February 18, 2015, a Claimant, American Milling LP (“American Milling”) filed a motion to vacate two orders entered on November
26, 2014, allowing Michael T. Lyon and Richard Lane’s claims (“Claims”) against the Estate. American Milling contends that the Claims
were fraudulently filed by Lyon and Lane who had no interest in the underlying judgments. American Millings also contends that the
judgments were partially satisfied and the Claims should not have been allowed for the full amount of the judgments. On February 18,
2015, American Milling also filed a motion for sanctions against the Company and Crane pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137
alleging that the Company and Crane convinced Lyon and Lane to file the allowed claims in an attempt to improperly recover under a
judgment that was partially satisfied. On February 18, 2015, American Milling also filed a motion for partial summary judgment of the
citation to recover against Caldera seeking a finding that the Estate owns at least 88,750 shares of the Company, which represents a portion
of the Company’s shares at issue in the citation proceedings.
On March 4, 2015, the Company and Crane filed a response to American Millings motion to vacate asking the Court to vacate the allowed
Claims but not for the reasons claimed by American Milling. The Company and Crane also filed briefs in opposition to the request for
sanctions and in opposition to summary judgment.
On March 16, 2015, in a proceeding to administer the estate of the late Sigmund Eisenschenk, the Circuit Court in Cook County, Illinois
(“the Court”) heard arguments relating to American Millings motion to vacate, motion for Rule 137 sanctions, and motion for partial
summary judgment. The Court ruled against us as follows: (i) finding that Sigmund Eisenschenk’s rights in our stock were not collected,
recalled, or cancelled pursuant to an August 17, 2010, Judgment Order entered by the Honorable Amy J. St. Eve in the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of Illinois, Case No. 08 C 754, the October 28, 2010 Assignment of Judgment and Settlement Agreement, or
otherwise by us, and therefore the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk owns no less than 88,750 shares of our stock (which shares were
previously held by Sigmund Eisenschenk having a current value of $3.50 per share); ii) partially vacating Michael T Lyon or the Michael T
Lyon Profit Sharing Plan and Richard Lane’s claims against the Estate and finding that a portion of these claims were partially satisfied by
Eisenschenk during his life through collection of Eisenschenk’s interest in certain real estate; and iii) allowing the recovery of Rule 137
sanctions against us, Michael T Lyon or the Michael T Lyon Profit Sharing Plan, Richard Lane and Aaron Crane, the previous administrator
of the Estate, based upon the Court’s finding that the October 9, 2012 claims filed against the Estate by Michael Lyon, Richard Lane and
Aaron Crane, for the collection on the Judgment Order in the United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, in
No. 08 C 754 (the “Claims”), were not well grounded in fact and not warranted by existing law, or a good faith argument for the extension,
modification or reversal of existing law as the Judgment Order had already been partially satisfied by Michael Lyon and Richard Lane’s
collection of certain real estate property owned by the late Sigmund Eisenschenk. The Court further found that Michael Lyon, Richard
Lane, Aaron Crane’s and our testimony, in support of the Claims, constituted misrepresentations upon the Court, that the Claims were
brought for an improper purpose, that we and Crane operated without candor to the Court, misrepresented facts, and failed to disclose
conflicts to the Court.
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On March 27, 2015, the Company and Crane filed a motion to dismiss Counts I and II of the Petition for Citation to Recover and to Stay
Counts IV-VI. The motion to dismiss is scheduled for a hearing on May 19, 2015.
On March 31, 2015, American Millings, QTM Ventures LLC and the supervised administrator, Peter Schmiedel, filed petitions to approve
attorneys’ fees and costs in the amount of $158,817, $80,603 and $37,080, respectively. On May 5, 2015, the Company filed its opposition
to the fee petitions.
On April 14, 2015, the Company filed a notice of appeal from the March 16, 2015, orders of the Probate Division of the Circuit Court of
Cook County which (1) found that Sigmund Eisenschenk’s rights in the Company’s stock were not collected, recalled, or cancelled, (2)
partially vacated the Michael T Lyon or the Michael T Lyon Profit Sharing Plan and Richard Lane’s claims against the Estate, and (3)
granted partial summary judgment against the Company and declared that the Estate of Eisenschenk owns no less than 177,500 shares of
the Company’s stock, effectively nullifying the original recall by the Company on December 23, 2011 (88,750 shares post reverse split
which took place on March 25, 2015).
On April 14, 2015, the Company filed a motion pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 305 requesting a stay of enforcement of the orders
of March 16, 2015, pending resolution of the appeal. The Company offered to place 177,500 shares of stock in escrow (88,750 shares post
reverse split which took place on March 25, 2015) as security in lieu of a bond pending resolution of the appeal. The Estate opposes the
Company’s request to deposit shares as collateral and requested that the Court require the posting of a bond.
On May 26, 2015, following oral arguments on May 19, 2015, the Court entered an order that amongst things found the Company jointly
and severally liable for sanctions under Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137 and ordered the Company to remit $97,500 to American Milling
LP, $24,050 to supervised administrator Peter Schmiedel and $50,700 to QTM Ventures LLC.
On May 26, 2015, following oral arguments on May 19, 2015, the Court denied the Company’s request for a stay of Counts III-VI pending
resolution of a declaratory judgment action filed by the Company in New Mexico. The Court also denied the Company’s request for a stay
pending the outcome of the Company’s April 14, 2015, notice of appeal.
On June 8, 2015, the Company filed a notice of appeal for (1) an order of the Circuit Court dated March 16, 2015, that amongst other things
awarded sanctions under Supreme Court Rule 137 in favor of American Milling LP, QTM Ventures LLC and supervised administrator
Peter Schmiedel, (2) paragraphs 1 through 3 of an order of the Circuit Court dated March 16, 2015, that amongst other things granted
summary judgment against the Company in favor of supervised administrator Peter Schmiedel, and (3) an order of the Circuit Court dated
May 26, 2015, that amongst other things determined the amount of attorneys’ fees the Company must pay to American Milling LP, QTM
Ventures LLC and supervised administrator Peter Schmiedel.
On June 8, 2015, the Company filed a notice of appeal from an order of the Circuit Court dated May 26, 2015, which amongst other things
denied the Company’s motion to stay Counts III-VI.
On July 13, 2015, the probate court granted QTM’s motion for a turnover order and ordered the Company to turnover 177,500 (88,750
shares post reverse split which took place on March 25, 2015) shares of stock to the Estate.
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On July 20, 2015, the Court approved and Icagen posted an appeal bond in the amount of $300,000 to secure the stay of enforcement of the
orders of March 16, 2015 and May 26, 2015 that awarded sanctions against the Company in favor of American Milling, QTM Ventures and
supervised administrator Peter Schmiedel.
On July 20, 2015, the Court granted QTM’s request to file an amended citation by July 24, 2015. On July 24, 2015, QTM filed a motion for
an extension of time to file its amended citation. On August 10, 2015, the Court granted QTM a final extension of time until August 24,
2015 to file an amended citation.
On August 24, 2015, QTM filed an amended petition for citation to recover alleging breach of fiduciary duty (against Aaron Crane), breach
of fiduciary duty, conspiracy, fraud and conversion (against the Company) and legal malpractice and aiding and abetting (against Gregg
Rzepczynski). On September 30, 2015, American Milling and Supervised Administrator Peter Schmiedel were granted leave to join and
adopt QTM’s amended petition for citation to recover solely as to Counts III (breach of fiduciary duty), V (fraud) and VI (conversion).
On October 13, 2015, the Company filed a motion to dismiss Counts IV (conspiracy), V (fraud) and VI (conversion) of the amended
petition for citation to recover. On October 13, 2015, the Company filed an answer to Count III (breach of fiduciary duty) of the amended
petition for citation to recover. On October 13, 2015, the Company also filed a counterclaim against the Estate seeking a setoff for certain
claims acquired by the Company against Eisenschenk in the Bellows’ settlement. A briefing schedule was set on the Company’s motion to
dismiss.
On January 11, 2016, following oral arguments, the Court dismissed Count I (breach of fiduciary duty against Crane and Count VI
(conversion against the Company) and granted QTM leave to replead Counts I and VI by February 10, 2016. The Court denied Crane’s
motion to dismiss Count II. The Court denied the Company’s motion to dismiss Counts IV (conspiracy against the Company) and Count V
(fraud against the Company). The Court struck QTM, American Millings and Peter Schmiedel’s claims for punitive damages, attorneys’
fees and costs in connection with Count II with prejudice.
On January 20, 2016, the Court denied Gregg Rzepczynski’s motion to dismiss Count VII (legal malpractice) and Count VIII (aiding and
abetting). The order required Rzepczynski to answer by February 10, 2016.
On February 8, 2016, the Company and Crane filed their Appellate brief in the First District Appellate Court of Illinois in support of their
consolidated appeal of the orders awarding sanctions against the Company under Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137. The appellee’s brief is
due April 25, 2016.
On February 10, 2016, QTM filed its second amended petition for citation to recover. In its Second Amended Petition for Citation to
Recover Property, QTM alleges, amongst other things, that
(i) Eisenschenk owned no less than 650,000 shares of stock in the Company and up to 1,775,000 shares;
(ii) the Company breached its fiduciary duties to Eisenschenk by wrongfully repurchasing 472,500 shares of Company’s common stock held
by the deceased in the Company at a nominal value based upon the false assertion that the deceased breached a financing agreement’
(iii) the Company conspired with Aaron Crane to diminish the property of the Estate and wrongfully divest the Estate of assets.
(iv) The Company committed fraud by intentionally sending notice of the Company’s intention to repurchase Eisenschenk’s shares to
Eisenschenk’s address in Evanston, Illinois when the Company was aware that Eisenschenk was residing in Panama.
(v) the Company breached the terms of a financing term sheet between the Company and Eisenschenk by wrongfully repurchasing
Eisenschenk’s shares despite Eisenschenk’s performance under the financing term sheet.
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QTM seeks, amongst other things, the following relief:
1.

A finding that the Company breached its fiduciary duty, conspired with Crane, committed fraud and breached its contract obligations to
Eisenschenk;

2.

A finding that the Estate owns no less than 650,000 and up to 1,775,000 shares of stock in the Company;

3.

An order directing the Company to turn over all shares of stock owned by the Estate;

4.

An award of money damages up to the full value of the stock owned by Eisenschenk;

5.

An award of pre- and post-judgment interest;

6.

Attorneys’ fees and costs;

7.

Punitive damages; and

8.

Any further relief deemed fit by the Court.

On February 23, 2016, on the oral motion of American Millings and Peter Schmiedel, the court granted American Millings and Peter
Schmiedel, as supervised administrator, leave to adopt Count III (breach of fiduciary duty against the Company), Count V (fraud against
the Company) and Count VI (breach of contract against the company).
The Company’s response to the Second Amended Complaint is due on March 15, 2016. On March 10, 2016, the court scheduled the case
for a pre-trial settlement conference on April 19, 2016. Due to the scheduling of the settlement conference, the deadline to the file the
Company’s response was extended indefinitely pending further order of Court.
New Mexico Litigation Against the Estate of Eisenschenk
The Company instituted litigation in the First Judicial District Court for Los Alamos County, New Mexico on September 12, 2013, to
obtain declaratory relief against the Estate of the late Sigmund Eisenschenk (“Eisenschenk”), seeking a declaration of the status of certain
vested and unvested shares of stock of the Company that were repurchased by the Company in 2010 and transferred to the Company in
2011. Eisenschenk and others were party to a 2005 formation agreement and had executed a financing term sheet with the Company
whereby Eisenschenk was to contribute capital to the Company and that Eisenschenk would also receive common shares of the Company
based on his capital contribution and successful completion of a capital raising for the Company. The Company seeks a declaratory
judgment stating that Eisenschenk did not satisfy the terms of the financing term sheet and that all non-vested shares which were granted to
Eisenschenk were repurchased by the Company. In addition, the Company acquired a judgment against Eisenschenk from third parties and
in partial satisfaction of that judgment, any vested shares owned by Eisenschenk or his controlled entities were acquired by assignment and
transfer to the Company and that Eisenschenk owns no capital stock or options to acquire capital stock of the company nor has any rights
thereto.
The administrator of the Eisenschenk estate filed a motion to dismiss the matter on a forum of non conveniens arguing that the proceedings
mentioned above in The Citation to recovery Property against the Company and others, was the appropriate forum to adjudicate the
Company’s claims. This motion was denied, which was responded to by an answer contesting the allegations made by the Company and
asserting a continued interest of Eisenschenk in the capital stock of the Company.
On July 16, 2015, the Company’s action for declaratory relief against the Estate of Eisenschenk proceeded to trial in Santé Fe, New
Mexico. In its complaint for declaratory relief, the Company sought amongst other things a declaration that (1) the Estate owns no shares of
the capital stock of the Company or any options or rights thereto, or any ownership interest in the Company, (2) all of Eisenschenk’s nonvested shares were properly recalled by reason of Eisenschenk’s failure to meet the vesting requirements in the formation agreement
Financing Term Sheet, (3) all of Eisenschenk’s vested shares were properly and validly assigned and transferred to the Company by virtue
of the Company’s lawful exercise of its rights as a creditor-assignee under a contract and Eisenschenk’s uncured breach thereof; and (4) a
certificate bearing Eisenschenk’s name is null and void having never been completed, authorized for issuance, issued or transferred to
Eisenschenk. Following a bench trial before Judge Francis Mathew, the Court denied the Company’s request for declaratory relief and
dismissed the Company’s complaint for declaratory relief without prejudice, further ruling that the Company’s claims could be brought in
the Circuit Court of Cook County, or any other Court of competent jurisdiction in Illinois.
On August 19, 2015, the Company filed a Notice of Appeal from the District Court’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final
Judgment entered on July 21, 2015.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
22

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities
Our common stock is not currently trading on any established market.
As of April 8, 2016, there were 283 holders of our common stock, 0 holders of Series B Preferred Stock and 1 holder of Series A Preferred
Stock.
Dividend Policy
We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date, and do not anticipate paying such cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Whether we declare and pay dividends is determined by our Board of Directors at their discretion, subject to certain limitations
imposed under Delaware corporate law. The timing, amount and form of dividends, if any, will depend on, among other things, our results
of operations, financial condition, cash requirements and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
See Item 11 – Executive compensation for equity compensation plan information.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
On October 4, 2015, we issued 400 common shares at an exercise price of $5.00 per share upon exercise of options. For this issuance, we
relied on the exemption from federal registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, based on our belief that the offer and
sale of the common stock has not and will not involve a public offering as the parties are both “accredited investors” as defined under
Section 501 promulgated under the Securities Act and no general solicitation has been involved in the offering. We did not sell any other
equity securities during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 in transactions that were not registered under the Securities Act, other than
as disclosed above or as previously disclosed in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
There were no issuer purchases of equity securities during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Not applicable because we are a smaller reporting company.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis is intended as a review of significant factors affecting our financial condition and results of
operations for the periods indicated. The discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the
notes presented herein. In addition to historical information, the following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ
significantly from those expressed, implied or anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors discussed
herein and any other periodic reports filed and to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This report and other documents that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission contain forward-looking statements that are
based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about our future performance, our business, our beliefs and our
management’s assumptions. Statements that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements. Words such as “expect,” “outlook,”
“forecast,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “continue,” “sustain”, “on track”, “believe,” “seek,” “estimate,”
“anticipate,” “may,” “assume,” and variations of such words and similar expressions are often used to identify such forward-looking
statements, which are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forwardlooking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, assumptions and uncertainties, including, but not limited to,
those described in our reports that we file or furnish with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Should one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those indicated or
anticipated by such forward-looking statements. Accordingly, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. Except to the extent required by law, we undertake no obligation to update
publicly any forward-looking statements after the date they are made, whether as a result of new information, future events, changes in
assumptions or otherwise.
Overview and Financial Condition
We partner with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to offer industry-leading scientific expertise and comprehensive access to
technologies for ion channel and transporter drug discovery and development. With over 20 years of leadership in the ion channel field, our
team has an extensive track record of success in advancing molecules from drug discovery to clinical development across multiple
therapeutic areas and ion channel classes. Through our recent asset acquisition of Icagen, we are now able to offer a full complement of
screening services to the broader pharmaceutical sector, including the use of proprietary x-ray fluorescence technology marketed under the
XRpro® trademark to deliver ion channel screening, ion channel kinetics and custom screening services to our customers. Our capabilities
include molecular biology and the use of complex functional assays, electrophysiology, bioanalytics and pharmacology. We believe that
this integrated set of capabilities enhances our ability to help our customers develop drug candidates and is a commercial opportunity that
meets a significant unmet medical need.
We utilize a target class approach to drug discovery. Whereas traditional drug discovery starts with a disease and seeks to identify potential
intervention points, or drug targets, our target class approach starts with all potential ion channel targets and seeks to identify applications to
the treatment of various diseases. We believe that our understanding of the ion channel genome and ability to apply this knowledge in a
target class approach to drug discovery facilitates our identification of small molecule drug candidates with novel mechanisms of action and
enhanced selectivity and specificity profiles. Moreover, because our drug discovery and development process screens for potential side
effects at an earlier stage than some alternative approaches, we believe that this process enables us to identify small molecule drug
candidates that may have a reduced risk of clinical failure and may shorten clinical development timelines.
Through our recent acquisition of the assets of Pfizer, Inc.’s subsidiary, Icagen, which was formed in 1992, we have an extensive platform
of assay tools and technologies for the interrogation of ion channel and transporter function and pharmacological modulation including our
proprietary label free XRpro® technology. With our extensive experience in ion channels, screening, and drug development, which dates
back to 1992 when Icagen was first founded, we have has built an extensive portfolio of over 1000 cell lines, including cell lines stably
expressing recombinant human ion channels and transporters, species orthologs and distinct disease-related or drug binding site mutants.
These tools form the basis for compound screening, selectivity assays, detailed assessment of activity, and mechanism of action studies.
We also offer a full complement of assay technologies including high throughput fluorescence, manual and automated electrophysiology,
and radiotracer flux assays. Combined with our cell line and assay development expertise, these technologies enable the Company to
rapidly provide quality screening for a broad set of ion channels and transporters.
In terms of our recent acquisition of certain of the assets of Icagen, Inc. we also entered into a Master Scientific Services Agreement with
Pfizer (the “MSSA”). In accordance with the terms of the MSSA, we agreed to perform ion channel screening and other contract research
for Pfizer, including but not limited to, on demand assay development, modification and optimization, compound screening, ion channel
screening, reagent and cell line generation, biology platform development
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Since inception, we have financed our operations primarily through private sales of our securities, settlement of legal matters and prior to
our acquisition of certain assets of Icagen from Pfizer, substantially all of our revenue was derived from government grants. Subsequent to
our acquisition of certain assets of Icagen from Pfizer, a substantial portion of our revenue has been derived from one commercial
customer. We expect to continue to seek to obtain our required capital through the private sale of securities and revenue derived for the
services we provide. For the year ended December 31, 2015, 84% of our revenue was derived from commercial services as opposed to the
year ended December 31, 2014 when 84% of our revenue was derived from government grants. Despite generating funds from commercial
customers and government grants, we continue to experience losses. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will not be
sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the next twelve months. We will need to generate additional revenue from operations
and/or obtain additional financing to pursue our business strategy, to respond to new competitive pressures or to take advantage of
opportunities that may arise. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. As a result, our
independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our consolidated financial statements as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2015 with respect to this uncertainty. To meet our financing needs, we are considering multiple
alternatives, including, but not limited to, additional equity financings, debt financings and/or funding from partnerships or collaborations.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any such transactions on acceptable terms or otherwise.
As a result of the agreement that we entered into with the subsidiary of Pfizer, we agreed; (i) to continue to retain certain employees of the
subsidiary until June 30, 2017, which we estimate will require additional compensation of $3,722,000; (ii) make additional payments in
terms of the Asset Purchase and Collaboration Agreement that we entered into on June 26, 2015 with a subsidiary of Pfizer Inc. include (a)
a cash payment of $500,000 on the second anniversary of the closing provided that prior to such date the service agreement we entered into
has generated at least $4,000,000 in revenue; and (b) beginning in 2017, a quarterly earn out payment (the "Earn Out Payment") of 10% of
revenue earned during the quarter up to a maximum aggregate payment of $10,000,000, (iii) make minimum lease payments in terms of a
sub-lease agreement entered into with Pfizer for the period January 1, 2016 to April 30, 2019 with annual escalations of 3.5%, estimated to
be $597,177.
In addition, pursuant to the Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement that we entered into with Joel J. Bellows on September 28, 2015, we
agreed to pay Mr. Bellows $1,650,000 (of which $433,333 remains to be paid commencing on March 31, 2016. To date, we have not
generated sufficient revenue to pay all of these commitments. If we do not increase our revenue, we may be required to raise additional
capital to meet our obligations which could result in dilution to stockholders.
We have also entered into Master Services Agreements (“MSA”) with various pharmaceutical companies where we have agreed to perform
certain services for them.
The total value of unbilled Purchase orders received from commercial customers as of March 23, 2016 amounted to $3,470,900.
Discussions with respect to our operations included herein include the operations of our operating subsidiary, XRpro Corp. Our company
formed XRpro Corp. on July 9, 2010. We have another two subsidiary companies, Caldera Discovery Inc. and XRpro Sciences Inc., which
have always been dormant.
Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014.
Revenues
We had revenues totaling $1,589,111 and $541,794 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, an increase of
$1,047,317 or 193.3%. The increase in revenue is due to an increase in commercial revenues of $1,243,267 derived primarily from an
agreement entered into with a large pharmaceutical company and several smaller projects undertaken for other pharmaceutical and biotech
companies, offset by a decrease in Government contract revenues of $195,319 as the Company changes its focus to be weighted towards
commercial customers. Our government revenue is dependent on the number of contracts we have in operation and the progress we have
made on these contracts to date. We have an order backlog of approximately $3,470,900 on commercial contracts and $842,435 in the form
of firm fixed price government contracts. We believe that these are firm orders as there are no indications that funding will not be available
and we believe that we have made satisfactory progress on the government projects to date. The funds available under these grants are
earned by us on a percentage-of-completion basis, based on the costs we incur as a measure of the progress made on the project.
We are currently marketing our services to several pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, based on our recent acquisition. We now
have a comprehensive product offering and substantial credibility to offer a full range of products including the advantages and value
propositions of the XRpro® technology. While we are optimistic about our prospects, there can be no assurance about whether or when our
products will generate sufficient revenues with adequate margins in order for us to be profitable.
Cost of goods sold
Cost of goods sold totaled $1,948,963 and $608,050 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, an increase of
$1,349,013 or 220.5%. Our cost of goods sold is dependent on the progress made on each project to date. Cost of goods sold is primarily
comprised of direct expenses related to providing our services under our contracts.
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These direct expenses include:
●

Salary expenses directly related to our statements of work and research contracts, recoverable expenses incurred on contracts, the
cost of outside consultants, and direct materials used on our contracts. The salary expense included in cost of sales for the year
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively was $1,224,992 and $232,180, an increase of $992,812 or 427.6% due to the
number of scientists performing work for our commercial customers and government contracts increasing from a headcount of 2 to
17, all scientific personnel are regarded as a cost of sales expense. For additional information regarding salary expense reference is
made to the discussion of total salary expense in selling, general and administrative expenses below.

●

Laboratory supplies and direct materials of $615,986 and $238,813 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
an increase of $377,173 or 157.9%, this included direct supplies of $246,434 during the current year, acquired for a specific project
which was billed directly to the customer, the remaining increase is primarily due to the level of activity generated by our recent
acquisition of certain of the assets of Icagen and the commercial revenue contracts that we have in place.

●

Outside contractors of $56,960 and $122,368 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, a decrease of $65,408
or 53.5%, primarily due to the scaling down of outside consultants working on Government contracts and our recently acquired
depth of suitable scientific personnel reducing our requirement for outside technical skills.

Gross (loss)
Gross loss was $(359,852) and $(66,256) for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, an increase of $293,596, or
443.1%. The increase in gross loss is directly related to the higher level of salaries and laboratory supplies utilized after our recent Icagen
asset acquisition. The loss will return to profitability once the level of activity through the laboratory increases and staff are more
efficiently utilized.
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $5,384,442 and $4,502,353 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively, an increase of $882,089 or 19.6%.
The major expenses making up selling, general and administrative expenses included the following:
Year ended
December 31,
2015
2014
Marketing and selling expenses
Salary expenses
Research and development salaries
Severance expense
Bonus expense
Directors fees
Stock option compensation charge
Legal fees
Consulting fees
Audit fees and taxation services
Repairs and maintenance
Rental expense
Travel Expenses

$

$

227,717
1,225,610
251,309
258,598
220,000
486,332
742,437
814,942
63,600
103,834
405,016
129,835
4,929,230

$

$

39,817
763,717
309,747
327,328
360,137
152,500
702,300
598,098
375,198
56,100
47,922
338,764
88,528
4,160,156

Increase/
(decrease)
$

$

187,900
461,893
(58,438)
(327,328)
(101,539)
67,500
(215,968)
144,339
439,744
7,500
55,912
66,252
41,307
769,074

Percentage
change
471.9%
60.5%
(18.9)%
(100)%
(28.2)%
44.3%
(30.8)%
24.1%
117.2%
13.4%
116.7%
19.6%
46.7%
18.5%

Marketing and selling expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily consists of marketing support provided by third party
contractors and costs incurred to update our website. The costs of third party contractors were not incurred in the prior year, the marketing
expense in the prior year consisted primarily of website design.
Total salary expenses are allocated to the various expense categories detailed below depending on the level of activity of our employees on
government and commercial projects, internal research and development expenses and administrative activities. An increase in activity on
projects will result in an increase in salary expense charged to cost of sales with a corresponding decrease in salary expense charged to
selling, general and administrative expenses. A comparison of salary expenses is presented below.
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Total salary expenditure for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively is included in the following expense categories:

Cost of sales

$

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development salaries
$

Year ended
December 31,
2015
2014
1,224,992 $
232,180

Increase/
(decrease)
$
992,812

Percentage
change
427.6%

1,225,610

763,717

461,893

60.5%

251,309

309,747

(58,438)

(18.9)%

2,701,911

$

1,305,644

$

1,396,267

106.9%

The increase in total salary expenditure for the year ended December 31, 2015 of $1,396,267 or 106.9% is primarily due to the acquisition
of the assets and assumption of obligations to employees of the subsidiary of Pfizer. Obligations to an additional 18 employees were
assumed in terms of the acquisition agreement, for six months of the financial year.
The salary expense included in cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased by $992,812. The increase in salary expense
charged to cost of sales during the current period was due to the acquisition of the 15 laboratory employees in the Icagen acquisition for six
months of the financial year.
The salary expense charged to Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased by $461,893 is
due to the acquisition of Icagen, which included an additional three administrative employees and the appointment of Richie Cunningham
as our CEO in November 2014, resulting in a full years CEO cost compared to approximately eight months in the prior year. In addition, the
lower revenues generated by Government sales in the current year, resulted in Cambridge and Los Alamos scientific personnel charging
more of their time to administrative functions.
Research and development salaries for the year ended December 31, 2015 decreased by $58,438 due to the amount of time spent by our
previous Cambridge and Los Alamos scientists on developing cell lines for future commercialization.
Severance expense in the prior year related to the severance of our previous CEO, Gary Altman, this was unrelated to the consolidation of
our operations which took place in the current year.
Bonus expense decreased by $101,539. The current year bonus expense consisted of a guaranteed bonus paid to our CEO and accrued
bonuses due to the Icagen employees based on pre-determined performance goals. In the prior year the bonus was a once-off discretionary
bonus paid to certain consultants and our former Chief Scientific Officer for their extraordinary efforts in connection with the settlement of
a legal matter.
Directors’ fees increased by $67,500. The increase was primarily due to the introduction of directors’ fees paid to non-executive directors
of $25,000 per annum, per director, commencing on April 1, 2014. This amounted to a charge of $100,000 in the current year compared to
$56,250 in the 2014 year. In addition to this, an agreement was reached with Mr. Timothy Tyson whereby he would serve as our nonexecutive chairman with effect from April 1, 2014 for a monthly fee of $10,000, resulting in an increase in expenditure of $23,750, over the
prior year.
The decrease in the stock option compensation charge of $215,968 was primarily due to the acceleration of the vesting of the 514,900 stock
options, in the prior year, granted to Gary Altman in terms of his severance agreement, 489,900 of these options expired.
Legal fees increased by $144,339 over the prior year. The increase consists of an increase in litigation expenditure of $76,316 over the prior
year, due to the activity on the Eisenschenk matter which was offset by the decrease in activity on the LANS matter which was settled in
the prior year. An increase in general corporate legal activity of $149,918 due to the costs incurred on raising additional funds, the filing of
registration statements relating to the fund raising and the acquisition of certain of the assets of Icagen from Pfizer, this was offset by a
decrease in legal fees on patents of $81,894. The legal expenses incurred on litigation are not connected with our regular business activities
and should be viewed as non-operating expenses.
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The increase in consulting fees of $439,744 is primarily due to the increase in Investor Relations consulting expense of $157,500, an
increase in bookkeeping fees of $29,650 due to the bookkeeper being retained for one month in the prior year, the retention of the services
of a patent consultant at a cost of $154,561 in the current year and consulting costs of $47,350 relating to a feasibility study performed on
advancing certain government contracts to drug development stage and initial fees of $44,250 on an overall pricing strategy study
undertaken by Tufts University.
The increase in audit fees and taxation services of $7,500 is due to the increase in complexity of our business resulting in additional time
required for the audit process.
Repairs and maintenance expense increased by $55,912 over the prior year, primarily due to maintenance costs of running the laboratory
and office complex in North Carolina. Due to the size and the sophistication of this laboratory, the fee is approximately $12,000 per month.
Rent has increased by $66,252 due to the sub-lease of the Icagen premises located in Durham, North Carolina, for six months of the prior
year. The monthly rental expense of the North Carolina site is approximately $13,800 per month, offset by the termination of the Los
Alamos lease in November 2015 in terms of our consolidation undertaken during the current year.
Travel expenses increased by $41,307 primarily due to the increase in our staff numbers after the acquisition of Icagen and the number of
staff travelling to meet commercial customers and a significant increase in sales and marketing activity by our CEO and certain members of
our scientific team.
Depreciation and Amortization
We recognized depreciation expenses of $265,937 and $114,156 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, the increase
is due to the Icagen asset acquisition and the initial valuation placed on the laboratory equipment acquired. The depreciation expense is
primarily made up of depreciation of our laboratory equipment, which makes up the vast majority of our capital equipment.
Amortization expense was $138,334 and $51,683 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. The increase in amortization expense is
directly related to the acquisition of Icagen and the value placed on the discovery platform and assembled workforce acquired which are
amortized over a ten-year period.
Other income/(expense)
Other income of $7,177,522, in the prior year, relates to the $7,000,000 cash settlement received from the Los Alamos National Security
(“LANS”) matter and the recognition of fair value income of $177,522 upon the return of 157,500 common shares originally issued to
LANS as consideration for the license agreement we had entered into.
Other expense of $2,222,989 and $490,625 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Other expense consists of:
●

Legal settlement expenses of $1,984,750 in the current year and $490,625 in the prior year. The current year charge consists
primarily of the settlement agreement reach with Bellows and an accrual for future settlement costs on the Eisenschenk matter and
the prior year charge represented the expected cost of settling a portion of the Eisenschenk matter during 2014.

●

Severance costs of $124,977 in the current year. The current year charge represents the expected severance costs incurred on
consolidating our Cambridge laboratory and Los Alamos laboratory into our North Carolina facility, this resulted in the severance of
5 employees.

●

A loss on the scrapping of certain assets of $113,721 which were no longer required upon the consolidation of our operations in
North Carolina and the closure of our Cambridge, Massachusetts and Los Alamos, New Mexico laboratories

Interest expense
Interest expense included an imputed interest charge of $282,190 related to the estimated present value calculation performed on the
deferred purchase consideration due on the acquisition of the Icagen assets. This imputed interest expense has no cash flow implications.
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities
In the prior year, the fair value of derivative liabilities was re-assessed at December 31, 2014 using a Black Scholes valuation model
resulting in the increase of the liability by $1,881,181, the movement in liability is dependent upon external market factors. The warrants
subject to derivative liability were exchanged for new warrants which are no longer afforded price protection. The derivative liability on
warrants that are no longer price protected is no longer required and was applied to additional paid in capital as of December 31, 2014.
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Income tax
The income tax charge in the current year represents the Alternative Minimum tax charge levied against our company for the 2014 tax
year. We still have significant tax loss carry forwards, however the profit generated in the prior year resulted in a small tax liability on the
Alternative Minimum Tax basis.
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income totaled $(8,676,037) and $49,517 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The increase in net loss
during the current year is primarily due to the increased operating expenditure of the Company after the acquisition of the Icagen assets;
the legal settlement reached with Bellows; the accrual for expected settlement costs on the Eisenschenk matter and the prior year litigation
settlement included in other income, the imputed interest expense on the deferred purchase consideration and other movements discussed
above, offset by the net movement of $1,881 181 in the derivative liability discussed above.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have a history of annual losses from operations since inception and we have primarily funded our operations through sales of our
unregistered equity securities and cash flows generated from government contracts and grants and more recently from commercial
customers and the settlement of a lawsuit. We completed a private placement on December 31, 2014 and January 7, 2015 that resulted in a
gross cash injection of $8,855,000. We are also generating funds from commercial customers and government grants, however, we continue
to experience losses and will need to raise additional funds to meet our working capital requirements, despite this we are dependent upon
the outcome of settlement discussions we are having in our lawsuits. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will not be
sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the next twelve months. We will need to generate additional revenue from operations
and/or obtain additional financing to pursue our business strategy, to respond to new competitive pressures or to take advantage of
opportunities that may arise. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. As a result, our
independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our consolidated financial statements as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2015 with respect to this uncertainty. To meet our financing needs, we are considering multiple
alternatives, including, but not limited to, additional equity financings, debt financings and/or funding from partnerships or collaborations.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any such transactions on acceptable terms or otherwise.
As of December 31, 2015 our Company had cash totaling $2,266,788, other current assets totaling $1,352,344 and total assets of
$12,929,610. We had total current liabilities of $2,907,526 and a net working capital of $736,629. Total liabilities were $11,221,016,
including deferred purchase consideration of $8,438,490. The deferred purchase consideration includes a net present value discount of
$2,186,510 (made up of a gross present value discount of $2,468,700 less imputed interest expense of $282,190), the gross amount still due
in terms of the acquisition agreement is $10,500,000 (net of a scheduled payment of $125,000 on March 1, 2016) of which $500,000 is
dependent on the achievement of a revenue target with Pfizer and $10,000,000 is due based on an earn out charge of 10% of gross revenues
commencing in January 2017. Our Series A convertible redeemable preferred stock totaled $133,350 resulting in a stockholders’ equity of
$1,575,244.
Should we not achieve our forecasted operating results or should strategic opportunities present themselves such that additional financial
resources would present attractive investing opportunities for our company, we may decide in the future to issue debt or sell our company’s
equity securities in order to raise additional cash. We cannot provide any assurances as to whether we will be able to secure any additional
financing, or the terms of any such financing transaction if one were to occur.
As of December 31, 2015, we owed $142,502 in accordance with the terms of a Project Participation Agreement with the Incorporated
County of Los Alamos that we entered into in September 2006. The loan bears interest at a rate of 5% per annum, is for a thirteen-year
term, with monthly repayments of $3,547 that commenced on September 21, 2009. Due to the closure of the Los Alamos site, the County
of Los Alamos has informed us that the full balance of the loan is now due and payable
An analysis of our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is
provided below:
Year ended
December 31,
2015
Net cash (used in) generated by operating activities

$

Net cash used in investing activities

Year ended
December 31,
2014

(6,967,740) $
(700,918)

Net cash provided by financing activities

3,463,053

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

$

29

(4,205,605) $

1,825,257
(142,653)
4,270,056
5,952,660

Net cash (used in) generated by operating activities was $(6,967,740) and $1,825,257 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The decrease in cash generated by operating activities was primarily due to the following:
Year ended
December 31,
2015
2014
Net income/(loss)

$ (8,676,037) $

Adjustments for non-cash items

2,376,741

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

(668,444)

Net cash (used) generated by operating activities

$ (6,967,740) $

Increase/
(decrease)

Percentage
change

49,517

$ (8,725,554)

3,068,961

(692,220)

(22.6)%

(1,293,221)

624,777

48.3%

1,825,257

$ (8,792,997)

*

(481.7)%

* Greater than 1,000%
The decrease in net income is discussed under net (loss) income in the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively and includes an increase in operating expenditure of $1,209,417 discussed under selling, general and administrative
expenses above, net legal settlement costs of $1,984,750 in the current year and net legal settlement proceeds in the prior year of
$5,502,000 offset by legal settlement costs in the prior year of $490,625, a severance expense of $124,977 in the current year and a
severance expense of $327,328 incurred in the prior year, a non-cash imputed interest expense of $282,190 relating to the present value
discount of the deferred purchase consideration due to Pfizer, offset by a charge of $1,888,181 on derivative liabilities in the prior year.
The change in adjustments for non-cash items is primarily due to the increase in the derivative liability charge of $1,888,181, the non-cash
imputed interest charge of $282,190, offset by the movement in non-cash legal settlements of $777,124, a non-cash loss on scrapping of
assets on consolidation of our laboratory sites of $113,721 and an increase in non-cash depreciation and amortization of $267,452, primarily
due to the acquisition of the Icagen assets.
The decrease in operating assets and liabilities is primarily due to the movement in investment in accounts receivable of $(865,451) the
increase in the movement of prepaid expenses of $(280,945), primarily due to the investment in legal settlement deposits of $310,000 and
the movement in payables and other accrued liabilities of $1,771,173 primarily due to the payment of legal bills accrued on the LANS
matter in the prior year, offset by an increase in payable in the current year due to the increase in business activity.
Net cash used in investing activities was $700,918 and $142,653 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. In the
current year, $375,000 was spent on the acquisition of the Icagen assets and a further $326,909 was primarily spent on software acquired
directly related to the Icagen acquisition. The prior year investment of $142,653 consists primarily of laboratory equipment purchased for
our Cambridge laboratory.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $3,463,053 and $4,270,056 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively
and is made up as follows:
Year ended
December 31,
2015
2014
Movement in borrowings from banks and third parties

$

Net proceeds from stock issues and repurchases

(12,639) $
3,523,992

Dividends paid
$

30

3,463,053

(280,027) $
4,579,857

(48,300)

Net cash provided by financing activities

Increase/
(decrease)

(1,055,865)

(29,774)
$

4,270,056

267,388

$

Percentage
change
(95.5)%
(23.1)%

(18,526)

62.2 %

(807,003)

(18.9)%

The movement in borrowings from banks and third parties in the current year included a software loan advance of $26,062 and repayment
of our loan funds amounting to $38,701. In the prior year, the movement included the repayment of the LANB Term loan of $247,201 and
repayments of loan funds of $32,826.
Net proceeds from stock issued included the sale of 548,019 common stock units at $7.00 per unit (pre reverse split), offset by share issue
expenses of $314,541, in the prior year 716,981 common stock units at $7.00 per unit (pre reverse split) were sold, offset by share issue
expenses of $439,010.
A dividend of $48,300 ($0.46 per share) was paid during the current year and $29,774 ($0.46 per share) was paid to the Series A
stockholder in the prior year.
Capital Expenditures
Our current plan is to improve the efficiency of our laboratory operations by employing additional scientific personnel and equipment to
further automate the processes required in our assay workflows to meet our customer requirements. We do not have a significant equipment
budget for the 2016 year, however this is dependent on the volume of orders we receive from commercial customers and the laboratory
throughput linked to those orders.
Critical Accounting Policies
Estimates
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires us to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We
continually evaluate our estimates, including those related to bad debts and recovery of long-lived assets. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Any
future changes to these estimates and assumptions could cause a material change to our reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following critical
accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements. Significant
estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts, the useful life of plant and equipment and intangible assets, the valuation of certain
assets and intangibles acquired from Icagen, and assumptions used in assessing impairment of long-term assets and the assumptions used in
determining percentage of completion on our long-term contracts.
Revenue recognition
Revenue sources consist of commercial contracts, government grants and government contracts.
We enter into fixed fee commercial development contracts that are not associated with the delivery of feasible research on drug candidates
and the development of drug candidates. Revenue under such contracts is generally recognized upon delivery or as the development is
performed.
We account for our long-term Firm Fixed Price Government contracts and grants associated with the delivery of research on drug
candidates and the development of drug candidates using the percentage-of-completion accounting method. Under this method, revenue is
recognized based on the extent of progress towards completion of the long-term contract.
We generally use the cost-to-cost measure of progress for all of our long-term contracts, unless we believe another measure will produce a
more reliable result. We believe that the cost-to-cost measure is the best and most reliable performance indicator of progress on our longterm contracts as all our contract estimates are based on costs that we expect to incur in performing our long-term contracts and we have not
experienced any significant variations on estimated to actual costs to date. Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of
progress towards completion is based on the ratio of costs incurred-to-date to the total estimated costs at the completion of the long-term
contract. Revenues, including estimated fees or profits are recorded as costs are incurred.
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When estimates of total costs to be incurred on a contract exceed total estimates of revenue to be earned, a provision for the entire loss on
the contract is recorded in the period the loss is determined.
Research and Development
The remuneration of our research and development staff, materials used in internal research and development activities, and payments made
to third parties in connection with collaborative research and development arrangements, are all expensed as incurred. Where we make a
payment to a third party to acquire the right to use a product formula which has received regulatory approval, the payment is accounted for
as the acquisition of a license or patent and is capitalized as an intangible asset and amortized over the shorter of the license period or the
patent life.
The amount expensed for unrecovered research costs, included in Selling, general and administrative expenses during the year ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $251,309 and $309,747, respectively.
Share-Based Compensation
Share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award and is recognized as expense
over the employee's requisite service period or vesting period on a straight-line basis. Share-based compensation expense recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest and
has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. This estimate will be revised in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those
estimates. We have no awards with market or performance conditions.
Net income/(loss) per Share
Basic net income/(loss) per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of common stock outstanding during the period.
Diluted net income/(loss) per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of common stock and common stock
equivalents outstanding. Dilutive securities having an anti-dilutive effect on diluted net income/(loss) per share are excluded from the
calculation.
Dilution is computed by applying the treasury stock method for options and warrants. Under this method, “in-the money” options and
warrants are assumed to be exercised at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, if later), and as if funds obtained thereby
were used to purchase common stock at the average market price during the period.
Dilution is computed by applying the if-converted method for convertible preferred stocks. Under this method, convertible preferred stock
is assumed to be converted at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, if later), and preferred dividends (if any) will be added
back to determine income applicable to common stock. The shares issuable upon conversion will be added to weighted average number of
common stock outstanding. Conversion will be assumed only if it reduces earnings per share (or increases loss per share).
Contingencies
Certain conditions may exist as of the date the financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss to us but which will only be
resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Our management assesses such contingent liabilities, and such assessment
inherently involves an exercise of judgment. In assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending against and by us
or un-asserted claims that may result in such proceedings, our management evaluates the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or unasserted claims as well as the perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought.
If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is probable that a material loss has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be
estimated, then the estimated liability would be accrued in our financial statements. If the assessment indicates that a potential material loss
contingency is not probable but is reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the contingent liability,
together with an estimate of the range of possible loss if determinable and material would be disclosed. Loss contingencies considered to be
remote by management are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in which case the guarantee would be disclosed.
Intangible assets
Certain of our intangible assets are subject to amortization. We evaluate the recoverability of all of our intangible assets periodically by
taking into account events or circumstances that may warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that indicate the asset may be impaired.
Where intangibles are deemed to be impaired we recognize an impairment loss measured as the difference between the estimated fair value
of the intangible and its book value.
a)

Cell lines

Cell lines acquired by the Company are reported at acquisition value less any impairment. The useful life of cell lines is estimated to be
indefinite.
b)

Discovery platform

The discovery platform acquired by the Company is reported at acquisition value less accumulated amortization and any impairment. The
estimated useful life of the discovery platforms acquired is estimated to be ten years.
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c)

Trademarks and trade names

The Trademarks and trade names acquired by the Company is reported at acquisition value less any impairments. The estimated useful life
of trademarks and trade names is estimated to be indefinite.
d)

Patents

Patents acquired by the Company are reported at acquisition value less accumulated amortization and impairments. The estimated useful
life of patents is twenty years, the general useful life of patents.
e)

Assembled workforce

Assembled workforce acquired by the Company is reported at acquisition value less accumulated amortization and impairments. The
estimated useful life of the assembled workforce is ten years.
f)

Amortization

Amortization is reported in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the intangible assets, unless the
useful life is indefinite. Amortizable intangible assets are amortized from the date that they are available for use.
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Laboratory equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment

5 Years
7 Years
10 Years
3 Years

The cost of repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred; major replacements and improvements are capitalized. When assets are retired
or disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gains or losses are included in
income in the year of disposition.
We examine the possibility of decreases in the value of fixed assets when events or changes in circumstances reflect the fact that their
recorded value may not be recoverable. We recognize an impairment loss when the sum of expected undiscounted future cash flows is less
than the carrying amount of the asset. The amount of impairment is measured as the difference between the asset’s estimated fair value and
its book value.
Recent accounting pronouncements
For discussion of recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements, please see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
included herein.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
None.
Contractual Obligations
As a result of the agreement that we entered into with the subsidiary of Pfizer, we agreed to; (i) to continue to retain certain employees of
the subsidiary until June 30, 2017, which we estimate will require additional compensation of $3,722,000; (ii) make additional payments in
terms of the Asset Purchase and Collaboration Agreement that we entered into on June 26, 2015 with a subsidiary of Pfizer Inc. include (a)
a cash payment of $500,000 on the second anniversary of the closing provided that prior to such date the service agreement we entered into
has generated at least $4,000,000 in revenue; and (b) beginning in 2017, a quarterly earn out payment (the "Earn Out Payment") of 10% of
revenue earned during the quarter up to a maximum aggregate payment of $10,000,000; (iii) make minimum lease payments in terms of a
sub-lease agreement entered into with Pfizer for the period January 1, 2016 to April 30, 2019 with annual escalations of 3.5%, estimated to
be $597,177.
In addition, pursuant to the Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement that we entered into with Joel J. Bellows on September 28, 2015, we
agreed to pay Mr. Bellows $1,650,000 (of which $433,333 remains to be paid commencing on March 31, 2016). To date, we have not
generated sufficient revenue to pay all of these commitments. If we do not increase our revenue, we may be required to raise additional
capital to meet our obligations which could result in dilution to stockholders.
Inflation
The effect of inflation on the Company's operating results was not significant.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Not applicable because we are a smaller reporting company.
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805 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022
212.838-5100
212.838.2676/ Fax
www.rbsmllp.com
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and stockholders
Icagen, Inc. (formerly XRpro Sciences, Inc.)
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Icagen, Inc. (formerly XRpro Sciences, Inc.) (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each
of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2015. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits
included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Icagen, Inc. (formerly XRpro Sciences, Inc.) at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the two years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As
more fully described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring operating losses, which has
resulted in an accumulated deficit of approximately $22.143 million at December 31, 2015. These conditions among others raise substantial
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters also are described in
Note 3. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and
classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
/s/ RBSM LLP
April 14, 2016
New York, NY

F-1

ICAGEN, INC.
(FORMERLY XRPRO SCIENCES, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Investment in certificate of deposit
Assets held for resale

December 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

$

$

2,266,788
967,170
357,554
25,023
27,620

6,472,393
103,869
55,331
-

Total current assets
Non-current assets:
Intangible assets, net
Plant and equipment, net
Deposits
Investment in certificate of deposit

3,644,155

6,631,593

7,723,873
1,561,582
-

491,207
481,651
1,000
25,014

Total non-current assets

9,285,455

998,872

TOTAL ASSETS

$ 12,929,610

$

7,630,465

$

$

556,099
294,628
490,625
34,552
978,048

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Other payables and accrued expenses
Legal settlement accrual
Loans payable
Deferred purchase consideration
Dividends payable

934,710
518,608
1,164,750
164,381
125,000
77

Total current liabilities

2,907,526

2,353,952

Non-current liabilities:
Deferred purchase consideration, net
Loans payable
Total non-current liabilities

8,313,490
8,313,490

142,502
142,502

11,221,016

2,496,454

133,350
-

133,350
-

-

-

-

2,134

TOTAL LIABILITIES
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock
Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, 400,000 shares
designated, 105,000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, liquidation
preference is $5.70 per share.
Commitments and contingencies
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 authorized shares, 6,600,000 shares undesignated and
unissued.
Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, 3,000,000 designated shares, 0 and
2,133,947 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, liquidation
preference is $2.50 per share.
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 authorized shares, 6,808,857 and 3,780,847 shares issued
and 6,481,857 and 3,453,847 outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. *
Additional paid in capital
Treasury stock, at cost (327,000 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2015 and 2014). *
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

6,482
23,711,824
(237)
(22,142,825)

3,453
18,413,353
(237)
(13,418,042)

1,575,244

5,000,661

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
*

$ 12,929,610

$

7,630,465

After giving retrospective effect to a 2 for 1 reverse stock split which became effective on March 25, 2015 after filing a certificate of
amendment to the certificate of incorporation.
See notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ICAGEN, INC.
(FORMERLY XRPRO SCIENCES, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Sales

Year ended
December 31,
2015

Year ended
December 31,
2014

$

$

Cost of sales

1,589,111
1,948,963

Gross loss

(359,852)

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation
Amortization
Total operating expenses

541,794
608,050
(66,256)

5,384,442
265,937
138,334
5,788,713

4,502,353
114,156
51,683
4,668,192

Operating loss

(6,148,565)

(4,734,448)

Other (expense) income
Other income
Other expense
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of derivative financial liabilities

(2,222,989)
5,776
(291,221)
-

7,177,522
(490,625)
101
(14,852)
(1,888,181)

Total other (expense) income

(2,508,434)

4,783,965

Net (loss) income before income tax

(8,656,999)

49,517

(19,038)

-

(8,676,037)

49,517

Income tax
Net loss (income)
Preferred stock dividends

(48,746)

(618,805)

Net loss applicable to common stock

$

(8,724,783) $

(569,288)

Net loss per common stock: Basic and diluted

$

(1.39) $

(0.28)

Weighted average number of common stock outstanding: Basic and diluted*
*

6,273,112

2,037,838

After giving retrospective effect to a 2 for 1 reverse stock split which became effective on March 25, 2015 after filing a certificate of
amendment to the certificate of incorporation.
See notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ICAGEN, INC.
(FORMERLY XRPRO SCIENCES, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Series B
Preferred Stock
Number of
shares
Amount

Common Stock
Number of
shares*
Amount
Balance at January 1,
2014
Cancellation of shares in
terms of legal
settlement agreement

2,098,635 $

(78,750)

Common shares issued for
cash
1,433,962

2,098

(79)

2,133,947 $

Treasury
stock
Amount

2,134 $

Total
Stockholder’s
Accumulated
Equity
deficit
(deficit)

Additional
Paid-in
capital

(237) $ 10,477,771 $ (12,848,754) $

-

-

-

1,434

-

-

-

(177,443)
5,017,433

-

(2,366,988)

(177,522)
5,018,867

Share issue expenses
related to common
stock issuance

-

-

-

-

-

(439,010)

-

(439,010)

Fair value of stock options
issued to employees

-

-

-

-

-

702,300

-

702,300

Elimination of derivative
liability on anti-dilutive
price protected warrants
exchanged for warrants
exercisable at fixed
prices

-

-

-

-

-

2,832,302

-

2,832,302

Net income

-

-

-

-

-

-

49,517

49,517

Preferred stock dividend

-

-

-

-

-

-

(618,805)

(618,805)

3,453,847

3,453

2,133,947

2,134

18,413,353

(13,418,042)

Common shares issued for
cash
1,096,040

1,096

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,524,269

1,524

279,551

280

-

Common stock issued
upon exercise of
warrants

20,000

20

Common stock issued in
legal settlement

88,750

Restricted stock awarded
to director

Balance at December 31,
2014

Share issue expenses
related to common
stock issuance
Conversion of Series B
Preferred stock to
common stock
Common shares issued in
lieu of series B
Preferred stock
dividends

Common stock issued
upon exercise of
options

(2,133,947)

(2,134)

(237)

3,835,037

(314,541)

-

-

5,000,661
3,836,133

(314,541)

-

610

-

-

-

-

978,137

-

978,417

-

-

-

380

-

400

90

-

-

-

310,535

-

310,625

19,000

19

-

-

-

46,531

-

46,550

400

-

-

-

-

2,000

-

2,000

Fair value of stock options
and warrants issued

-

-

-

-

-

439,782

Net loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

(8,676,037)

(8,676,037)

Preferred stock dividend

-

-

-

-

-

-

(48,746)

(48,746)

- $

- $

Balance at December 31,
2015
*

6,481,857 $

6,482

-

(237) $ 23,711,824 $ (22,142,825) $

439,782

1,575,244

After giving retrospective effect to a 2 for 1 reverse stock split which became effective on March 25, 2015 after filing a certificate of
amendment to the certificate of incorporation.
See notes to the consolidated financial statements
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ICAGEN, INC.
(FORMERLY XRPRO SCIENCES, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended
December 31,
2015
Cash flow from operating activities
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Stock based compensation
Loss (gain) on plant and equipment scrapped
Non cash Legal settlement accrual
Non cash equity legal settlements
Non cash implied interest on acquisition of Icagen assets
Loss on change in fair value of derivative financial liability
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
Increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in other payables and accrued expenses
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

$

Year ended
December 31,
201

(8,676,037) $
265,937
138,334
486,332
113,721
984,750
105,477
282,190
-

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of Icagen assets
Purchase of plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of vehicles
Return of (Investment in) deposits
Investment in certificates of deposit
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Advance on software loan
Repayment of software loan
Repayment of term loan
Repayment of Los Alamos County loan
Proceeds from Common stock units issued
Proceeds from warrants and options exercised
Share issue expenses
Series A Preferred stock dividend paid
Net cash provided by financing activities

49,517
114,156
51,683
702,300
(462)
490,625
(177,522)
1,888,181

(863,301)
(302,223)
378,611
118,469
(6,967,740 )

2,150
(21,278)
(1,154,074)
(120,019)
1,825,257

(375,000)
(326,909)
1,000
(9)
(700,918)

(144,393)
2,750
(1,000)
(10 )
(142,653)

26,062
(4,103)
(34,598)
3,836,133
2,400
(314,541)
(48,300)
3,463,053

(247,201)
(32,826)
5,018,867
(439,010)
(29,774)
4,270,056

Net (decrease) increase in cash
Cash at the beginning of the year
Cash at the end of the year

$

(4,205,605)
6,472,393
2,266,788 $

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for:
Interest
Income taxes

$
$

8,997
19,038

$
$

15,224
-

$
$
$
$
$
$

310,625
978,417
48,746
2,134
8,531,300
27,620

$
$
$
$

618,805
-

$

-

$

2,832,302

Non cash investing and financing activities:
Common shares issued to partially settle liability
Series B dividends paid in common stock
Accrued Preferred stock dividends
Conversion of Series B Preferred stock into common stock
Acquisition of assets as part of asset Purchase and Collaboration Agreement
Reclassification of fixed assets to assets held for resale
Elimination of derivative financial liability on anti-dilutive price protected warrants exchanged for warrants
exercisable at fixed prices

See notes to the consolidated financial statements
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5,952,660
519,733
6,472,393

ICAGEN, INC.
(FORMERLY XRPRO SCIENCES, INC.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Icagen, Inc. (formerly known as XRpro Sciences, Inc. and Caldera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., “the Company”, “we”, “us”, “our”) is a Delaware
corporation. The principal office is located in Durham, North Carolina. The Company was incorporated in November 2003.
Effective August 28, 2015, the Company changed its name from XRpro Sciences, Inc. to Icagen, Inc.
On July 1, 2015, the Company consummated its purchase of certain assets from Icagen Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Pfizer Inc.
(“Pfizer”) under the terms of an asset purchase and collaboration agreement that the Company entered into on June 26, 2015, pursuant to
which the Company acquired certain assets of Icagen (including certain cell lines, office equipment, servers, biology instruments,
benchtops and the Icagen name), assumed certain liabilities of Icagen and agreed to continue the employment of several employees of
Icagen for at least two years. The Company agreed to pay: (i) an upfront cash purchase price of $500,000, of which $125,000 was paid at
closing date, a further two payments of $125,000 each was paid on September 1, 2015 and December 1, 2015, respectively with a further
payment of $125,000 paid on March 1, 2016; (ii) a cash payment of $500,000 on the second anniversary of the closing provided that prior
to such date the MSSA (as defined below) has generated at least $4,000,000 in revenue; and (iii) beginning in 2017, a quarterly earn out
payment (the “Earn Out Payment”) of 10% of revenue earned during the quarter up to a maximum aggregate payment of $10,000,000.
In terms of US GAAP, the total purchase consideration, including Earn Out Payments of $11,000,000 were discounted back to present
value at the company’s estimated weighted average cost of capital of 6.7%, resulting in an estimated present value of future payments of
$8,531,300. The discount of $2,468,700 over the estimated purchase price of $11,000,000 will be expensed as an additional interest
expense over the estimated period in which the payments are expected to be made. The discount will be evaluated at each reporting period
to determine if our assumptions are still valid.
The Company also entered into a Master Scientific Services Agreement with Pfizer (the “MSSA”), the execution of which was a condition
to closing under the APA. In accordance with the terms of the MSSA, the Company agreed to perform ion channel screening and other
contract research for Pfizer, including but not limited to, on demand assay development, modification and optimization, compound
screening, ion channel screening, reagent and cell line generation, biology platform development.
The Company has an extensive platform of assay tools and technologies for the interrogation of ion channel and transporter function and
pharmacological modulation including our proprietary label free XRpro® technology. With its extensive experience in ion channels,
screening, and drug development, the Company has built an extensive portfolio of over 1000 cell lines, including cell lines stably
expressing recombinant human ion channels and transporters, species orthologs and distinct disease-related or drug binding site mutants.
These tools form the basis for compound screening, selectivity assays, detailed assessment of activity, and mechanism of action studies.
Icagen also offers a full complement of assay technologies including high throughput fluorescence, manual and automated
electrophysiology, and radiotracer flux assays. Combined with the Company’s cell line and assay development expertise, these technologies
enable the Company to rapidly provide quality screening for a broad set of ion channels and transporters.
The Company is the only provider that offers XRpro, a label-free technology that leverages the unique capabilities of X-ray fluorescence
for high-throughput ion flux assays. XRpro technology directly measures elements across the periodic table, from monovalent and divalent
ions including potassium and calcium to halogens and transition metals including zinc. Combined with the penetrating ability of X-rays to
deal with complex solutions including 100% serum, the system enables analysis of electrogenic and non-electrogenic systems that
challenge other technologies.
2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (“US GAAP”).
All amounts referred to in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are in United States Dollars ($) unless stated otherwise.
Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries in which it has a majority voting
interest. Investments in affiliates are accounted for under the cost method of accounting, where appropriate. All significant inter-company
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. The entities included in these consolidated
financial statements are as follows:
Icagen, Inc. - Parent Company
XRpro Corp. - Wholly owned subsidiary
Caldera Discovery, Inc. - Wholly owned subsidiary (formed on March 27, 2015)
XRpro Sciences, Inc. – Wholly owned subsidiary (formed on December 10, 2015)
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ICAGEN, INC.
(FORMERLY XRPRO SCIENCES, INC.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimates
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires us to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We
continually evaluate our estimates, including those related to bad debts and recovery of long-lived assets. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Any
future changes to these estimates and assumptions could cause a material change to our reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following critical
accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements. Significant
estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts, the useful life of plant and equipment and intangible assets, the valuation of certain
assets and intangibles acquired from Icagen, and assumptions used in assessing impairment of long-term assets and the assumptions used in
determining percentage of completion on our long-term contracts.
Contingencies
Certain conditions may exist as of the date the financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss to the Company but which will
only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The Company’s management assesses such contingent liabilities,
and such assessment inherently involves an exercise of judgment. In assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are
pending against and by the Company or un-asserted claims that may result in such proceedings, the Company’s management evaluates the
perceived merits of any legal proceedings or un-asserted claims as well as the perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected
to be sought.
If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is probable that a material loss has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be
estimated, then the estimated liability would be accrued in the Company’s financial statements. If the assessment indicates that a potential
material loss contingency is not probable but is reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the
contingent liability, together with an estimate of the range of possible loss if determinable and material would be disclosed. Loss
contingencies considered to be remote by management are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in which case the
guarantee would be disclosed.
Fair value of financial instruments
The Company adopted the guidance of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820 for fair value measurements which clarifies the
definition of fair value, prescribes methods for measuring fair value, and establishes a fair value hierarchy to classify the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows:
Level 1-Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities available at the measurement date.
Level 2-Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets
and liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, and inputs derived from or corroborated by
observable market data.
Level 3-Inputs are unobservable inputs which reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions on what assumptions the market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best available information.
The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash, accounts receivable, loans payable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximate their fair market value based on the short-term maturity of these instruments. The Company did not identify any assets or
liabilities that are required to be presented on the balance sheets at fair value in accordance with the accounting guidance.
ASC 825-10 “Financial Instruments” allows entities to voluntarily choose to measure certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value
(fair value option). The fair value option may be elected on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable, unless a new election date
occurs. If the fair value option is elected for an instrument, unrealized gains and losses for that instrument should be reported in earnings at
each subsequent reporting date. The Company did not elect to apply the fair value option to any outstanding instruments.
Reporting by segment
No segmental information is presented as the Company is changing its focus from Government contract revenue to revenues derived from
commercial customers.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Intangible assets
Certain of our intangible assets are subject to amortization. We evaluate the recoverability of intangible assets periodically by taking into
account events or circumstances that may warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that indicate the asset may be impaired. Where
intangibles are deemed to be impaired we recognize an impairment loss measured as the difference between the estimated fair value of the
intangible and its book value.
a)

Cell lines

Cell lines acquired by the Company are reported at acquisition value less any impairment. The useful life of cell lines is estimated to be
indefinite.
b)

Discovery platform

The discovery platform acquired by the Company is reported at acquisition value less accumulated amortization and any impairment. The
estimated useful life of the discovery platforms acquired is estimated to be ten years.
c)

Trademarks and trade names

The Trademarks and trade names acquired by the Company is reported at acquisition value less any impairments. The estimated useful life
of trademarks and trade names is estimated to be indefinite.
d)

Patents

Patents acquired by the Company are reported at acquisition value less accumulated amortization and impairments. The estimated useful
life of patents is twenty years, the general useful life of patents.
e)

Assembled workforce

Assembled workforce acquired by the Company is reported at acquisition value less amortization and impairments. The estimated useful
life of the assembled workforce is ten years.
f)

Amortization

Amortization is reported in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the intangible assets, unless the
useful life is indefinite. Amortizable intangible assets are amortized from the date that they are available for use.
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Laboratory equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment

5 Years
7 Years
10 Years
3 Years

The cost of repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred; major replacements and improvements are capitalized. When assets are retired
or disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gains or losses are included in
income in the year of disposition.
We examine the possibility of decreases in the value of fixed assets when events or changes in circumstances reflect the fact that their
recorded value may not be recoverable. We recognize an impairment loss when the sum of expected undiscounted future cash flows is less
than the carrying amount of the asset. The amount of impairment is measured as the difference between the asset’s estimated fair value and
its book value. There was no impairment as of December 31, 2015.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Concentrations of credit risk
The Company’s operations are carried out in the USA. Accordingly, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations
may be influenced by the political, economic and legal environment in the USA and by the general state of the economy. The Company’s
results may be adversely affected by changes in governmental policies with respect to laws and regulations, anti-inflationary measures, and
rates and methods of taxation, among other things.
The Company maintains cash with major financial institutions. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) provides insurance
coverage for deposits of corporations, the current limit of coverage is $250,000. As a result of this coverage the Company has cash balances
of $1,987,229 that are not covered by the FDIC as of December 31, 2015.
Concentration of major customers
The Company derives its revenues from commercial pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies as well as from Government research
contracts and Government grants.
The commercial revenues are currently from major pharmaceutical companies.
The Government research contracts are primarily from one government agency; the National Institutes of Health. The granting of research
contracts from Government agencies is a competitive process and there is no certainty that we will be awarded future contracts, which may
cause our revenue to fluctuate from year to year. Furthermore, Government grants are subject to audits by the granting agency. If such
audits were to determine that expenditures of the grant funds did not meet the applicable criteria, these amounts could be subject to
retroactive adjustment and refunded to the granting agency.
Total revenues by customer type are as follows:

Commercial customers

Year ended
December 31,
2015

Year ended
December 31,
2014

$

$

National Institutes of Health

1,329,337
259,775

Total revenues

$

1,589,112

86,700
455,094

$

541,794

Accounts receivable and other receivables
We have a policy of reserving for uncollectible accounts based on our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in our existing
accounts receivable. As a basis for accurately estimating the likelihood of collection of our accounts receivable, we consider a number of
factors when determining reserves for uncollectable accounts. We believe that we use a reasonably reliable methodology to estimate the
collectability of our accounts receivable. We review our allowances for doubtful accounts on a regular basis. We also consider whether the
historical economic conditions are comparable to current economic conditions. If the financial condition of our customers or other parties
that we have business relations with were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances
may be required.
The balance of the receivables provision as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $19,084. The amount charged to bad debt provision for the
year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $0.
Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with a maturity of three
months or less and money market accounts to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with three financial
institutions in the USA.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue sources consist of commercial contracts, government grants and government contracts.
We enter into fixed fee commercial development contracts that are not associated with the delivery of feasible research on drug candidates
and the development of drug candidates. Revenue under such contracts is generally recognized upon delivery or as the development is
performed.
We account for our long-term Firm Fixed Price Government contracts and grants associated with the delivery of research on drug
candidates and the development of drug candidates using the percentage-of-completion accounting method. Under this method, revenue is
recognized based on the extent of progress towards completion of the long-term contract.
We generally use the cost-to-cost measure of progress for all of our long-term contracts, unless we believe another measure will produce a
more reliable result. We believe that the cost-to-cost measure is the best and most reliable performance indicator of progress on our longterm contracts as all our contract estimates are based on costs that we expect to incur in performing our long-term contracts and we have not
experienced any significant variations on estimated to actual costs to date. Under the cost-to-cost measure of progress, the extent of
progress towards completion is based on the ratio of costs incurred-to-date to the total estimated costs at the completion of the long-term
contract. Revenues, including estimated fees or profits are recorded as costs are incurred.
When estimates of total costs to be incurred on a contract exceed total estimates of revenue to be earned, a provision for the entire loss on
the contract is recorded in the period the loss is determined.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses are minimal at present. These costs, if any, are expensed as incurred and included in Selling, general and
administrative expenses. The Company expects to incur sales and marketing expenses in future periods to promote its services to drug
discovery enterprises.
Research and Development
The remuneration of the Company’s research and development staff, materials used in internal research and development activities, and
payments made to third parties in connection with collaborative research and development arrangements, are all expensed as
incurred. Where the Company makes a payment to a third party to acquire the right to use a product formula which has received regulatory
approval, the payment is accounted for as the acquisition of a license or patent and is capitalized as an intangible asset and amortized over
the shorter of the license period or the patent life.
The amount expensed for unrecovered research costs, included in Selling, general and administrative expenses during the year ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $251,309 and $309,747, respectively.
Patent Costs
Legal costs in connection with approved patents and patent applications are expensed as incurred and classified as Selling, general and
administrative expense in our consolidated statements of operations.
Share-Based Compensation
Share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award and is recognized as expense
over the employee's requisite service period or vesting period on a straight-line basis. Share-based compensation expense recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest and
has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. This estimate will be revised in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those
estimates. We have no awards with market or performance conditions.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Income Taxes
The Company utilizes ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred
income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
financial reporting amounts at each period end based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.
Net income/(loss) per Share
Basic net income/(loss) per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of common stock outstanding during the period.
Diluted net income/(loss) per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of common stock and common stock
equivalents outstanding. Dilutive securities having an anti-dilutive effect on diluted net income/(loss) per share are excluded from the
calculation.
Dilution is computed by applying the treasury stock method for options and warrants. Under this method, “in-the money” options and
warrants are assumed to be exercised at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, if later), and as if funds obtained thereby
were used to purchase common stock at the average market price during the period.
Dilution is computed by applying the if-converted method for convertible preferred stocks. Under this method, convertible preferred stock
is assumed to be converted at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, if later), and preferred dividends (if any) will be added
back to determine income applicable to common stock. The shares issuable upon conversion will be added to weighted average number of
common stock outstanding. Conversion will be assumed only if it reduces earnings per share (or increases loss per share).
Related parties
Parties are considered to be related to the Company if the parties that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control,
are controlled by, or are under common control with the Company. Related parties also include principal owners of the Company, its
management, members of the immediate families of principal owners of the Company and its management and other parties with which the
Company may deal if one party controls or can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that
one of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests. The Company discloses all related party
transactions. All transactions shall be recorded at fair value of the goods or services exchanged. Property purchased from a related party is
recorded at the cost to the related party and any payment to or on behalf of the related party in excess of the cost is reflected as a
distribution to the related party.
Derivative Liabilities
The Company has no derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2015. The Company assessed the classification of its derivative
financial instruments as of December 31, 2014, which consisted of convertible instruments and rights to shares of the Company’s common
stock, and determined that such derivatives meet the criteria for liability classification under ASC 815.
ASC 815 generally provides three criteria that, if met, require companies to bifurcate conversion options from their host instruments and
account for them as free standing derivative financial instruments. These three criteria include circumstances in which (a) the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative instrument are not clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics and risks
of the host contract, (b) the hybrid instrument that embodies both the embedded derivative instrument and the host contract is not remeasured at fair value under otherwise applicable generally accepted accounting principles with changes in fair value reported in earnings
as they occur and (c) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative instrument would be considered a derivative
instrument subject to the requirements of ASC 815. ASC 815 also provides an exception to this rule when the host instrument is deemed to
be conventional, as described.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Convertible Instruments
The Company evaluates and accounts for conversion options embedded in its convertible instruments in accordance with professional
standards for “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”.
Professional standards generally provide three criteria that, if met, require companies to bifurcate conversion options from their host
instruments and account for them as free standing derivative financial instruments. These three criteria include circumstances in which (a)
the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative instrument are not clearly and closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract, (b) the hybrid instrument that embodies both the embedded derivative instrument and the host
contract is not re-measured at fair value under otherwise applicable generally accepted accounting principles with changes in fair value
reported in earnings as they occur and (c) a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative instrument would be
considered a derivative instrument. Professional standards also provide an exception to this rule when the host instrument is deemed to be
conventional as defined under professional standards as “The Meaning of “Conventional Convertible Debt Instrument”.
The Company accounts for convertible instruments (when it has determined that the embedded conversion options should not be bifurcated
from their host instruments) in accordance with professional standards when “Accounting for Convertible Securities with Beneficial
Conversion Features,” as those professional standards pertain to “Certain Convertible Instruments.” Accordingly, the Company records,
when necessary, discounts to convertible notes for the intrinsic value of conversion options embedded in debt instruments based upon the
differences between the fair value of the underlying common stock at the commitment date of the note transaction and the effective
conversion price embedded in the note. Debt discounts under these arrangements are amortized over the term of the related debt to their
earliest date of redemption. The Company also records when necessary deemed dividends for the intrinsic value of conversion options
embedded in preferred shares based upon the differences between the fair value of the underlying common stock at the commitment date of
the note transaction and the effective conversion price embedded in the note.
ASC 815-40 provides that, among other things, generally, if an event is not within the entity’s control could or require net cash settlement,
then the contract shall be classified as an asset or a liability.
Recent accounting pronouncements
In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-01, “Income Statement - Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic 225-20):
Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary Items.” This ASU eliminates from U.S. GAAP
the concept of extraordinary items. ASU 2015-01 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2015. A reporting entity may apply the amendments prospectively. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2015-01 to have a
material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis, which is
intended to improve targeted areas of consolidation guidance for legal entities such as limited partnerships, limited liability corporations,
and securitization structures (collateralized debt obligations, collateralized loan obligations, and mortgage-backed security transactions).
The ASU focuses on the consolidation evaluation for reporting organizations that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate
certain legal entities. In addition to reducing the number of consolidation models from four to two, the new standard simplifies the FASB
Accounting Standards Codification and improves current U.S. GAAP by placing more emphasis on risk of loss when determining a
controlling financial interest, reducing the frequency of the application of related-party guidance when determining a controlling financial
interest in a variable interest entity (“VIE”), and changing consolidation conclusions for companies in several industries that typically make
use of limited partnerships or VIEs. The ASU will be effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning
after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. We do not expect the adoption of ASU
2015-02 to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In April 2015, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2015-03, Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30):
Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, is to simplify presentation of debt issuance costs by requiring that debt issuance costs
related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability,
consistent with debt discounts. The ASU does not affect the recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs. For public
companies, the ASU is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Early application is permitted. This updated guidance is not expected to have a material impact on our results of
operations, cash flows or financial condition.
In April 2015, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-05, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software
(Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Fees paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement, provides guidance to customers about
whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license. If such an arrangement includes a software license, then the customer
should account for the software license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If the
arrangement does not include a software license, the customer should account for it as a service contract. For public business entities, the
ASU is effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early
application is permitted. This updated guidance is not expected to have a material impact on our results of operations, cash flows or
financial condition.
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Recent accounting pronouncements (continued)
In April 2015, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-06, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260): Effects on Historical Earnings
per Unit of Master Limited Partnership Dropdown Transactions, specifies that, for purposes of calculating historical earnings per unit
under the two-class method, the earnings (losses) of a transferred business before the date of a drop down transaction should be allocated
entirely to the general partner. In that circumstance, the previously reported earnings per unit of the limited partners (which is typically the
earnings per unit measure presented in the financial statements) would not change as a result of the dropdown transaction. Qualitative
disclosures about how the rights to the earnings (losses) differ before and after the dropdown transaction occurs for purposes of computing
earnings per unit under the two-class method also are required. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015,
and interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlier application is permitted. This updated guidance is not expected to have a material
impact on our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.
In May 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2015-07, “Fair
Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its
Equivalent)” (“ASU 2015-07”). This guidance eliminates the requirement to categorize investments within the fair value hierarchy if their
fair value is measured using the net asset value (“NAV”) per share practical expedient in the FASB’s fair value measurement guidance.
The new standard is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015 The
Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2015-07 to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
In July 2015, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2015-11, “ Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of
Inventory” more closely align the measurement of inventory in GAAP with the measurement of inventory in International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The amendments in this ASU do not apply to inventory that is measured using last-in, first-out (LIFO) or the
retail inventory method. The amendments apply to all other inventory, which includes inventory that is measured using first-in, first-out
(FIFO) or average cost. An entity should measure inventory within the scope of this Update at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion,
disposal, and transportation. Subsequent measurement is unchanged for inventory measured using LIFO or the retail inventory method. For
public business entities, this ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those
fiscal years. For all other entities, this ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. The amendments in this ASU should be applied prospectively with earlier application
permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. We are currently reviewing the provisions of this ASU to determine
if there will be any impact on our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.
In August 2015, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No.2015-14, “ Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606):
Deferral of the Effective Date” defers the effective date ASU No. 2014-09 for all entities by one year. Public business entities, certain notfor-profit entities, and certain employee benefit plans should apply the guidance in Update 2014-09 to annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. Earlier application is permitted only as of annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. All other entities
should apply the guidance in Update 2014-09 to annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim reporting periods
within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. All other entities may apply the guidance in ASU No. 2014-09 earlier
as of an annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. All
other entities also may apply the guidance in Update 2014-09 earlier as of an annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2016,
and interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods beginning one year after the annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies the guidance in ASU No. 2014-09. We are currently reviewing the provisions of this ASU to determine if there will be any impact
on our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.
In August 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-15, “Interest Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30).” ASU 2015-15 provides guidance as to the presentation and subsequent measurement of debt
issuance costs associated with line of credit arrangements. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2015-15 to have a material effect on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In September 2015, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2015-16, “ Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying
the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments” requires that an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are
identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. The amendments in this
Update require that the acquirer record, in the same period’s financial statements, the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation,
amortization, or other income effects, if any, as a result of the change to the provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting had been
completed at the acquisition date. For public business entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2015, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The amendments should be applied prospectively to adjustments to provisional
amounts that occur after the effective date of this Update with earlier application permitted for financial statements that have not been
issued. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. The amendments should be applied prospectively to adjustments to provisional amounts
that occur after the effective date of this Update with earlier application permitted for financial statements that have not yet been made
available for issuance. We are currently reviewing the provisions of this ASU to determine if there will be any impact on our results of
operations, cash flows or financial condition.
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Recent accounting pronouncements (continued)
In November 2015, the FASB issued (ASU) 2015-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. Currently deferred taxes for each
tax jurisdiction are presented as a net current asset or liability and net noncurrent asset or liability on the balance sheet. To simplify the
presentation, the new guidance requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets for all jurisdictions along with any related valuation
allowances be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. This guidance is effective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted. The Company has adopted this guidance in the
fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2015 on a retrospective basis. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact
on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows, and did not have any effect on prior periods due to the full
valuation allowance against the Company’s net deferred tax assets.
In January 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-01, which amends
the guidance in U.S. GAAP on the classification and measurement of financial instruments. Changes to the current guidance primarily
affect the accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, and the presentation and disclosure
requirements for financial instruments. In addition, the ASU clarifies guidance related to the valuation allowance assessment when
recognizing deferred tax assets resulting from unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities. The new standard is effective for
fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and upon adoption, an entity should apply the amendments by means
of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet at the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. Early
adoption is not permitted except for the provision to record fair value changes for financial liabilities under the fair value option resulting
from instrument-specific credit risk in other comprehensive income. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this
guidance.
Any new accounting standards, not disclosed above, that have been issued or proposed by FASB that do not require adoption until a future
date are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements upon adoption.
Reclassification of Prior Year Presentation
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no effect
on the reported results of operations.
3.

GOING CONCERN

As shown in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company incurred a net loss of $(8,676,037) and a net profit of
$49,517 during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had
accumulated deficits of $22,142,825 and $13,418,042. The Company’s working capital decreased from $4,277,641 at December 31, 2014
to $736,629 at December 31, 2015. The Company’s working capital is insufficient to meet its short-term cash requirements and fund any
future operating losses. These operating losses create an uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our plan,
through the acquisition of the assets of Icagen and the continued promotion of our services to existing and potential customers is to
generate sufficient revenues to cover our anticipated expenses. The Company is currently exploring several options to meet our short-term
cash requirements, including bridge note funding, an equity raise or loan funding from third parties. Although no assurances can be given
as to the Company’s ability to deliver on its revenue plans, or that unforeseen expenses may arise, the management of the Company
believes that the revenue to be generated from operations together with potential bridge note funding, additional issuances of equity or other
potential financing will provide the necessary funding for the Company to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is unable to continue as a going concern. The Company
is economically dependent upon future capital contributions or financing to fund ongoing operations.
4.

PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepaid insurance
Prepaid rent
Prepaid equipment maintenance
Prepaid Subscriptions
Surety bond
Other

December 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

$

$

$

19,714
2,500
15,123
5,106
310,000
5,111
357,554

$

18,093
20,936
14,754
1,548
55,331

A surety bond of $310,000 was posted as security for the sanctions levied against the Company in the Litigation with the Estate of Sigmund
Eisenschenk, the bond was necessary and we have appealed these sanctions (refer note 23 below).
5.

ASSETS HELD FOR RESALE

The Company closed its Los Alamos and Cambridge sites during the fourth quarter of the current year and consolidated its operations at the
Icagen site in North Carolina. Excess laboratory equipment that was surplus to its requirements were consigned to a company that
specializes in selling used laboratory equipment. The equipment is expected to realize a net, $27,620 after deduction of all sales
commissions and associated costs.
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ACQUISITION OF ASSETS OF ICAGEN INC.

On July 1, 2015, the Company consummated its purchase of certain assets of Icagen Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Pfizer Inc.
(“Pfizer”) under the terms of an asset purchase and collaboration agreement that the Company entered into on June 26, 2015, pursuant to
which the Company acquired certain assets of Icagen (including certain cell lines, office equipment, servers, biology instruments,
benchtops and the Icagen name), assumed certain liabilities of Icagen and agreed to continue the employment of several employees of
Icagen for at least two years. The Company agreed to pay: (i) an upfront cash purchase price of $500,000, of which $125,000 was paid at
closing date, a further $125,000 was paid in September 1, 2015 and $125,000 was paid on December 1, 2015 and a further payment of
$125,000 was made on March 1, 2016; (ii) a cash payment of $500,000 on the second anniversary of the closing provided that prior to such
date the MSSA has generated at least $4,000,000 in revenue; and (iii) beginning in 2017, a quarterly earn out payment (the “Earn Out
Payment”) of 10% of revenue earned during the quarter up to a maximum aggregate payment of $10,000,000.
In terms of US GAAP, the total purchase consideration, including Earn Out Payments of $11,000,000 were discounted back to present
value at the company’s estimated weighted average cost of capital of 6.7%, resulting in an estimated present value of future payments of
$8,531,300. The discount of $2,468,700 over the estimated purchase price of $11,000,000 will be expensed as an additional interest
expense over the estimated period in which the payments are expected to be made. The discount will be evaluated at each reporting period
to determine if our assumptions are still valid.
The fair value allocation for the fixed assets, including laboratory equipment and computer equipment, cell lines, biology platform,
trademarks and tradename resulting from the acquisition of the Icagen assets from Pfizer, Inc. was based on management’s estimates as of
July 1, 2015, the date of the acquisition. The Company retained the services of an independent valuation firm to determine the fair value
and the allocation basis of the identifiable intangible assets. The purchase price was adjusted by $2,468,700 to take into account the
estimated present value of the estimated future payments to be made in terms of the asset purchase agreement and the net result was
reallocated based on the outcome of the asset valuation.
The purchase price allocated to the acquisition of the assets of Icagen Inc. is made up as follows:
Cash payments on July 1, 2015, September 1, 2015 and December 1, 2015
Cash payment on March 1, 2016
Cash payment due on July 1, 2017
Deferred earn out payments
Present value discount on future payments

Amount
375,000
125,000
500,000
10,000,000
$ 11,000,000
(2,468,700 )
8,531,300
$

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company charged to operations, non-cash implied interest on the acquisition of the Icagen
assets of $282,190.
The allocation of the discounted purchase price to the assets acquired is as follows:
Amount
1,145,005
15,295
5,000,500
1,450,500
637,500
282,500
$
8,531,300

Laboratory equipment
Computer equipment
Cell lines
Discovery Platform
Trade name
Assembled Workforce
Total

7.

$

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
a.

Cell lines and discovery platform
In terms of the purchase agreement entered into between the Company and Pfizer, Icagen has established a core set of technologies
for the discovery of drugs that act upon ion channel targets. All of the assets acquired were developed internally by Icagen and are
based upon its ion channel platform and include the following acquired components:
●

Extensive cell line and plasmid repositories

●

Technologies including High Throughput screening (HTS), electrophysiology, informatics, in vitro and in vivo ADME, animal
efficacy and safety models.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
The value placed on these individual components is $5,000,500 for cell lines and $1,450,500 for the discovery platform, no initial
value has been ascribed to plasmid repositories due to the commodity nature of these plasmids.
The useful life ascribed to the cell lines is indefinite due to the proprietary nature of these internally generated cell lines and the
useful life of the acquired discovery platform is expected to be ten years based on our internal experience on the usefulness of
internally generated procedures and protocols used in ion channel drug discovery procedures. The cell lines and discovery platform
will be considered for impairment on a regular basis.
b.

Trade name and trademarks
In terms of the purchase agreement entered into between the Company and Pfizer, the name and all rights to the name of Icagen
were assigned to us. The use of this name, which was the original name of the publicly traded company acquired by Pfizer in 2011,
has significant value and is a well-known industry name. The value placed on the trade name and trademarks acquired is $637,500.
The useful life of the trade name and trademarks is indefinite and will be tested for impairment on a regular basis.

c.

Assembled workforce
In terms of the purchase agreement entered into between the Company and Pfizer, we agreed to retain the services of the scientific
personnel who have extensive knowledge and experience in ion channel research and services. This workforce was originally
acquired by Pfizer and prior to that had worked for the original Icagen company. The value placed in the assembled workforce
acquired is $282,500, the useful life is expected to be ten years based on our estimate of the useful life of current knowledge and the
rate of evolution within the industry.

d.

Patents
In terms of an Exclusive Patent License agreement (“License”) covering national and international patents entered into with the Los
Alamos National Security LLC (“the Licensor”) dated September 8, 2005, the Company has the exclusive right to the use of certain
patents. On October 15, 2014, the national and international patents owned by Los Alamos National Security and previously
licensed to the Company were assigned to the Company.
The patents consist of the following:
●

Method for Detecting Binding Events Using Micro X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry, which includes an issued U.S. patent
that is expected to expire in about 2021;

●

Flow Method and Apparatus for Screening Chemicals Using Micro X-Ray Fluorescence, which includes issued patents in the
U.S., Japan and Singapore, as well as a pending application in Europe, such patents and patent application, if issued, are
expected to expire in 2022;

●

Method and Apparatus for Detecting Chemical Binding, which includes about 10 issued patents in the U.S., Europe, Japan and
Singapore; such patents are expected to expire in 2023;

●

Drug Development and Manufacturing, which includes an issued U.S. patent that is expected to expire in about 2021.

●

Advanced Drug Development and Manufacturing, which includes over 15 issued foreign patents, in Europe, Japan, and Hong
Kong, expected to expire in about 2026, and pending applications in the U.S. and Japan which, if issued, are expected to expire
between 2021-2026.

●

Well Plate/Apparatus for Preparing Samples for Measurement by X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry, which includes issued
patents in the U.S. and Japan, which are expected to expire in about 2028, and pending applications in the U.S., Europe, and
Japan, which, if issued, are also expected to expire in 2028.

●

Method and Apparatus for Measuring Protein Post Translational Modification, which includes a patent issued in Japan, which is
expected to expire in about 2028 and pending applications in U.S., Europe and Japan, which, if issued, are also expected to
expire in about 2028.

●

Method and Apparatus for Measuring Analyte Transport Across Barriers, which includes 2 issued U.S. patents and issued
patents in China and Hong Kong, which are expected to expire in about 2030/2031, and pending applications in U.S., Europe,
and China, which, if issued, are also expected to expire in about 2030.

●

Method for Analysis Using X-Ray Fluorescence, which includes an issued U.S. patent, which is expected to expire in 2031, and
three pending U.S. patent applications which, if issued, are expected to expire in 2031.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Intangible assets consist of the following:

Cost
Cell lines
Biology platform
Trade name and trademarks
Assembled workforce
Patents, at cost

$

$

5,000,500
1,450,500
637,500
282,500
972,000
8,343,000

December 31,
2015
Amortization
and
impairment
$

$

- $
(72,525)
(14,125)
(532,477)
(619,127) $

December 31,
2014
Net book
value
5,000,500
1,377,975
637,500
268,375
439,523
7,723,873

Net book
value
$

$

491,207
491,207

The aggregate amortization expense charged to operations was $138,334 and $51,683 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The amortization policies followed by the Company are described in Note 2.
Amortization expense for future periods is summarized as follows:
Amount
224,984
224,984
224,984
224,984
1,185,937
$ 2,085,873

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020 and thereafter
Total

$
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Included in plant and equipment is laboratory equipment and computer equipment valued at $1,145,005 and $15,295, respectively, acquired
in terms of the acquisition agreement entered into with Pfizer on July 1, 2015. The useful lives of this equipment are estimated at seven
years and three years respectively.
The Company has acquired computer software of $247,733 directly related to the acquisition of Icagen and necessary to continue operating
our biology platforms. The estimated useful life of this software is between 1 and 3 years.
Plant and equipment consists of the following:

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fittings
Laboratory equipment
Computer Software
Computer equipment

$

$

Cost
4,263
1,798,679
247,733
28,572
2,079,247

December 31,
2015
Amortization
and
Net book
impairment
value
$
(303) $
3,960
(459,560)
1,339,119
(53,657)
194,076
(4,145)
24,427
$
(517,665) $ 1,561,582

December 31,
2014
Net book
value
$

$

18,442
446,729
16,480
481,651

The aggregate depreciation charge to operations was $265,937 and $114,156 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The depreciation policies followed by the Company are described in Note 2. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the
Company scrapped certain fixed assets and recorded a loss on scrapping of fixed assets of $113,721.
9.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
December 31,
2015
$
93,104
174,399
67,315
183,790
$
518,608

Credit card liabilities
Vacation and Sick Pay accrual
Payroll liabilities
Severance cost accrual
Other

December 31,
2014
$
10,393
125,394
66,731
92,110
$
294,628

The Company decided to consolidate its operations into one location in Durham, North Carolina. The laboratories maintained in Los
Alamos, New Mexico and Cambridge, Massachusetts were both closed at the end of their lease terms.
In terms of this consolidation, five members of staff accepted severance packages. To date, we have paid approximately $84,000 in
severance costs, with a further $67,315 to be incurred over the next four months.
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10. INCOME TAXES
The income tax provision/ (benefit) is different from that which would be obtained by applying the statutory Federal income tax rate of
35% to income before income tax expense. The items causing this difference for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as
follows:
Year ended
December 31,
2015
Income tax (benefit) provision at federal statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal (benefit) provision
Derivative financial liability
Stock based compensation
Accrual to cash adjustments
Prior year under provision
Other

$

Utilization of Net operating loss carry forwards
Valuation allowances
$

Year ended
December 31,
2014

(3,036,000) $
(434,000)
125,000
229,000
(145,000)
211,000
(3,050,000)
3,050,000
- $

17,000
3,000
755,000
281,000
(363,000)
(33,000)
(13,000)
647,000
(647,000)
-

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:
December 31,
2015
Deferred tax assets
Accrual to cash adjustments
Options based compensation
Capital loss
Plant and equipment
Amortization of intangibles
Net operating loss

$

Valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities
Plant and equipment
Amortization of intangibles
$

December 31,
2014

506,000 $
828,000
50,000
74,000
6,000
5,372,000
6,836,000
(6,836,000)
-

$

474,000
703,000
50,000
2,209,000
3,436,000
(3,256,000)
180,000
(131,000)
(49,000)
-

We have established a valuation allowance against our gross deferred tax assets sufficient to bring our net deferred tax assets to zero due to
the uncertainty surrounding the realization of such assets. Management has determined it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets
are not realizable beyond our deferred tax liabilities due to our historical loss position. The valuation allowance increased by $3,580,000
due to the net operating loss realized in the current year, including a true-up of prior year deferred taxes of $495,000.
At December 31, 2015, we had tax loss carry forwards of approximately $13,430,000. These net operating loss carry forwards expire in
2035, if unused. The Company files its tax returns on a cash basis.
Pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, ("IRC") §382, our ability to use net operating loss carry forwards to offset
future taxable income is limited if we experience a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% within a three-year period.
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The legal settlement liability is disclosed as follows:

Legal Settlement accrual – Bellows matter
Legal settlement accrual – Eisenschenk matter
Legal settlement – other
Judgement liability

December 31,
2015
$
466,250
516,250
10,000
172,250
$ 1,164,750

December 31,
2014
$
-

$

490,625
490,625

Pursuant to the terms of a settlement agreement reached with Bellows on September 28, 2015, the Company agreed to settle all legal
matters with Bellows for a cash settlement of $1,650,000, with Bellows surrendering into escrow the 105,000 Series A preferred shares
currently held by him and relinquishing his rights to any further dividend payments on those shares. In terms of the settlement agreement
$600,000 was paid on October 28, 2015 and a further $400,000 was paid on December 31, 2015. The balance of $650,000 is due in six
equal installments of $108,333 each month end, commencing on January 31, 2016, to date we have paid $325,000. Upon full payment of
the $650, 000, the escrow Series A preferred shares will be released to the Company. See note 23 below.
The Company is attempting to settle the Eisenschenk matter, as disclosed in note 23 below, we estimate that the net settlement cost in this
matter is approximately $516,250.
The Company has accrued a settlement to Lyon and Lane in exchange for them relinquishing their claim of indemnity for the sanctions
levied against the Company, Lyon and Lane and Crane, no agreement has been reached as yet.
The judgement liability represents the outstanding court sanction against the Company in the “ Litigation with the estate of Sigmund
Eisenschenk”, on March 16, 2015 as disclosed in note 23 below, less the $92,750 sanction which has already been paid by Lyon and Lane.
The net legal settlement expense is disclosed as follows:

Legal Settlement accrual – Bellows matter
Legal settlement accrual – Eisenschenk matter
Estimated value of Series A preferred shares to be returned
Estimated Lyon and Lane settlement amount
Additional judgment settlement liability required
Reduction in judgement liability on Lyon and Lane settlement

Year ended
Year ended
December
December 31,
31,
2015
2014
$ 1,650,000 $
516,250
(183,750)
10,000
85,000
490,625
(92,750)
$ 1,984,750 $
490,625

12. LOANS PAYABLE
December
31,
2015
Short term portion
Los Alamos County project participation loan
Asset funding agreement
Long term portion
Los Alamos County project participation loan
Total

$

$

142,502
21,879
164,381
164,381

December
31,
2014
$

$

34,552
34,552
142,502
177,054

The amortization of the principal outstanding on the loans payable is as follows:
Amount
Within 1 year

$

164,381
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12. LOANS PAYABLE (continued)
Los Alamos County project participation loan
The Company entered into a Project Participation Agreement (as Amended) and a Loan Agreement with the Incorporated County of Los
Alamos as of September 21, 2006. The Agreement provided for funding up to a maximum of $2,200,000 for the construction of a building
and purchase of equipment. The maximum amount of equipment to be funded out of the total available loan of $2,200,000 was $625,000.
The term of the loan is 13 years. The loan agreement provided for no repayments for 36 months with 120 equal monthly repayments
commencing on September 21, 2009. The interest rate on the loan is 5% per annum. The assets funded in terms of the Project Participation
Agreement and the Loan Agreement is to be used as security for the balance of the loan outstanding. The Company made use of the loan to
purchase assets amounting to $302,009 during the 2007 financial year. Repayments of the loan commenced on September 21, 2009 at an
interest rate of 5% per annum with equal monthly repayments of $3,547, inclusive of interest. The Company owed $142,502 and $177,054
as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Due to the closure of the Los Alamos site, the County of Los Alamos has
informed the Company that the full balance of the loan is now due and payable.
The Company entered into a short term asset funding agreement for $26,062 to acquire certain software related to the Icagen acquisition.
The term of the loan is for twelve months with 12 equal installments of $2,313. The interest rate on the loan is 11.8% per annum. The
Company owed $21,879 as of December 31, 2015.
13. DEFERRED PURCHASE CONSIDERATION
In accordance with the terms of the Icagen asset purchase agreement entered into on July 1, 2015, the Company has the following deferred
purchase price obligations:
●

$125,000 paid on March 1, 2016;

●

an additional $500,000 is due on July 1, 2017, provided that Pfizer has generated at least $4,000,000 in revenue, there are no
indications that the targets will not be met;

●

commencing January 1, 2017, the Company is obligated to pay additional purchase price consideration calculated as 10% (ten
percent) of gross revenues to Pfizer, Inc. This obligation is capped at a maximum of $10,000,000. These earn out payments are
payable quarterly, 60 days after the completion of each calendar quarter. There are no indications that we will not meet the
maximum earn out payment.

In terms of US GAAP, the total purchase consideration, including Earn Out Payments of $11,000,000 were discounted back to present
value at the company’s estimated weighted average cost of capital of 6.7%, resulting in an estimated present value of future payments of
$8,531,300. The discount of $2,468,700 over the estimated purchase price of $11,000,000 will be expensed as an additional interest
expense over the estimated period in which the payments are expected to be made. The discount will be evaluated at each reporting period
to determine if our assumptions are still valid.
Deferred purchase consideration is disclosed as follows:

Short term portion
Deferred purchase consideration
Long term portion
Deferred purchase consideration
Present value discount on future payments
Imputed interest expense
Total

December 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

$

$

-

10,500,000
10,625,000
(2,468,700)
282,190
$ 8,438,490 $

-

125,000

14. PREFERRED STOCK
Preferred Stock consists of 10,000,000 authorized preferred shares of $0.001 par value each of which 400,000 are designated as Series A
8% convertible redeemable preferred shares of $0.001 each and 3,000,000 are designated as Series B convertible preferred shares of $0.001
each, with the remaining 6,600,000 preferred shares remaining undesignated.
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Series A 8% Convertible, Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series A Stock”)
Series A Stock consists of 400,000 designated shares of $0.001 par value each, 105,000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2015 and 2014.
On September 28, 2015, the Company entered into a settlement agreement whereby Bellows surrendered into escrow his Series A shares to
the Company. These shares are held in trust with our legal counsel until such time as the final installment, as disclosed under note 11 above
has been paid.
Conversion
The Series A Stock will convert to common stock of the Company at a price of $11.40 per share of Common Stock subject to adjustment
for stock splits, stock dividends and any further recapitalizations. The Series A Stock is subject to voluntary conversion at the option of the
stockholder at any time and is mandatory convertible at the option of the Company provided the Company’s common stock is trading on a
recognized stock exchange or Over the Counter Bulletin Board and the volume weighted average price of the Company’s common stock is
at least $20 per share, subject to stock splits, stock dividends and recapitalizations.
Warrants
The original holders of Series A Stock had received warrants to purchase 170,804 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price of $11.40 per share. The warrants expire five years after date of issuance. In terms of the exchange agreement entered into with the
Company on April 30, 2013, these warrants remain in place. These warrants are not transferable without the consent of the Company and
an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Company.
Redemption
The Company has the option to redeem the Series A Stock at a price equal to 130% of the initial investment in the Company by the
stockholder at any time after giving the investors notice and allowing them to exercise their conversion rights into common stock 30 days
after notice has been received.
Liquidation
The liquidation rights of the Series A Stock is the greater of $5.70 per share plus any unpaid dividends or an amount that would have been
payable had all shares of Series A Stock converted into common stock immediately prior to liquidation.
Dividends
The Series A Stock carries an 8% cumulative, non-compounded dividend payable on January 31st, each year in cash or in kind at the option
of the Series A stockholder. For any other dividends or distributions, the Series A Stock is treated on an as- converted basis.
No accrual for Series A Stock dividends was made for the year ended December 31, 2015 due to the settlement agreement with Bellows,
the remaining Series A stockholder, disclosed in note 23 below. An accrual for Series A Stock dividends of $48,300 was made for the year
ended December 31, 2014.
During the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company paid $48,300 and $29,774, respectively of accrued Series A stock
dividends.
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Stock”)
Series B Stock consists of 3,000,000 designated shares of $0.001 par value each, 0 and 2,133,947 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014.
On January 31, 2015, in accordance with the terms of various exchange agreements (the “Series B Preferred Stock Exchange Agreements”)
entered into between the Company, and the holders of its outstanding Series B Preferred Stock, each holder of Series B Preferred
Stock exchanged all of their shares of Series B Preferred Stock for the number of shares of the Company’s common stock, par value
$0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”) determined by dividing the sum of the amount of the holder’s initial investment in the Series B
Preferred Stock, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends owed to the holder, by $3.50. All 2,133,947 outstanding shares of the Company’s
Series B Preferred Stock, including accrued and unpaid dividends thereon, were exchanged for 1,803,820 shares of the Common Stock,
resulting in no shares of Series B Preferred Stock outstanding.
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Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Stock”) (continued)
The following is a summary of material provisions of the Series B Stock as set forth in the Certificate of Designations.
Conversion
Subject to adjustment as more fully described herein, each Series B Stock is currently convertible at the option of the holder into one share
of Common Stock. Each Series B Stock (together with any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon) is convertible into shares of Common
Stock at the option of the holder at any time at a conversion price per share equal to the sum of the Stated Value and any accrued but
unpaid dividends thereon through the date of notice of conversion divided by the Conversion Price, subject to adjustment as described
below. The initial Conversion Price is equal to the Stated Value. If the Company merges or sells its assets, holders of Series B Stock will be
entitled to receive on conversion the securities or property (including cash) of the successor corporation that they would have received as a
result of that merger or sale if they had converted immediately beforehand. At any time after the Common Stock is listed on a national
securities exchange as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company may cause the conversion of the Series B Stock, plus
accrued but unpaid dividends into shares of Common Stock, each Series B Stock convertible into such number of shares of Common Stock
as shall equal the sum of the Stated Value plus any accrued but unpaid dividends through the date of conversion divided by the lower of the
then conversion price and the market price of the Company’s Common Stock. Market Price is defined as the average of the reported
closing sales price of the Common Stock for each of the five trading days for which a closing sales price is reported immediately preceding
the day prior to the conversion.
Liquidation
In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company and other Liquidation Events as defined in the Certificate of
Designations, holders of Series B Stock are entitled to receive from proceeds remaining after distribution to the Company’s creditors and
prior to the distribution holders of Common Stock or any other class of preferred stock the (x) Stated Value (as adjusted for any stock splits,
stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) held by such holder and (y) all accrued but unpaid dividends on such shares.
Anti-Dilution
If the Company issues Common Stock or securities convertible, exercisable or exchangeable into Common Stock for a purchase price of
less than $5.00 per share then the holders of the Series B Stock will be entitled to a weighted-average” adjustment in the number of
common shares that their Series B Stock can be converted into; provided, however, that there will be no adjustment to the number of shares
of Common Stock that the Series B Stock can be converted into for (i) issuance or sale of Common Stock or options or other awards under
the Corporation’s equity incentive plans or programs not to exceed 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock; (ii) issuance or sale of preferred
stock or Common Stock issuable upon conversion, exchange or exercise of the Series A Stock or Series B Stock, the Bridge Notes, the
Warrants issued in connection with the exchange of the Bridge Notes, the Warrants issued in connection with the issuance of the Series B
Stock to the holders thereof, any Warrants issued to the Placement Agent or its designees in connection with the issuance of the Series B
Stock or as an advisory fee or any other convertible securities or warrants outstanding on the date hereof; (iii) issuance of equity securities
or rights to purchase equity securities issued in connection with commercial property or lease transactions that are approved by the Board
of Directors; (iv) issuance of equity securities or rights to purchase equity securities issued for consideration other than cash pursuant to a
merger, consolidation, acquisition or similar business combination approved by the Board of Directors; (v) issuance of securities to an
entity as a component of any business relationship with such entity primarily for the purpose of (A) joint venture, technology or licensing
development activities; (B) distribution, supply or manufacture of the Company’s products or services; or (C) any other arrangements
involving corporate partners primarily for purposes other than raising capital, the terms of which business relationship with such entity are
approved by the Board of Directors; and (vi) issuance of stock pursuant to a stock dividend or stock split.
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Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Stock”) (continued)
Voting
Except as otherwise required by law and except as set forth below, holders of Series B Stock will, on an as-converted basis, vote together
with the Common Stock as a single class. Each holder of Series B Stock is entitled to cast the number of votes equal to two times the
number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares of Series B Stock could be converted at the record date for determining
stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting. The approval by holders of a majority of the Series B Stock, voting separately as a class, will
be required for the creation of any class or series of preferred stock ranking senior to or pari-passu with the Series B Stock as to payments
of dividends or upon the liquidation of the Company.
Financials
As soon as practicable after the filing of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and its Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Holders
of the Series B Stock are entitled to receive, upon request, a consolidated balance sheet of the Company, if any, as of the end of such fiscal
year or quarter, and consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of cash flows and stockholders’ equity of the
Company, if any, for such year or quarter, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and setting forth in each
case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all in reasonable detail.
Dividends
Series B Stock accrue dividends at the rate per annum equal to (i) 8% of the sum of (x) the Stated Value and (y) the amount of accrued and
unpaid dividends payable, out of funds legally available for payment, on January 31st of each year, if paid in cash, or (ii) 10% of the sum of
(x) the Stated Value and (y) the amount of accrued and unpaid dividends payable, out of funds legally available for payment, on January
31st of each year, if paid in shares of Common Stock, based upon a price of $5.00 per share of Common Stock. The Company shall have
the option, to pay any such dividends in cash or shares of Common Stock. Such dividends shall be in preference and priority to any
payment of any dividend on Common Stock, or any other class of preferred stock. Dividends are cumulative.
An accrual for Series B Stock dividends of $48,746 and $570,505 was made for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
15. COMMON STOCK
Common stock consists of 50,000,000 authorized shares of $0.001 each, 6,808,857 and 3,780,847 shares issued and 6,481,857 and
3,453,847 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
On January 7, 2015, the Company consummated the second closing in a private placement Offering and sold an additional 548,019 Units
for aggregate cash proceeds of $3,836,133, prior to the reverse stock split. The number of shares of Common Stock and five year warrants
to acquire one share of Common Stock issued in the private placement amounted to approximately 1,096,040 and 273,484, respectively,
after rounding up each fractional share or warrant after giving effect to the reverse stock split. In connection with the private placement, the
Company prepared and filed a registration statement with the SEC for the resale by the purchasers of all of the Common Stock and the
Common Stock underlying the private placement warrants and all shares of Common Stock issuable upon any stock split, dividend or other
distribution, recapitalization or similar event with respect thereto. In addition, the Company registered the shares of Common Stock
underlying the placement agent warrants.
The Company retained Taglich Brothers, Inc., as the exclusive placement agent for the Offering. In connection therewith, the Company
paid the placement agent an eight percent (8%) commission from the gross proceeds of the Offering ($306,891) and reimbursed
approximately $35,000 in respect of out of pocket expenses, FINRA filing fees and related legal fees incurred by the placement agent in
connection with the Offering.
On January 31, 2015, in accordance with the terms of various exchange agreements (the “Series B Preferred Stock Exchange Agreements”)
entered into between the Company, and the holders of its outstanding Series B Preferred Stock, each holder of Series B Preferred
Stock exchanged all of their shares of Series B Preferred Stock for the number of shares of the Common Stock determined by dividing the
sum of the amount of the holder’s initial investment in the Series B Preferred Stock, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends owed to the
holder, by $3.50. All 2,133,947 outstanding shares of the Company’s Series B Preferred Stock, including accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon, were exchanged for 1,803,820 shares of the Common Stock, resulting in no shares of Series B Preferred Stock remaining
outstanding.
In terms of a court order dated March 16, 2015 handed down in the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk matter, the Company issued 88,750
shares to the Estate valued at $310,625.
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15. COMMON STOCK (continued)
On June 16, 2015, in terms of a restricted stock award, 19,000 restricted shares were issued to the Chairman of our audit committee who is
also a board director, as a once off compensation expense for his services as chairman of the audit committee. As of December 31, 2015,
14,250 of these shares are vested with a further 4,750 vesting on March 31, 2016. The Restricted stock was valued at $66,500 using the
market price of our shares.
The restricted stock outstanding at December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Grant date Price
$

3.50

Restricted Stock Outstanding
Weighted Average Grant
Number Outstanding
Date Price
19,000 $
3.50

Restricted Stock Exercisable
Weighted Average Grant
Number Vested
Date Price
14,250 $
3.50

The Company has recorded an expense of $46,550 for the year ended December 31, 2015 relating to the restricted stock award and a
further $19,950 will be expensed over the remaining vesting period of the stock which takes place over the next three months.
On October 4, 2015, options over 400 common shares at an exercise price of $5.00 per share were exercised.
16. WARRANTS
On January 7, 2015, the Company consummated the second closing in the private placement and sold an additional 548,019 Units, each
unit including a five-year warrant (“Offering Warrant”) to acquire one share of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.75 per share,
prior to the reverse stock split, after the reverse stock split the number of warrants outstanding to acquire one share of the Company’s
Common stock was reduced to 274,019 warrants exercisable at a price of $3.50 per share. These Offering Warrants contain cashless
exercise provisions. In addition, the Company also issued the placement agent a five-year warrant exercisable for an aggregate amount of
253,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share and an advisory warrant exercisable for an additional 100,000
shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share (the “Placement Agent Warrants”). The Company also filed a registration
statement with the SEC for the resale by the purchasers of all of the shares of Common Stock and the Common Stock underlying the
Offering Warrants and all shares of Common Stock issuable upon any stock split, dividend or other distribution, recapitalization or similar
event with respect thereto. The registration statement was declared effective on May 14, 2015. In addition, the Company registered the
shares of Common Stock underlying the Placement Agent Warrants.
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16. WARRANTS (continued)
On January 31, 2015 the Company entered into: (i) exchange agreements (the “Series B Preferred Stock and Warrant Exchange
Agreements”) with the holders of the warrants that were issued as part of the private placement of the Series B Preferred Stock (the
“Existing Series B Warrants”) to exchange both Series B Preferred Stock for Common Stock and their 635,834 Existing Series B Warrants,
(ii) exchange agreements (the “Bridge Warrant Exchange Agreements”) with the holders (the “Bridge Warrant Holders”) of its 150,000
warrants that were issued in connection with the Company’s bridge note financing (the “Existing Bridge Warrants”), and (iii) exchange
agreements (the “Placement Agent Exchange Agreements”) with Taglich Brothers, Inc. and its designees (the “Placement Agent Warrant
Holders”) that were issued 143,401 warrants as compensation for the placement agent services provided in connection with the private
placement of the Series B Preferred Stock (the “Existing Placement Agent Warrants”). The Existing Series B Warrants, the Existing Bridge
Warrants and the Existing Placement Agent Warrants are collectively referred to as the “Existing Warrants”. Pursuant to the terms of the
Bridge Warrant Exchange Agreements, the Series B Preferred Stock and Warrant Exchange Agreements and the Placement Agent
Exchange Agreements, the Existing Bridge Warrants, the Existing Series B Warrants and the Existing Placement Agent Warrants were
exchanged for new warrants (the “Series B Exchange Warrants,” the “Bridge Exchange Warrants” and the “Placement Agent Exchange
Warrants”), which have substantially similar terms to the Existing Warrants except that: (i) the exercise price of the Series B Exchange
Warrants, the Bridge Exchange Warrants and the Placement Agent Exchange Warrants are 30% less than the exercise price of the Existing
Warrants for which they were exchanged (such that: (x) the 150,000 Bridge Exchange Warrants have an exercise price of $4.20; (y) the
143,401 Placement Agent Exchange Warrants have an exercise price of $3.85; and (z) the 635,834 Series B Exchange Warrants have an
exercise price of $3.50); (ii) the Bridge Exchange Warrants, the Series B Exchange Warrants and the Placement Agent Exchange Warrants
do not contain anti-dilution price protection for issuances of securities at per share prices that are lower than the exercise price; (iii) the
Bridge Exchange Warrants, the Series B Exchange Warrants and the Placement Agent Exchange Warrants are assignable by their holders;
and (iv) the Bridge Exchange Warrants, the Series B Exchange Warrants and the Placement Agent Exchange Warrants provide for certain
buy-in-rights in the event that the Company fails to deliver shares of Common Stock underlying the warrant in a timely manner.
Effective January 1, 2015, the Company issued 32,500 warrants exercisable at $3.50 per share to BluePrint Media, LLC, in terms of an
agreement entered into to provide investor relations consulting services to the Company. Included in stock compensation charge is an
amount of $94,095 which represents the value of these warrants determined using a Black-Scholes valuation model.
The following weighted average assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes valuation model:
Year ended
December 31,
2015
Calculated stock price
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of options
Expected volatility of the underlying stock
Expected dividend rate

$

3.50
2.12%
5 Years
119.3%
0%

On March 4, 2015, the holders of the 20,000 Placement Agent advisory warrants exercisable at $0.02 per share exercised their warrants for
cash proceeds of $400.
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The following table summarizes warrants outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2015:

Number of
shares

Exercise Price
$
$
$
$
$

3.50
3.85
4.00
4.20
11.40

Warrants Outstanding
Weighted
average remaining
contractual
years

1,653,865
143,401
7,500
150,000
192,204

4.13
4.50
0.84
2.10
0.44

2,146,970

3.68

Warrants Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
exercise Price

Number of
Shares
1,653,865
143,401
7,500
150,000
192,204

$

4.28

2,146,970

$

4.28

17. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION
In October 2005, the Company's Board of Directors adopted the Caldera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2005 Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), which
permits awards of incentive and nonqualified stock options and other forms of incentive compensation to employees and non-employees
such as directors and consultants. The Board has set aside 1,500,000 shares of common stock for issuance upon exercise of grants made
under the Plan. Options granted under the Plan vest either immediately or over a period of up to two years, and expire 1 year to 10 years
from the grant date. In terms of the Plan agreement, the plan expired during October 2015, ten years after its adoption, therefore there are
no further options available under this plan for future grants.
On December 9, 2015, the Board of directors approved the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan which was approved by our stockholders exercising
approximately 50.2% of our voting power. The plan will become effective on March 26, 2016, 20 days following the mailing of an
information statement to our stockholders.
The 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2015 Plan”) will provide the directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company with
appropriate incentives and rewards to encourage them to enter into and continue in the employ or service of the Company, to acquire a
proprietary interest in the long-term success of the Company and to reward the performance of individuals in fulfilling long-term corporate
objectives. The Board set aside 800,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance upon exercise of grants made under the Plan. Options
granted under the Plan vest either immediately or over a period of time, determined at the grant date and will expire over a period of time,
determined at the grant date.
On March 12, 2015, the Board of Directors authorized the re-pricing of 56,770 stock options, post reverse stock split, issued to certain
scientific employees to recognize their contribution to the commercialization efforts of the Company. These Stock options were originally
exercisable at a price of $11.40 per share which exercise price has been reduced to $4.00 per share. These stock options are fully vested and
resulted in a stock option based compensation charge of $32,375 for the year ended December 31, 2015.
On January 7, 2015, in terms of an employment agreement entered into with Richard Cunningham, our CEO, a further 250,000 ten-year
stock options excisable at $3.50 per share were issued to him. These options vested and will vest as follows: 50,000 on November 24, 2015,
150,000 vest equally over a period of 36 months commencing on November 24, 2015 and 50,000 on November 24, 2018.
On February 2, 2015, a further 5,000 ten-year stock options were awarded to a new employee, exercisable at $3.50 per share and vesting as
to 1,250 stock options annually on the anniversary date of employment over the next four years.
Stock option based compensation expense totaled $486,332 and $702,300 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
The Company expenses the value of stock options on a straight line basis over the life of the options. The fair value of the options granted
is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
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The following weighted average assumptions were used for the year ended December 31, 2015:
Year ended
December 31,
2015
Calculated stock price
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of options
Expected volatility of the underlying stock
Expected dividend rate

$

3.50 – 4.00
1.68% to 2.10 %
1-10 Years
119.3 %
0%

As noted above, the fair value of stock options is determined by using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For all options granted
since October 1, 2005 the Company has generally used option terms of between 1 to 10 years. The volatility of the common stock is
estimated using historical data of companies similar in size and in the same industry as the Company. The risk-free interest rate used in the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model is determined by reference to historical U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates with maturities
approximate to the life of the options granted. An expected dividend yield of zero is used in the option valuation model, because the
Company does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. As of December 31, 2015, the Company does not anticipate
any awards will be forfeited in the calculation of compensation expense due to the limited number of employees that receive stock option
grants.
Options exercisable for 400 shares were exercised on October 4, 2015 at an exercise price of $5.00 per share, realizing gross proceeds to the
Company of $2,000. No options were exercised for the year ended December 31, 2014.
We canceled options exercisable for 72,282 and 255,262 shares of common stock for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively, held by employees and consultants whose service to our company terminated during those respective periods. The shares
underlying such options were returned to and are no longer available for re-issuance under the 2005 Plan.
A summary of all of our option activity during the period January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2015 is as follows:

Shares
Outstanding January 1, 2014
Granted
Forfeited/Cancelled
Exercised
Outstanding December 31, 2014
Granted
Forfeited/Cancelled
Exercised
Outstanding December 31, 2015

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Exercise
Price per
Share

825,214 $ 0.40-11.42
156,000
5.00
(255,262)
5.00-11.42
725,952 $ 0.40-11.42
255,000
3.50
(72,282)
3.50-11.42
(400)
5.00
908,270 $ 0.40-11.42

$

$

$

Stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, as disclosed in the above table, have an intrinsic value of $345,750.
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The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2015:

Exercise Price
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

0.40
2.20
3.00
3.50
4.00
5.00
11.42

Number of
shares

Options Outstanding
Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
years

15,000
110,000
312,500
250,000
56,770
128,500
35,500
908,270

6.33
0.50
7.21
9.02
1.33
4.99
2.92
6.02

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$

Weighted
Average
exercise Price

Number of
Shares

3.60

15,000
110,000
312,500
54,166
56,770
102,842
35,500
686,778

$

3.57

The weighted-average grant-date fair values of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $844,577 ($3.31
per option) and $302,080 ($1.94 per option), respectively. As of December 31, 2015 there were unvested options to purchase 221,492
shares of common stock. Total expected unrecognized compensation cost related to such unvested options is $666,114, which is expected
to be recognized over a period of 37 months.
18. OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME
Other (expense) income consist of the following

Legal settlement expense
Severance costs
Loss on scrapping of assets
Proceeds on legal settlement
Cancellation of shares on legal settlement
Other

Year ended
Year ended
December
December 31,
31,
2015
2014
$ (1,984,750) $
(490,625)
(124,977)
(113,721)
7,000,000
177,522
459
$ (2,222,989) $ 6,686,897

The Company settled the Bellows matter effective September 28, 2015. Refer to note 11 above and to note 23 below.
The Company consolidated its operations by closing the laboratory operations in Los Alamos and Cambridge and as a consequence thereof,
certain employees were offered severance packages. Refer to note 9 above.
19. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE
Basic income (loss) per share is based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted income
(loss) per share is based on basic shares as determined above, plus the incremental shares that would be issued upon the assumed exercise
of “in-the-money” stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method and the inclusion of all convertible securities, including
preferred stock and convertible notes, assuming these securities were converted at the beginning of the period or at the time of issuance, if
later. The computation of diluted net income (loss) per share does not assume the issuance of common shares that have an anti-dilutive
effect on net income (loss) per share.
For the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, the following options, warrants and convertible preferred stock were
excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per shares as the result of the computation was anti-dilutive:

Options to purchase shares of common stock
Warrants
Series A convertible, redeemable preferred stock
Series B convertible preferred stock

Year ended
December 31,
2015
(Shares)
908,270
2,146,970
52,500
3,107,740

Year ended
December 31,
2014
(Shares)
725,952
1,507,451
52,500
1,066,981
3,352,884
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Benjamin Warner
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, Dr. Benjamin Warner owned 23.1% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock on an undiluted basis.
On January 31, 2015, Dr. Warner exchanged 63,201 shares of Series B Preferred Stock for 53,412 shares of Common Stock, which shares
are held jointly by Dr. Warner and Ms. McBee.
Richard Cunningham
Pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement entered into with Richard Cunningham, our Chief Executive Officer, stock options to
purchase 250,000 shares of Common Stock were awarded to Mr. Cunningham on January 7, 2015, which options vest as follows: (i) Fifty
Thousand (50,000) shares shall vest on November 24, 2015; (ii) One Hundred and Fifty Thousand (150,000) shares shall vest monthly on a
pro rata basis commencing on December 31, 2015 for a period of thirty six months; and (iii) Fifty Thousand (50,000) shares shall vest on
the November 24, 2018. The exercise price for the options is $3.50 per share. Upon a change of control, as defined in the Company’s
existing stock option plan, all unvested options issued to Mr. Cunningham shall become fully vested immediately upon the change of
control.
Edward Roffman
On June 16, 2015, pursuant to the terms of a restricted stock award, 19,000 restricted shares were issued to the Chairman of our audit
committee who is also a board director, as a once off compensation expense for his services as chairman of the audit committee. As of
December 31, 2015, 14,250 of these shares are vested with a further 4,750 vesting on March 31, 2016.
Douglas Krafte
On February 25, 2016, upon the resignation of Dr. Benjamin Warner, as our Chief Scientific Officer, Douglas Krafte, age 56, the Chief
Scientific Officer of our subsidiary Icagen Corp., was appointed to the position of Chief Scientific Officer for Icagen Inc. and its
subsidiaries.
The Company has not entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Krafte; however, in accordance with the terms of its acquisition of
the assets of the subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., the Company has agreed to continue to pay Dr. Krafte his current annual salary of $251,600,
together with health insurance payments, 401K contributions and an annual incentive plan targets of 25% of his base salary until June 30,
2017 as well as severance payments in the event of his termination of employment.
First South Africa Management
The Company incurred an expense of $222,000 for services provided by First South Africa Management for provision of CFO services by
Mr. Korb and for bookkeeping services for the year ended December 31, 2015. As of December 31, 2015, the Company owed First South
Africa Management $18,600.
Vincent Palmieri
Mr. Palmieri participated in our private placement that was consummated on January 7, 2015 as follows 22,258 shares of Common Stock
and 5,565 Offering Warrants to purchase 5,565 shares of Common Stock were acquired by Mr. Palmieri. Mr. Palmieri also received 67,305
warrants in connection with his services as placement agent.
On January 31, 2015, Mr. Palmieri exchanged 30,737 shares of Series B Preferred Stock together with all accrued dividends thereon for
26,050 shares of our Common Stock. In addition, Mr. Palmieri also exchanged: (i) 22,500 existing Bridge Warrants exercisable for $6.00
per share for 22,500 Bridge Exchange Warrants exercisable for $4.20 per share; (ii) 15,369 Existing Series B Warrants exercisable for
$5.00 per share were exchanged for 15,369 Series B Exchange Warrants exercisable at $3.50 per share; and (iii) 31,894 Existing Placement
Agent Warrants exercisable at $5.50 per share for 31,894 Placement Agent Exchange Warrants exercisable for $3.85 per share.
Michael Taglich
Mr. Taglich participated in our private placement that was consummated on January 7, 2015 as follows (a) 285,714 shares of Common
Stock and 71,429 Offering Warrants to purchase 71,429 shares of Common Stock were acquired by Mr. Taglich’s Keogh account; (b) an
aggregate of 22,856 shares of Common Stock and an aggregate of 5,714 Offering Warrants to purchase 5,714 shares of Common Stock
were acquired by four (4) separate custodial accounts for the benefit of Mr. Taglich’s children; and (c) 14,286 shares of Common Stock and
3,572 Offering Warrants to purchase 3,572 shares of Common Stock were acquired by the Tag/Kent Partnership. In addition, Mr. Taglich
received 84,444 placement agent warrants in connection with the private placement that was consummated on January 7, 2015.
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Michael Taglich (continued)
On January 31, 2015: (a) Mr. Taglich exchanged 41,354 shares of Series B Preferred Stock together with all accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon for 35,048 shares of Common Stock; (b) 20,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock together with all accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon were exchanged by Michael and Claudia Taglich as joint tenants with right of survivorship for 16,933 shares of Common Stock;
and (c) 60,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock together with all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon were exchanged by the
Partnership for 50,798 shares of Common Stock. On January 31, 2015, the following exchanges occurred: (a) Mr. Taglich exchanged
30,000 Existing Bridge Warrants exercisable at $6.00 per share for 30,000 Bride Exchange Warrants exercisable at $4.20 per share; (b) (i)
20,677 Existing Series B Warrants exercisable at $5.00 per share were exchanged by Mr. Taglich for 20,677 Series B Exchange Warrants
exercisable at $3.50 per share, (ii) 10,000 Existing Series B Warrants exercisable at $5.00 per share were exchanged by Michael and
Claudia Taglich as joint tenants with right of survivorship for 10,000 Series B Exchange Warrants exercisable at $3.50 per share, and (iii)
30,000 Existing Series B Warrants exercisable at $5.00 per share were exchanged by the Partnership for 30,000 Series B Exchange
Warrants exercisable at $3.50 per share; and (c) Mr. Taglich exchanged 33,929 Existing Placement Agent Warrants exercisable at $5.50 per
share for 33,929 Placement Agent Exchange Warrants exercisable at $3.85 per share.
Clive Kabatznik
On January 31, 2015 Mr. Kabatznik exchanged 15,000 Existing Bridge Warrants exercisable at $6.00 per share for 15,000 Bride Exchange
Warrants exercisable at $4.20 per share.
Timothy Tyson
Mr. Tyson participated in our private placement that was consummated on January 7, 2015 as follows 142,856 shares of Common Stock
and 35,714 of Offering Warrants to purchase shares of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share were purchased by Mr.
Tyson’s Revocable Trust.
21. OPERATING LEASES
The Company entered into a laboratory and office lease agreement for 2,813 square feet in Cambridge, Massachusetts effective June 1,
2013. The term of the lease was for a twelve-month period which terminated on May 31, 2014. The lease agreement was renewed for a
further eighteen-month period, which expired on December 31, 2015 for a monthly rental of approximately $17,500, including estimated
operating costs and property taxes. Due to the consolidation of the Company’s operations the laboratory in Cambridge was relocated to
Durham North Carolina during December 2015. Rental expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $206,938.
The Company’s office lease in New Mexico terminated in October 2013 and has not been renewed. This lease was ongoing as a month-tomonth lease for $5,075 per month which was terminated on November 30, 2015 after due notice was given. Rental expense for the year
ended December 31, 2015 was $55,829.
The Company pays for an apartment leased by one of our officers in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The original lease expired on June 30,
2015. This lease was renewed for the period July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016 for a monthly rental of $2,500. Rental expense for the year
ended December 31, 2015 amounted to $30,000.
The Company paid for an apartment leased for certain of our officers in Cambridge Massachusetts. The lease was entered into on October
10, 2014 and terminated on July 6, 2015. The monthly rental amounted to approximately $3,351. Rental expense for the year ended
December 31, 2015 amounted to $20,676. This lease was not renewed upon termination.
The Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Icagen, Inc., a subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., whereby certain assets were acquired
from Icagen, Inc., the agreement included the sub-letting of premises located at Research Triangle Park, Durham, North Carolina. The
lease terminates on April 30, 2019. The rental expense for the year ended December 31, 2015 amounted to $82,823.
Future annual minimum payments required under operating lease obligations as of December 31, 2015, are as follows:
Amount
2016
2017
2018
2019
Total

$

$
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As a result of the agreement that we entered into with the subsidiary of Pfizer, we agreed to; (i) to continue to retain certain employees of
the subsidiary until June 30, 2017, which we estimate will require additional compensation of $3,722,000; (ii) make additional payments in
terms of the Asset Purchase and Collaboration Agreement that we entered into on June 26, 2015 with a subsidiary of Pfizer Inc. include (a)
a cash payment of $500,000 on the second anniversary of the closing provided that prior to such date the service agreement we entered into
has generated at least $4,000,000 in revenue; and (b) beginning in 2017, a quarterly earn out payment (the "Earn Out Payment") of 10% of
revenue earned during the quarter up to a maximum aggregate payment of $10,000,000; (iii) make minimum lease payments in terms of a
sub-lease agreement entered into with Pfizer for the period January 1, 2016 to April 30, 2019 with annual escalations of 3.5%, estimated to
be $597,177.
In addition, pursuant to the Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement that we entered into with Joel J. Bellows on September 28, 2015, we
agreed to pay Mr. Bellows $1,650,000 of which $325,000 remains to be paid commencing on April 30, 2016.
23. LITIGATION
Dentons Dispute
On July 5, 2013, the Company entered into a fee agreement with Dentons US LLP (“Dentons”), our previous legal counsel, which called
for a payment of 50% of any settlement up to $6 million and 5% thereafter. The Company realized a gross $7,000,000 on the settlement of
the matter that Dentons represented the Company on. The agreement also called for Dentons to cooperate with the Company by making its
partners and/or employees available to furnish information or reasonable assistance in connection with any future disqualification
proceedings, as reasonably requested by the Company. Subsequent to signing the agreement the Company determined that Dentons had
egregiously breached this cooperation clause. As a result, the Company has suffered significant harm. The Company further believes that
due to Dentons breach of its contract with the Company, Dentons is not owed any amount under the breached agreement and the Company
is also considering its legal remedies in regard to the harm it has suffered.
The matter remains unresolved and there is no certainty as to the ultimate amount that the Company may collect from or have to pay to
Dentons.
Bellows dividend and redemption litigation
On September 28, 2015, the parties voluntarily participated in mediation and effective as of September 28, 2015, the Company entered into
a Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Joel J. Bellows (“Bellows”) and his law firm Bellows & Bellows PC
to settle the dividend and redemption litigation. In connection therewith Bellows agreed to transfer to the Company 105,000 shares of
Icagen Series A Preferred Stock owned by him, assign to the company his claims against Sigmund Eisenschenk and the Estate of Sigmund
Eisenschenk, currently pending in Circuit Court of Cook County Illinois, and assign the accrued dividends due to him on his Series A
Preferred stock. In return the Company agreed to pay Bellows, in the aggregate, $1,650,000 (of which $1,000,000 was paid prior to
December 31, 2015 and the remaining $650,000 is payable over a six-month period commencing January 31, 2016, three installments of
$108,333 have been paid to date). The Agreement included mutual releases of claims each party had against the other in addition to the
release by Bellows of claims he had pursued against several other individuals, including various officers and directors of Icagen. The parties
also agreed to dismiss all other ongoing litigation between them with prejudice, on October 29, 2015, the dividend and redemption
litigation was dismissed pursuant to the settlement agreement.
Litigation with the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk
On June 14, 2014, in a proceeding to probate the estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk (“Estate”) pending in the Circuit Court of Cook County,
Illinois, a claimant, QTM Ventures, LLC (“Claimant”) was granted leave to file a Petition for Citation to Recover Property against the
Company, Aaron Crane and Gregg Rzepczynski.
In the Petition for Citation to Recover Property, the Claimant alleges that the Company; i) breached its fiduciary duties to the deceased by
wrongfully repurchasing 236,250 shares of Company’s common stock held by the deceased in the Company at a nominal value based upon
the false assertion that the deceased breached a financing agreement; ii) conspired with Aaron Crane to divest the Estate of assets, and not
protect the Estates assets; iii) committed fraud by failing to properly notify the deceased of the Company’s repurchase of the 236,250
shares of the Company’s common stock, at a nominal value, held by the deceased in the Company; and iv) converted the deceased’s shares
by repurchasing the shares to prevent them from being acquired by the creditors to the Estate.
The Claimant seeks the following relief:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

An award for damages plus interest for any and all losses suffered by the Estate and the Claimant;
Punitive damages against the Company;
Attorney’s fees and costs for the claimant;
Any further relief deemed fit by the court.

On July 11, 2014, the Company removed the Petition for Citation to Recover to the Northern District of Illinois. On August 12, 2014,
QTM filed a motion to remand the petition to the state court. After considering the written submissions of the parties, Judge Harry
Leinenweber entered an order remanding the Petition to state court and denying QTM’s request for attorney fees.
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Litigation with the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk (continued)
On February 18, 2015, a Claimant, American Milling LP (“American Milling”) filed a motion to vacate two orders entered on November
26, 2014, allowing Michael T. Lyon and Richard Lane’s claims (“Claims”) against the Estate. American Milling contends that the Claims
were fraudulently filed by Lyon and Lane who had no interest in the underlying judgments. American Millings also contends that the
judgments were partially satisfied and the Claims should not have been allowed for the full amount of the judgments. On February 18,
2015, American Milling also filed a motion for sanctions against the Company and Crane pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137
alleging that the Company and Crane convinced Lyon and Lane to file the allowed claims in an attempt to improperly recover under a
judgment that was partially satisfied. On February 18, 2015, American Milling also filed a motion for partial summary judgment of the
citation to recover against Caldera seeking a finding that the Estate owns at least 88,750 shares of the Company, which represents a portion
of the Company’s shares at issue in the citation proceedings.
On March 4, 2015, the Company and Crane filed a response to American Millings motion to vacate asking the Court to vacate the allowed
Claims but not for the reasons claimed by American Milling. The Company and Crane also filed briefs in opposition to the request for
sanctions and in opposition to summary judgment.
On March 16, 2015, in a proceeding to administer the estate of the late Sigmund Eisenschenk, the Circuit Court in Cook County, Illinois
(“the Court”) heard arguments relating to American Millings motion to vacate, motion for Rule 137 sanctions, and motion for partial
summary judgment. The Court ruled against us as follows: (i) finding that Sigmund Eisenschenk’s rights in our stock were not collected,
recalled, or cancelled pursuant to an August 17, 2010, Judgment Order entered by the Honorable Amy J. St. Eve in the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of Illinois, Case No. 08 C 754, the October 28, 2010 Assignment of Judgment and Settlement Agreement, or
otherwise by us, and therefore the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk owns no less than 88,750 shares of our stock (which shares were
previously held by Sigmund Eisenschenk having a current value of $3.50 per share); ii) partially vacating Michael T Lyon or the Michael T
Lyon Profit Sharing Plan and Richard Lane’s claims against the Estate and finding that a portion of these claims were partially satisfied by
Eisenschenk during his life through collection of Eisenschenk’s interest in certain real estate; and iii) allowing the recovery of Rule 137
sanctions against us, Michael T Lyon or the Michael T Lyon Profit Sharing Plan, Richard Lane and Aaron Crane, the previous administrator
of the Estate, based upon the Court’s finding that the October 9, 2012 claims filed against the Estate by Michael Lyon, Richard Lane and
Aaron Crane, for the collection on the Judgment Order in the United States District Court, Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, in
No. 08 C 754 (the “Claims”), were not well grounded in fact and not warranted by existing law, or a good faith argument for the extension,
modification or reversal of existing law as the Judgment Order had already been partially satisfied by Michael Lyon and Richard Lane’s
collection of certain real estate property owned by the late Sigmund Eisenschenk. The Court further found that Michael Lyon, Richard
Lane, Aaron Crane’s and our testimony, in support of the Claims, constituted misrepresentations upon the Court, that the Claims were
brought for an improper purpose, that we and Crane operated without candor to the Court, misrepresented facts, and failed to disclose
conflicts to the Court.
On March 27, 2015, the Company and Crane filed a motion to dismiss Counts I and II of the Petition for Citation to Recover and to Stay
Counts IV-VI. The motion to dismiss is scheduled for a hearing on May 19, 2015.
On March 31, 2015, American Millings, QTM Ventures LLC and the supervised administrator, Peter Schmiedel, filed petitions to approve
attorneys’ fees and costs in the amount of $158,817, $80,603 and $37,080, respectively. On May 5, 2015, the Company filed its opposition
to the fee petitions.
On April 14, 2015, the Company filed a notice of appeal from the March 16, 2015, orders of the Probate Division of the Circuit Court of
Cook County which (1) found that Sigmund Eisenschenk’s rights in the Company’s stock were not collected, recalled, or cancelled, (2)
partially vacated the Michael T Lyon or the Michael T Lyon Profit Sharing Plan and Richard Lane’s claims against the Estate, and (3)
granted partial summary judgment against the Company and declared that the Estate of Eisenschenk owns no less than 177,500 shares of
the Company’s stock, effectively nullifying the original recall by the Company on December 23, 2011 (88,750 shares post reverse split
which took place on March 25, 2015).
On April 14, 2015, the Company filed a motion pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 305 requesting a stay of enforcement of the orders
of March 16, 2015, pending resolution of the appeal. The Company offered to place 177,500 shares of stock in escrow (88,750 shares post
reverse split which took place on March 25, 2015) as security in lieu of a bond pending resolution of the appeal. The Estate opposes the
Company’s request to deposit shares as collateral and requested that the Court require the posting of a bond.
On May 26, 2015, following oral arguments on May 19, 2015, the Court entered an order that amongst things found the Company jointly
and severally liable for sanctions under Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137 and ordered the Company to remit $97,500 to American Milling
LP, $24,050 to supervised administrator Peter Schmiedel and $50,700 to QTM Ventures LLC.
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Litigation with the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk (continued)
On May 26, 2015, following oral arguments on May 19, 2015, the Court denied the Company’s request for a stay of Counts III-VI pending
resolution of a declaratory judgment action filed by the Company in New Mexico. The Court also denied the Company’s request for a stay
pending the outcome of the Company’s April 14, 2015, notice of appeal.
On June 8, 2015, the Company filed a notice of appeal from (1) an order of the Circuit Court dated March 16, 2015, that amongst other
things awarded sanctions under Supreme Court Rule 137 in favor of American Milling LP, QTM Ventures LLC and supervised
administrator Peter Schmiedel, (2) paragraphs 1 through 3 of an order of the Circuit Court dated March 16, 2015, that amongst other things
granted summary judgment against the Company in favor of supervised administrator Peter Schmiedel, and (3) an order of the Circuit Court
dated May 26, 2015, that amongst other things determined the amount of attorneys’ fees the Company must pay to American Milling LP,
QTM Ventures LLC and supervised administrator Peter Schmiedel.
On June 8, 2015, the Company filed a notice of appeal from an order of the Circuit Court dated May 26, 2015, which amongst other things
denied the Company’s motion to stay Counts III-VI.
On July 13, 2015, the probate court granted QTM’s motion for a turnover order and ordered the Company to turnover 177,500 (88,750 post
reverse split which took place on March 25, 2015) shares of stock to the Estate.
On July 20, 2015, the Court approved and Caldera posted an appeal bond in the amount of $300,000 to secure the stay of enforcement of
the orders of March 16, 2015 and May 26, 2015 that awarded sanctions against the Company in favor of American Milling, QTM Ventures
and supervised administrator Peter Schmiedel.
On July 20, 2015, the Court granted QTM’s request to file an amended citation by July 24, 2015. On July 24, 2015, QTM filed a motion for
an extension of time to file its amended citation. On August 10, 2015, the Court granted QTM a final extension of time until August 24,
2015 to file an amended citation.
On August 24, 2015, QTM filed an amended petition for citation to recover alleging breach of fiduciary duty (against Aaron Crane), breach
of fiduciary duty, conspiracy, fraud and conversion (against the Company) and legal malpractice and aiding and abetting (against Gregg
Rzepczynski). On September 30, 2015, American Milling and Supervised Administrator Peter Schmiedel were granted leave to join and
adopt QTM’s amended petition for citation to recover solely as to Counts III (breach of fiduciary duty), V (fraud) and VI (conversion).
On October 13, 2015, the Company filed a motion to dismiss Counts IV (conspiracy), V (fraud) and VI (conversion) of the amended
petition for citation to recover. On October 13, 2015, the Company filed an answer to Count III (breach of fiduciary duty) of the amended
petition for citation to recover. On October 13, 2015, the Company also filed a counterclaim against the Estate seeking a setoff for certain
claims acquired by the Company against Eisenschenk in the Bellows’ settlement. A briefing schedule was set on the Company’s motion to
dismiss.
On January 11, 2016, following oral arguments, the Court dismissed Count I (breach of fiduciary duty against Crane and Count VI
(conversion against the Company) and granted QTM leave to replead Counts I and VI by February 10, 2016. The Court denied Crane’s
motion to dismiss Count II. The Court denied the Company’s motion to dismiss Counts IV (conspiracy against the Company) and Count V
(fraud against the Company). The Court struck QTM, American Millings and Peter Schmiedel’s claims for punitive damages, attorneys’
fees and costs in connection with Count II with prejudice.
On January 20, 2016, the Court denied Gregg Rzepczynski’s motion to dismiss Count VII (legal malpractice) and Count VIII (aiding and
abetting). The order required Rzepczynski to answer by February 10, 2016.
On February 8, 2016, the Company and Crane filed their Appellate brief in the First District Appellate Court of Illinois in support of their
consolidated appeal of the orders awarding sanctions against the Company under Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137. The Appellee’s brief is
due on April 25, 2016.
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Litigation with the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk (continued)
On February 10, 2016, QTM filed its second amended petition for citation to recover. In its Second Amended Petition for Citation to
Recover Property, QTM alleges, amongst other things, that
(i) Eisenschenk owned no less than 650,000 shares of stock in the Company and up to 1,775,000 shares;
(ii) the Company breached its fiduciary duties to Eisenschenk by wrongfully repurchasing 472,500 shares of Company’s common stock held
by the deceased in the Company at a nominal value based upon the false assertion that the deceased breached a financing agreement’
(iii) the Company conspired with Aaron Crane to diminish the property of the Estate and wrongfully divest the Estate of assets.
(iv) The Company committed fraud by intentionally sending notice of the Company’s intention to repurchase Eisenschenk’s shares to
Eisenschenk’s address in Evanston, Illinois when the Company was aware that Eisenschenk was residing in Panama.
(v) the Company breached the terms of a financing term sheet between the Company and Eisenschenk by wrongfully repurchasing
Eisenschenk’s shares despite Eisenschenk’s performance under the financing term sheet.
QTM seeks, amongst other things, the following relief:
1.

A finding that the Company breached its fiduciary duty, conspired with Crane, committed fraud and breached its contract obligations to
Eisenschenk;

2.

A finding that the Estate owns no less than 650,000 and up to 1,775,000 shares of stock in the Company;

3.

An order directing the Company to turn over all shares of stock owned by the Estate;

4.

An award of money damages up to the full value of the stock owned by Eisenschenk;

5.

An award of pre- and post-judgment interest;

6.

Attorneys’ fees and costs;

7.

Punitive damages; and

8.

Any further relief deemed fit by the Court.

On February 23, 2016, on the oral motion of American Millings and Peter Schmiedel, the court granted American Millings and Peter
Schmiedel, as supervised administrator, leave to adopt Count III (breach of fiduciary duty against the Company), Count V (fraud against
the Company) and Count VI (breach of contract against the company).
The Company’s response to the Second Amended Complaint is due on March 15, 2016. On March 10, 2016, the court scheduled the case
for a pre-trial settlement conference on April 19, 2016. Due to the scheduling of the settlement conference, the deadline to the file the
Company’s response was extended indefinitely pending further order of Court.
New Mexico Litigation Against the Estate of Eisenschenk
The Company instituted litigation in the First Judicial District Court for Los Alamos County, New Mexico on September 12, 2013, to
obtain declaratory relief against the Estate of the late Sigmund Eisenschenk (“Eisenschenk”), seeking a declaration of the status of certain
vested and unvested shares of stock of the Company that were repurchased by the Company in 2010 and transferred to the Company in
2011. Eisenschenk and others were party to a 2005 formation agreement and had executed a financing term sheet with the Company
whereby Eisenschenk was to contribute capital to the Company and that Eisenschenk would also receive common shares of the Company
based on his capital contribution and successful completion of a capital raising for the Company. The Company seeks a declaratory
judgment stating that Eisenschenk did not satisfy the terms of the financing term sheet and that all non-vested shares which were granted to
Eisenschenk were repurchased by the Company. In addition, the Company acquired a judgment against Eisenschenk from third parties and
in partial satisfaction of that judgment, any vested shares owned by Eisenschenk or his controlled entities were acquired by assignment and
transfer to the Company and that Eisenschenk owns no capital stock or options to acquire capital stock of the company nor has any rights
thereto.
The administrator of the Eisenschenk estate filed a motion to dismiss the matter on a forum of non conveniens arguing that the proceedings
mentioned above in The Citation to recovery Property against the Company and others, was the appropriate forum to adjudicate the
Company’s claims. This motion was denied, which was responded to by an answer contesting the allegations made by the Company and
asserting a continued interest of Eisenschenk in the capital stock of the Company.
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New Mexico Litigation Against the Estate of Eisenschenk (continued)
On July 16, 2015, the Company’s action for declaratory relief against the Estate of Eisenschenk proceeded to trial in Santé Fe, New
Mexico. In its complaint for declaratory relief, the Company sought amongst other things a declaration that (1) the Estate owns no shares of
the capital stock of the Company or any options or rights thereto, or any ownership interest in the Company, (2) all of Eisenschenk’s nonvested shares were properly recalled by reason of Eisenschenk’s failure to meet the vesting requirements in the formation agreement
Financing Term Sheet, (3) all of Eisenschenk’s vested shares were properly and validly assigned and transferred to the Company by virtue
of the Company’s lawful exercise of its rights as a creditor-assignee under a contract and Eisenschenk’s uncured breach thereof; and (4) a
certificate bearing Eisenschenk’s name is null and void having never been completed, authorized for issuance, issued or transferred to
Eisenschenk. Following a bench trial before Judge Francis Mathew, the Court denied the Company’s request for declaratory relief and
dismissed the Company’s complaint for declaratory relief without prejudice, further ruling that the Company’s claims could be brought in
the Circuit Court of Cook County, or any other Court of competent jurisdiction in Illinois.
On August 19, 2015, the Company filed a Notice of Appeal from the District Court’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final
Judgment entered on July 21, 2015.
24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On December 9, 2015, the Board of directors approved the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan which was approved by our stockholders exercising
approximately 50.2% of our voting power.
On February 25, 2016, upon the resignation of Dr. Benjamin Warner, as our Chief Scientific Officer, Douglas Krafte, age 56, the Chief
Scientific Officer of our subsidiary Icagen Corp., was appointed to the position of Chief Scientific Officer for Icagen Inc. and its
subsidiaries.
The Company has not entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Krafte; however, in accordance with the terms of its acquisition of
the assets of the subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., the Company has agreed to continue to pay Dr. Krafte his current annual salary of $251,600,
together with health insurance payments, 401K contributions and an annual incentive plan targets of 25% of his base salary until June 30,
2017 as well as severance payments in the event of his termination of employment.
Other than disclosed above, the Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date the consolidated financial statements were
available to be issued, and has concluded that no such events or transactions took place that would require disclosure herein.
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Item 9. Changes in and Discussions with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company has adopted and maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in the reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is collected,
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules of the SEC. The Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to management to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. As required under Exchange Act Rule 13a-15, the Company’s management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures(as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. have
concluded that due to a lack of segregation of duties that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are ineffective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Subject to receipt of additional financing or revenue
generated from operations, the Company intends to retain additional individuals to remedy the ineffective controls.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act
as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and
fair presentation of published financial statements. Management conducted an assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2015 based on the framework and criteria established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (“COSO”). The COSO framework requires rigid adherence to control
principles that require sufficient and adequately trained personnel to operate the control system. The Company has insufficient accounting
personnel for it to be able to segregate duties as required by COSO or to maintain all reference material required to ensure Company
personnel are properly advised or trained to operate the control system. Based on the assessment, management concluded that, as of
December 31, 2015, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was ineffective based on those criteria.
The Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures and its internal control processes will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how
well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of error or fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations
include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that the breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management
override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over
time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may
not be detected. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design
into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act)
that occurred during our quarter ended December 31, 2015 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to
temporary rules of the SEC that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this annual report.
Item 9B.

Other Information

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Directors, Executive Officers and Other Key Employees
Below is certain information regarding our current directors and executive officers.
Name
Richard Cunningham
Dr. Benjamin Warner
Mark Korb
Douglas Krafte
Edward Roffman
Clive Kabatznik
Vincent Palmieri
Michael Taglich
Timothy C. Tyson

Age
45
47
48
58
66
59
44
50
63

Position
President and Chief Executive Officer
Former Chief Scientific Officer, member of nominating committee and director
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Scientific Officer
Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee
Director, member of Audit Committee
Director, Chairman of the Compensation Committee, member of Audit Committee
Director, chairman of the nominating committee
Director, Non-Executive Chairman of the Board, member of the Compensation Committee,
member of the Nominating Committee

Richard Cunningham, President and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Cunningham became our President and Chief Executive Officer on November 24, 2014. From April 2008 until November 2014, Mr.
Cunningham has held various positions at Boehringer Ingelheim, a pharmaceutical company, which positions include, serving as Executive
Director from January 2014 until November 2014, a Director from June 2010 until December 2013 and National Account Director from
April 2008 until June 2010. Prior to working at Boehringer Ingelheim Mr. Cunningham was a senior executive in the commercial
organization leading sales, marketing and contracting activities at Valeant Pharmaceuticals. Mr. Cunningham began his career in healthcare
at Premier Inc. a healthcare company that served as a group purchasing and service organization for over 1700 hospitals throughout the
nation. While at Premier he served as the Marketing Director at Premier Practice Management, a subsidiary and start-up company of
Premier Inc.
Dr. Benjamin Warner, Former Chief Scientific Officer and Director
Dr. Warner has served as a member of our Board of Directors since inception and served as our Chief Scientific Officer from July 2013
until February 2016. Since our incorporation in 2003 until July 2013; Dr. Warner served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and
was our Chairman of the Board until April 1, 2014. Dr. Warner also fulfilled the roles of treasurer and Chief Financial Officer from the
period since inception to August 14, 2013. Before founding our Company, Dr. Warner worked in technology development, patenting, and
marketing at the Los Alamos National Laboratory and in the development of “dual use” government/commercial technologies. Dr. Warner
has co-developed technologies that have led to the formation of several technology companies. Dr. Warner holds a Ph.D. in Chemistry from
MIT and a BS from the University of the South. Dr. Warner is the co-inventor on 30+ patents/pending patents. After MIT, Dr. Warner
joined Los Alamos National Laboratory where he held the position of Project Leader for National Security Programs from 2000 until 2004.
Effective March 15, 2013 we entered into a five-year employment agreement with Dr. Warner (the “Employment Agreement”). The
Employment Agreement replaces his prior agreement. Pursuant to the Employment Agreement, Dr. Warner is entitled to an annual base
salary of $250,000 and will be eligible for discretionary performance and transactional bonus payments as well as certain other specified
benefits. Additionally, Dr. Warner was granted options to purchase 92,500 (post-split) shares of the Common Stock with an exercise price
equal to $3.00 per share. These options vested pro rata, on a monthly basis over twelve months commencing April 1, 2013 and are fully
vested. The Employment Agreement also includes confidentiality obligations and inventions assignments by Dr. Warner.
Dr. Warner has won numerous awards from Los Alamos National Laboratory for his commercialization and patenting work, including the
Distinguished Licensing Award, the Distinguished Entrepreneurial Award, the Distinguished Patent Award, and the Federal Laboratory
Consortium Distinguished Service Award. Jointly with LANL, we won the 2007 Federal Laboratory Consortium Award for Excellence in
Technology Transfer and an R&D100 Award. We have won multiple Technology Ventures Corporation awards for top technology
companies in New Mexico.
Dr. Warner has been associated with us since our inception and brings to the board extensive knowledge about our business operations and
in particular our licenses and products. Having developed our technology Dr. Warner brings to the board significant strategic, business and
financial experience related to the business and financial issues facing analytical companies and particularly our company. Dr. Warner has
a broad understanding of the operational, financial and strategic issues facing companies such as ours.
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Mark Korb, Chief Financial Officer
Mark Korb has served as our Chief Financial Officer since August 14, 2013. Mr. Korb has over 20-years’ experience with high-growth
companies and experience taking startup operations to the next level. Since July 2011, First South Africa Management, a company for
which Mr. Korb has served as the Chief Financial Officer since January 2010 has been providing consulting services to us, including the
financial expertise required of public companies. First South Africa Management provides financial management and strategic management
services to various companies.
From 2007 to 2009 Mr. Korb was the group chief financial officer and director of Foodcorp (Proprietary) Limited (“Foodcorp”), a
multimillion dollar consumer goods company based in South Africa. In his role as chief financial officer, Mr. Korb delivered operational
and strategic leadership for the full group financial function during a period of change including mergers, acquisitions and organic growth.
As a board director he cultivated relationships with shareholders, bond holders, financial institutions, rating agencies, and auditors. Mr.
Korb was also responsible for leading the group IT strategy and implementation and supervised 16 direct reports including 10 divisional
financial directors. From 2001 to 2007 Mr. Korb was the group Chief Financial Officer of First Lifestyle, initially a publicly traded
company on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in South Africa which was then purchased by management which included Mr. Korb. He
anchored the full group financial function with responsibility for mergers and acquisitions activity, successfully leading the process
whereby the company was sold to Foodcorp mentioned above. Upon completion of the merger, Mr. Korb was appointed as the group
Chief Financial Officer of Foodcorp.
Douglas Krafte, Ph.D., Chief Scientific Officer
Douglas Krafte was appointed as our Chief Scientific Officer on February 25, 2016. Dr. Krafte has held a variety of positions over 25 years
within the pharma/biotech sectors across multiple therapeutic areas most recently until the acquisition in July 2015 of Icagen, Inc., the
subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., as Executive Director & Site Head for the US arm of Pfizer’s Pain & Sensory Disorders Research Unit, as well as
positions at Aurora Biosciences, Boehringer Ingelheim and Sterling Winthrop. Over the years he has gained extensive experience in
managing and leading small molecule drug discovery teams that have successfully advanced multiple molecules to the clinic. Dr. Krafte is
an expert in drug discovery targeting ion channel proteins. Two of the most recent projects identified clinical candidates that remain in
clinical development with Pfizer. He was a member of the Leadership Team for Pain & Sensory Disorders Unit reporting to the Chief
Scientific Officer and also served on the Emerging Science Fund which evaluates a wide range of asset and technology opportunities across
all therapeutic and platform areas at Pfizer. Dr. Krafte has extensive experience in managing drug discovery projects and teams, technology
evaluation, and due diligence from both the perspective of the buyer and seller. He is currently a member of the Biophysical Society,
Society for Neuroscience, American Heart Association and Cardiac Electrophysiology Society. He serves as a mentor for the 4D Strategic
Initiative which advises Principal Investigators from the University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill and affiliated partners in drug, device and
diagnostic development and commercialization. Dr. Krafte did his post-doctoral training at the California Institute of Technology in
Molecular Neurobiology and received his MS/PhD in Physiology from the University of Rochester.
Ed Roffman, Director
Mr. Roffman has been a director since December 2011. Since April 2006, Mr. Roffman has consulted with various early stage high
technology companies. During this time, consulting projects have included the part-time Chief Financial Officer of LERNA, LLC (from
April 2014 to August 2015). AdSource, LLC (since January 2014) and Emerge Digital, Inc. (since January 2012 to June 2014), all in online
digital advertising, the part-time Chief Financial Officer of Public Media Works, Inc. (October 2010 to October 2011) (Public Media
Works was in the video rental business) and from January 2008 to December 2009, Mr. Roffman was the part-time Chief Financial Officer
of Cryptic Studios, a developer of massively multiplayer video games. Mr. Roffman has also been a principal of Creekside, LLC, a
consulting firm which specializes in the software, internet and consumer products industries. Mr. Roffman is a CPA with over 40 years of
experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Roffman earned a BBA in accounting from Temple University.
Mr. Roffman’s achievements in financial and accounting matters, his overall business understanding, as well as his familiarity and
knowledge regarding public companies and corporate governance issues that public companies face makes him an ideal board candidate.
Clive Kabatznik, Director
Mr. Kabatznik, currently serves as the President of First South Africa Management, a company that he founded that has been engaged in
management consultancy services since January 2006. From 2005 until the present, Mr. Kabatznik has served as a director of Strategy First,
Inc.; a Montreal based digital publisher and distributor of video games. From 2009 until 2010, he was the operating manager of New
Bedford Media LLC, a company he co-founded which focuses on the acquisition and operation of digital media companies. Mr. Kabatznik
also currently serves as a member of the board of directors of Code and Theory LLC, a New York based digital advertising company
focusing on strategic brand building campaigns in the consumer goods, fashion and publishing industries. From 1995 until 2009, he served
as Chief Executive Officer of Silverstar Holdings, a United States publicly listed company that he founded that was established to acquire,
own and operate companies, with an emphasis on businesses which stand to benefit from new Internet and technology-based platforms.
Prior to 1995, Mr. Kabatznik was engaged in investment banking. Mr. Kabatznik has served as President of Colonial Capital, Inc., a
Miami-based investment banking company that specializes in advising middle market companies in areas concerning mergers, acquisitions,
private and public agency funding and debt placements.
Mr. Kabatznik’s business experience with small public companies, his achievements in the financial industry and his overall business
understanding make him a desirable board candidate.
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Vincent Palmieri, Director
Mr. Palmieri, is a Vice President of Taglich Brothers, Inc. and specializes in sourcing, evaluating, and executing new investments as well as
monitoring existing investments in small public and private companies. Mr. Palmieri received a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from the
Pennsylvania State University and an MBA from the Stern School of Business at New York University. Mr. Palmieri’s achievements in
financial and accounting matters, his overall business understanding, as well as his familiarity and knowledge regarding public companies
and corporate governance issues that public companies face make him an ideal board candidate.
Michael Taglich, Director
Mr. Taglich, is Chairman of the Board and President of Taglich Brothers, Inc., a New York City based securities firm. From 1987 to 1992,
Mr. Taglich served as a Vice President at Weatherly Securities. He brings a broad depth and breadth of capital and business background to
our Board of Directors, with extensive experience in exit strategies. Mr. Taglich is also currently Chairman of the Board of Air Industries,
Inc., a manufacturer of precision aerospace components. He also serves as a Director of Bridgeline Digital, Inc. Mr. Taglich holds a B.S.
degree in General and International Business from New York University and holds Series 27 and Series 7 security licenses. Mr. Taglich’s
capital and business background, his overall business understanding, as well as his familiarity and his service on public company boards
provide him with the knowledge regarding public companies and corporate governance issues that public companies face makes him an
attractive board candidate.
Timothy C. Tyson, Director and Non-Executive Chairman of the Board
Mr. Tyson has served as our Non-Executive Chairman of the Board since April 1, 2014 and has been a director since October 1,
2012. Since 2008, Mr. Tyson has served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Aptuit LLC, a global, private equity owned,
pharmaceutical services company, headquartered in Greenwich, CT and he served as the Chief Executive Officer of Aptuit LLC from 2008
until March 2012. Mr. Tyson served as President and CEO of Valeant Pharmaceuticals International from 2003-2008. Prior to joining
Valeant, Mr. Tyson ran multiple divisions for GlaxoSmithKline (“GSK”) and was a member of the Corporate Executive Team, reporting to
the CEO. During his 14-year tenure at GSK, he was President, Global Manufacturing and Supply and ran Glaxo Dermatology and Cerenex
Pharmaceuticals. Mr. Tyson was also responsible for managing all sales and marketing for GlaxoWellcome's U.S. operations, where he
launched 32 new products, eight of which reached sales of greater than $1 billion. From 1980-1988, Mr. Tyson held executive positions in
technical operations and R & D, at Bristol-Myers. Prior to his tenure at Bristol-Myers, he was an operations manager for Procter &
Gamble. Mr. Tyson is a 1974 graduate of the United States Military Academy at West Point. While on active duty at Ft. McClellan, AL, he
earned a Masters of Public Administration, in 1976, and a Masters of Business Administration, in 1979, from Jacksonville State University.
In 2002, Mr. Tyson received the Bicentennial Leadership Award from the United States Military Academy at West Point and was named
2007 Alumnus of the Year at Jacksonville State University. He was inducted into the Six Sigma Hall of Fame in 2011 and was honored in
2012 at West Point by the Thayer Hotel Room Dedication program. He was recognized as a President's Club awardee for four years at
GSK and his GSK organization was recognized as Marketer of the Year for two consecutive years by MedAdNews.
Mr. Tyson’s business experience in the pharmaceutical industry and his overall understanding of the industry in which we operate make
him a desirable board candidate.
Corporate Governance
Term of Office
Our directors hold office until the next annual general meeting of our shareholders or until removed from office in accordance with our
bylaws. Our officers are appointed by our board of directors and hold office until removed by the board.
Leadership Structure
We currently have two separate individuals serving as our Chairman of the Board and as our Chief Executive Officer and we do not have a
formal policy on whether the same person should (or should not) serve as both the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board.
Due to the size of our Company, we believe that this structure is appropriate in recognition of the time commitment and activities required
to function effectively as a Chairman and as a Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Tyson was appointed as our Non-Executive Chairman of the
Board in April 2014. Mr. Cunningham has served as our Chief Executive Officer since November 2014. Our Board of Directors has
determined that this leadership structure is appropriate and effective for us given our stage of operations. In serving as Non-Executive
Chairman of the Board, Mr. Tyson serves as a significant resource for our Chief Executive Officer, other members of management and the
Board of Directors. We believe that the division of duties and additional avenues of communication between the Board and management
with Mr. Tyson serving as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board provides a basis for the proper functioning of our Board and oversight of
management.
Our Board of Directors has several independent directors. We do not have a separate lead independent director. We believe the
combination of Mr. Tyson as our Non-Executive Chairman of the Board and Mr. Cunningham as our Chief Executive Officer is an
effective structure for us. Our current structure is operating effectively to foster productive, timely and efficient communication among the
independent directors and management. We do have active participation in our committees by our independent directors, who comprise all
of the members of all of our committees. Each committee performs an active role in overseeing our management and there are complete
and open lines of communication with the management and independent director
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Board Committees
We have recently appointed an Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating Committee, each comprised primarily
of independent directors.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is comprised of Mr. Roffman, Mr. Palmieri and Mr. Kabatznik. The Audit Committee is responsible for
recommending our independent public accounting firm and reviewing management’s actions in matters relating to audit functions. The
Audit Committee reviews with our independent public accountants the scope and results of the audit engagement and the system of internal
controls and procedures. The Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness of procedures intended to prevent violations of laws. The
Audit Committee also reviews, prior to publication, our Annual and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-K and Form 10-Q. Our Board has
determined that all Audit Committee members are independent under applicable SEC regulations. Our Board of Directors has determined
that both Mr. Roffman and Mr. Kabatznik qualify as “audit committee financial experts” as that term is used in Section 407 of Regulation
S-K.
Compensation Committee
Our Compensation Committee consists of Mr. Tyson and Mr. Palmieri. This committee performs several functions, including reviewing all
forms of compensation provided to our executive officers, directors, consultants and employees, including stock compensation. Our Board
has determined that the Compensation Committee members are independent under applicable SEC regulations.
Nominating Committee
Our Nominating Committee consists of Mr. Taglich and Mr. Tyson. This committee performs several functions, including (i) considering
and recommending to the Board of Directors, individuals for appointment or election as directors; (ii) recommending to the Board of
Directors individuals for appointment to vacancies on any committee of the Board of Directors; (iii) recommending to the Board of
Directors regarding any changes to the size of the Board of Directors or any committee. Our Board has determined that the Nominating
Committee members are independent under applicable SEC regulations.
Director Independence
Although our Common Stock is not listed on any national securities exchange, for purposes of independence we use the definition of
independence applied by The NASDAQ Stock Market. The Board has determined that Messrs. Roffman, Kabatznik, Palmieri, Taglich and
Tyson are “independent” in accordance with such definition.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers, directors and persons who beneficially own more than 10 percent of a
registered class of the XRpro Sciences’ equity securities, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in
ownership of our Common Stock. Such officers, directors and persons are required by SEC regulation to furnish us with copies of all
Section 16(a) forms that they file with the SEC.
Based solely on a review of the copies of such forms that were received by us, or written representations from certain reporting persons
that no Forms 5 were required for those persons, we are not aware of any failures to file reports or report transactions in a timely manner
during the year ended December 31, 2015, other than a late filing of a Form 4 by Richie Cunningham with respect to an option grant and a
late filing by Messrs. Taglich and Palmieri of a Form 4 with respect to the transfer of warrants.
Code of Ethics
We maintain a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics which is applicable to all of our directors, officers and employees. We will send a
copy of the Code of Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, free of charge, upon our receipt of a written request therefor addressed to us at
4222 Emperor Blvd, Suite 350, Durham, North Carolina 27703, Attention: Richard Cunningham.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
Executive Compensation
The following table sets forth all compensation awarded, earned or paid for services rendered by our principal executive officer, principal
financial officer and each executive officer whose compensation exceeded $100,000 during each of the fiscal years ended December 31,
2015 and 2014.
Summary Compensation Table

Option
Awards
($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)

Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings
($)

All Other
Compensation
($) (1)(2)

Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

2015

300,000

100,000

828,029

-

-

10,226

1,238,255

2014

31,250

-

-

-

-

-

31,250

Dr. Benjamin Warner
Former Chief Scientific
Officer

2015

250,000

-

-

-

-

21,269

271,269

2014

250,000

175,000

-

-

-

21,610

446,610

Mark Korb (4),
Chief Financial Officer

2015
2014

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Name and Principal Position
Richard Cunningham,
President
and
Chief Executive Officer (3)

Year

Total
($)

(1) All other compensation for Richard Cunningham includes $10,226 for Company contributed health care. Mr. Cunningham commenced
employment as our President and Chief Executive Officer in November 2014.
(2) All other compensation for Dr. Benjamin Warner includes $13,769 (2014 - $14,110) for Company contributed health care and $7,500
(2014 - $7,500) for company contributions to his 401(k) plan.
(3) Mr. Cunningham was awarded 250,000 options on January 7, 2015 which vest as follows; 50,000 on November 24, 2015, 150,000 vest
equally over a period of 36 months commencing on November 24, 2015 and 50,000 on November 24, 2018. These options were valued
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the assumptions disclosed in footnote 17 to the consolidated financial statements
included herein.
(4) Mr. Korb is not compensated directly for his services as our CFO, however he is compensated by First South Africa Management
(“FSAM”), Clive Kabatznik, one of our directors, is the managing member of FSAM, which has a consulting agreement with the
Company, for a monthly fee of $15,000 per month for CFO services and a further $3,500 per month for bookkeeping services and
operates on a month to month basis.
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
The table below summarizes all unexercised options, stock that has not vested, and equity incentive plan awards for each named executive
officer as of December 31, 2015.

Name
Richard
Cunningham
(2)
Dr. Benjamin
Warner

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END (1)
OPTION AWARDS
STOCK AWARDS
Equity
Incentive
Equity
Plan
Incentive
Awards:
Plan
Market
Number of
Awards:
Value of
Unearned
Number of
Number of
Number of
Number of Shares or
Shares,
Securities
Securities
Securities
Shares or
Units of
Units or
Underlying
Underlying
Underlying
Units of
Stock
Other
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised
Option
Stock
That
Rights That
Options
Options
Unearned
Exercise
Option That Have Have Not
Have
(#)
(#)
Options
Price
Expiration Not Vested Vested
Not Vested
Exercisable Unexercisable
(#)
($)
Date
(#)
($)
(#)

Equity
Incentive
Plan Awards:
Market or
Payout Value
of Unearned
Shares, Units
or
Other Rights
That Have
Not Vested
(#)

250,000

195,834

-

3.50

1/7/2025

-

-

-

-

92,500

-

-

3.00

3/14/2023

-

-

-

-

(1) Does not include options issued to First South Africa Management of which Mr. Korb is a member. First South Africa Management has
75,000 options all of which are fully vested.

(2) Mr. Cunningham was awarded 250,000 options on January 7, 2015 which vest as follows; 50,000 on November 24, 2015, 150,000 vest
equally over a period of 36 months commencing on November 24, 2015 and 50,000 on November 24, 2018.
(3) Dr. Warner was awarded 92,500 options on March 15, 2013, all of which are vested.
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Employment Agreements
During November 2014, Mr. Richard Cunningham was appointed CEO and President of the Company. Effective November 24, 2014, the
Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Cunningham for him to serve as the Chief Executive Officer and President of
the Company. The employment agreement is for a term of four years, pursuant to which Mr. Cunningham is entitled to an annual base
salary of $300,000, and is eligible for discretionary performance bonus payments of up to 100% of his base salary payable in cash. In
addition, Mr. Cunningham was guaranteed a minimum bonus amount of $100,000 payable immediately after the first year of employment
with the Company provided he remained employed by the Company on the one-year anniversary of his commencement of employment.
The bonus was paid in 2015. Additionally, pursuant to the terms of his agreement, on January 7, 2015, Mr. Cunningham was granted
options to purchase 250,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $3.50 (post-stock split) per share. These
options vest as follows: (i) Fifty Thousand (50,000) shares vest on the one-year anniversary of the effective date of the Employment
Agreement; (ii) One Hundred Fifty Thousand (150,000) shares vest monthly on a pro rata basis commencing on the last day of months
thirteen (13) through forty-eight (48) of the term of the Employment Agreement; and (iii) Fifty Thousand (50,000) shares vest on the four
(4) year anniversary of the effective date of the Employment Agreement. Upon a change of control, as defined in the Company’s existing
stock option plan, all unvested options issued to the Mr. Cunningham shall become fully vested immediately upon the change of control.
The Employment Agreement also includes confidentiality obligations and inventions assignments by Mr. Cunningham.
If Mr. Cunningham’s employment is terminated for any reason, he or his estate as the case may be, will be entitled to receive the accrued
base salary, bonus earned, vacation pay, expense reimbursement and any other entitlements accrued by him to the extent not previously
paid (the “Accrued Obligations”); provided , however , that if his employment is terminated at any time by the Company without Just
Cause (as defined in the Employment Agreement) or by Mr. Cunningham for Good Reason (as defined in the Employment Agreement)
then in addition to paying the Accrued Obligations; the Company shall continue to pay the Executive his then-current base salary and
continue to provide benefits to the Executive at least equal to those which he had at the time of termination for a period of nine months after
termination. The right to receive any option which has not yet vested or been awarded shall terminate upon the termination of Executive’s
employment for any reason. The period(s) to exercise the option following termination of employment, shall be according to the
Corporation’s existing stock option plan and customary form of employee stock option agreement.
Effective March 15, 2013, the Company entered into a five-year employment agreement with Dr. Warner (the “Employment Agreement”).
The Employment Agreement replaces his prior agreement. Pursuant to the Employment Agreement, Dr. Warner is entitled to an annual
base salary of $250,000 and is eligible for discretionary performance and transactional bonus payments as well as certain other specified
benefits. Additionally, Dr. Warner was granted options to purchase 92,500 shares of the Company’s common stock with an exercise price
equal to $3.00 (post-stock split) per share. These options are now fully vested. The Employment Agreement also includes confidentiality
obligations and inventions assignments by Dr. Warner.
If Dr. Warner’s employment is terminated for any reason, he or his estate as the case may be, will be entitled to receive the accrued base
salary, vacation pay, expense reimbursement and any other entitlements accrued by him to the extent not previously paid (the “Accrued
Obligations”); provided, however, that if his employment is terminated: (1) by the Company without Just Cause (as defined in the
Employment Agreement) or by Dr. Warner for Good Reason (as defined in the Employment Agreement) then in addition to paying the
Accrued Obligations, (x) the Company shall continue to pay his then current base salary and continue to provide benefits at least equal to
those which were provided at the time of termination for the longer of the remaining term of the Employment Agreement or one year and
(y) he shall have the right to exercise any vested options until the earlier of the expiration of the severance or the expiration of the term of
the option, or (2) by reason of his death, then in addition to paying the Accrued Obligations, he would have the right to exercise any vested
options until the expiration of the term of the option.
On February 25, 2016, upon the resignation of Dr. Benjamin Warner, as our Chief Scientific Officer, Douglas Krafte, age 56, the Chief
Scientific Officer of our subsidiary Icagen Corp., was appointed to the position of Chief Scientific Officer for Icagen Inc. and its
subsidiaries. Dr. Warner remains an employee.
We do not have a written employment agreement with Dr. Krafte; however, in accordance with the agreement we entered into with the
subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., we have agreed to continue to pay Dr. Krafte his current annual base salary of $251,600 together with health
insurance payments, 401 K contributions and an annual incentive plan target s of 25% of his base salary until June 30, 2017 as well as
severance payments in the event of his termination of employment.
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Compensation of Directors
The table below summarizes all compensation for the year ended December 31, 2015 of our directors who are also not named executive
officers.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Name

Fees
Earned or
Paid in
Cash
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

Option
Awards
($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)

Non-Qualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings
($)

All Other
Compensation
($)

Total
($)

Edward Roffman (1)(3)

25,000

66,500

-

-

-

-

91,500

Clive Kabatznik (1)

25,000

-

-

-

-

-

25,000

Vincent Palmieri (1)

25,000

-

-

-

-

-

25,000

Michael Taglich (1)

25,000

-

-

-

-

-

25,000

Timothy Tyson (2)

120,000

-

-

-

-

-

120,000

(1)
(2)
(3)

Messrs. Kabatznik, Palmieri, Roffman and Taglich were each compensated for their services as Board directors at a rate of $25,000 per
annum. Mr. Roffman was issued 19,000 shares of common stock for services as Chairman of the Audit Committee.
Mr. Tyson earned $120,000 for his services as a non-executive chairman of the Company.
Mr. Roffman was issued 19,000 restricted common shares on June 6, 2015, these restricted common shares were valued at market
price.

Each director is entitled to an annual cash fee of $25,000. We also reimburse directors for travel and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred
in attending Board of Director and committee meetings.
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth information about the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2015.

Number of
Securities
to be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding options
Options
Outstanding Options

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholder:
2005 Stock Incentive Plan
2015 Stock Incentive Plan

908,270
-

Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholder
Total

908,270

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
of
Outstanding
Options
$

$

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future
Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation
Plans

3.60
-

800,000

3.60

800,000

In December 2015, the Board of Directors of Icagen adopted, ratified and approved the proposal to authorize the Plan and stockholders of
Icagen holding in excess of a majority of the voting power on the record date approved the Plan.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND FIVE PERCENT SHAREHOLDERS
The following table sets forth information, as of April 8, 2016, or as otherwise set forth below, with respect to the beneficial ownership of
our Common Stock and Series A Shares: (i) all persons known to us to be the beneficial owners of more than 5% of the outstanding shares
of our Common Stock and Series A Shares; (ii) each of our directors and our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation
Table; and (iii) all of our directors and our executive officer as a group. The address of each beneficial owner is 4222 Emperor Boulevard,
Suite 350, Durham, North Carolina 27703.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Richard Cunningham
Dr. Benjamin Warner
Douglas Krafte
Edward Roffman
Clive Kabatznik
Vincent Palmieri
Michael Taglich
Timothy C. Tyson
Robert Taglich
Joel J. Bellows
All officers and directors as a group (7 persons)

Amount and
Nature of
Percentage of
Beneficial
Common
Ownership
Stock
Percentage of
Common Stock
Beneficially
Total Voting
Included
Owned (1)
Power (2)
74,999(3)
1.1%
1.1%
1,602,403(4)
24.3%
23.9%
51,222(5)
*
*
140,000(6)
2.1%
2.1%
203,163(7)
3.1%
3.0%
728,874(8)
10.8%
10.6%
253,459(9)
3.8%
3.8%
588,535(10)
8.8%
8.6%
105,000(11)
1.6%
1.6%
3,054,121

41.7%

41.1%

* less than 1%
(1) Based on 6,481,857 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of April 8, 2016.
(2) Each share of Series A preferred stock has the right to one vote per share and will vote together with the Common Stock.
(3) Mr. Cunningham was awarded an option exercisable for 250,000 shares of Common Stock on January 7, 2015, of which 50,000 shares
vested on November 24, 2015, 150,000 vest monthly during months thirteen through forty-eight of the term of his employment
agreement, of which 16,666 are vested and a further 8,333 will vest in the next 60 days, and 50,000 vest on the four-year anniversary of
his employment agreement.
(4) The share ownership includes 1,497,385 shares of Common Stock. Also includes warrants to purchase 12,518 Common Shares, 54,135
shares of Common Stock and the warrants are held jointly by Dr. Warner and his wife, Ellen McBee. In March 2013 Dr. Warner was
issued options exercisable for 92,500 Common Stock all of which are vested.
(5) The share ownership includes 29,000 shares of Common Stock. On May 1, 2012, Mr. Roffman was issued options exercisable for
15,000 shares of Common Stock of which all are vested. In addition, on April 1, 2014, Mr. Roffman was issued options exercisable for
10,000 shares of Common Stock of which 6,666 are vested and 556 will vest in the next 60 days.
(6) The share ownership includes 50,000 shares owned by First South Africa Management. On March 14, 2013 First South Africa
Management was issued options exercisable for 75,000 common stock of which all are vested. Also includes warrants to purchase
15,000 shares of Common Stock. Mr. Kabatznik has the sole voting and dispositive power with respect to the securities held by First
South Africa Management.
(7) The share ownership includes 53,308 shares of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 142,633 shares of Common Stock. In addition,
on April 1, 2014, Mr. Palmieri was issued options exercisable for 10,000 shares of Common Stock of which 6,666 are vested and 556
will vest in the next 60 days.
(8) The share ownership includes 431,885 shares of Common Stock, which includes (i) 285,714 shares of Common held by Mr. Taglich’s
Keogh account, (ii) 65,084 shares of Common Stock held in the TAG/Kent Partnership, an entity controlled by Mr. Taglich, (iii) 41,298
shares of Common Stock and (iv) 16,933 shares of Common Stock that Mr. Taglich holds jointly with Claudia Taglich; (v) 22,856
shares of Common Stock held by four custodial accounts for Mr. Taglich’s minor children. Also includes (i) warrants exercisable for
71,429 shares of Common Stock issued with the Common Stock held by Mr. Taglich’s Keogh account, (ii) warrants exercisable for
33,572 shares of Common Stock held by the Tag/Kent Partnership, (iii) warrants exercisable for 10,000 shares of common Stock that
Mr. Taglich holds jointly with Claudia Taglich, (iv) warrants exercisable for 5,716 shares of Common Stock held by the four custodial
accounts for Mr. Taglich’s minor children, (v) warrants exercisable for 118,373 shares of Common Stock issued as compensation in
connection with Private Placements and for advisory services, (vi) warrants exercisable for 50,677 shares of Common Stock acquired
on bridge note funding and the conversion of the bridge notes into equity. In addition, on April 1, 2014, Mr. Taglich was issued options
exercisable for 10,000 shares of Common Stock of which 6,666 are vested and 556 will vest in the next 60 days.
(9) The share ownership includes 142,856 shares of Common Stock acquired in the Private Placement and warrants exercisable for 35,714
shares of Common Stock. On October 1, 2013, Mr. Tyson was issued options exercisable for 10,000 shares of Common Stock of which
8,333 have already vested and 556 will vest in the next sixty days. In addition, on April 1, 2014, Mr. Tyson was issued options
exercisable for 66,000 shares of Common Stock, all of which are vested.
(10)The share ownership includes 352,410 shares of Common Stock, which includes (i) 285,714 shares of Common held by Mr. Taglich’s
IRA account, (ii) 50,696 shares of Common Stock and, (iii) 16,000 shares of Common Stock held by four custodial accounts for Mr.
Taglich’s minor children. Also includes, (i) warrants exercisable for 71,429 shares of Common Stock issued with the Common Stock
held by Mr. Taglich’s IRA account, (ii) warrants exercisable for 10,000 shares of common Stock held by Mr. Taglich, (iii) warrants
exercisable for 104,019 shares of Common Stock issued as compensation in connection with Private Placements and for advisory
services, (vi) warrants exercisable for 50,677 shares of Common Stock acquired on bridge note funding and the conversion of the
bridge notes into equity.
(11)Includes 105,000 Series A Shares (100% of all outstanding Series A Shares) owned by Mr. Joel Bellows which are convertible into

52,500 shares of Common Stock. These Series A shares form part of the legal settlement and upon payment of the full settlement
amount to Mr. Bellows, the shares will be returned to the Company and cancelled.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Related-Party Transactions
Although not in a written policy, our Audit Committee reviews on an on-going basis potential conflicts of interest, and approves if
appropriate, all our "Related Party Transactions" defined as those transactions required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation
S-K.
Vincent Palmieri
Mr. Palmieri participated in our private placement that was consummated on January 7, 2015 as follows 22,258 shares of Common Stock
and 5,565 Offering Warrants to purchase 5,565 shares of Common Stock were acquired by Mr. Palmieri. Mr. Palmieri also received 67,305
warrants in connection with his services as placement agent.
On January 31, 2015, Mr. Palmieri exchanged 30,737 shares of Series B Preferred Stock together with all accrued dividends thereon for
26,050 shares of our Common Stock. In addition, Mr. Palmieri also exchanged: (i) 22,500 existing Bridge Warrants exercisable for $6.00
per share for 22,500 Bridge Exchange Warrants exercisable for $4.20 per share; (ii) 15,369 Existing Series B Warrants exercisable for
$5.00 per share were exchanged for 15,369 Series B Exchange Warrants exercisable at $3.50 per share; and (iii) 31,894 Existing Placement
Agent Warrants exercisable at $5.50 per share for 31,894 Placement Agent Exchange Warrants exercisable for $3.85 per share.
Michael Taglich
Mr. Taglich participated in our private placement that was consummated on January 7, 2015 as follows (a) 285,714 shares of Common
Stock and 71,429 Offering Warrants to purchase 71,429 shares of Common Stock were acquired by Mr. Taglich’s Keogh account; (b) an
aggregate of 22,856 shares of Common Stock and an aggregate of 5,714 Offering Warrants to purchase 5,714 shares of Common Stock
were acquired by four (4) separate custodial accounts for the benefit of Mr. Taglich’s children; and (c) 14,286 shares of Common Stock and
3,572 Offering Warrants to purchase 3,572 shares of Common Stock were acquired by the Tag/Kent Partnership. In addition, Mr. Taglich
received 84,444 placement agent warrants in connection with the private placement that was consummated on January 7, 2015.
On January 31, 2015: (a) Mr. Taglich exchanged 41,354 shares of Series B Preferred Stock together with all accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon for 35,048 shares of Common Stock; (b) 20,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock together with all accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon were exchanged by Michael and Claudia Taglich as joint tenants with right of survivorship for 16,933 shares of Common Stock;
and (c) 60,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock together with all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon were exchanged by the
Partnership for 50,798 shares of Common Stock. On January 31, 2015, the following exchanges occurred: (a) Mr. Taglich exchanged
30,000 Existing Bridge Warrants exercisable at $6.00 per share for 30,000 Bride Exchange Warrants exercisable at $4.20 per share; (b) (i)
20,677 Existing Series B Warrants exercisable at $5.00 per share were exchanged by Mr. Taglich for 20,677 Series B Exchange Warrants
exercisable at $3.50 per share, (ii) 10,000 Existing Series B Warrants exercisable at $5.00 per share were exchanged by Michael and
Claudia Taglich as joint tenants with right of survivorship for 10,000 Series B Exchange Warrants exercisable at $3.50 per share, and (iii)
30,000 Existing Series B Warrants exercisable at $5.00 per share were exchanged by the Partnership for 30,000 Series B Exchange
Warrants exercisable at $3.50 per share; and (c) Mr. Taglich exchanged 33,929 Existing Placement Agent Warrants exercisable at $5.50 per
share for 33,929 Placement Agent Exchange Warrants exercisable at $3.85 per share.
Clive Kabatznik
On January 31, 2015 Mr. Kabatznik exchanged 15,000 Existing Bridge Warrants exercisable at $6.00 per share for 15,000 Bride Exchange
Warrants exercisable at $4.20 per share.
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Benjamin Warner
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, Dr. Benjamin Warner owned 23.1% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock on an undiluted basis.
On January 31, 2015, Dr. Warner exchanged 63,201 shares of Series B Preferred Stock for 53,412 shares of Common Stock, which shares
are held jointly by Dr. Warner and Ms. McBee.
Timothy Tyson
Mr. Tyson participated in our private placement that was consummated on January 7, 2015 as follows 142,856 shares of Common Stock
and 35,714 of Offering Warrants to purchase shares of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per share were purchased by Mr.
Tyson’s Revocable Trust.
Richard Cunningham
Pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement entered into with Richard Cunningham, our Chief Executive Officer, stock options to
purchase 250,000 shares of Common Stock were awarded to Mr. Cunningham on January 7, 2015, which options vest as follows: (i) Fifty
Thousand (50,000) shares shall vest on November 24, 2015; (ii) One Hundred and Fifty Thousand (150,000) shares shall vest monthly on a
pro rata basis commencing on December 31, 2015 for a period of thirty six months; and (iii) Fifty Thousand (50,000) shares shall vest on
the November 24, 2018. The exercise price for the options is $3.50 per share. Upon a change of control, as defined in the Company’s
existing stock option plan, all unvested options issued to Mr. Cunningham shall become fully vested immediately upon the change of
control.
Douglas Krafte
On February 25, 2016, upon the resignation of Dr. Benjamin Warner, as our Chief Scientific Officer, Douglas Krafte, age 56, the Chief
Scientific Officer of our subsidiary Icagen Corp., was appointed to the position of Chief Scientific Officer for Icagen Inc. and its
subsidiaries.
The Company has not entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Krafte; however, in accordance with the terms of its acquisition of
the assets of the subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., the Company has agreed to continue to pay Dr. Krafte his current annual salary of $251,600,
together with health insurance payments, 401K contributions and an annual incentive plan targets of 25% of his base salary until June 30,
2017 as well as severance payments in the event of his termination of employment.
First South Africa Management
The Company incurred an expense of $222,000 for services provided by First South Africa Management for provision of CFO services by
Mr. Korb and for bookkeeping services for the year ended December 31, 2015. As of December 31, 2015, the Company owed First South
Africa Management $18,600.
Joel Bellows
We entered into the Agreement with Bellows and his law firm Bellows & Bellows PC to settle the dividend and redemption litigation. In
connection therewith Bellows agreed to transfer to us 105,000 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock owned by him, assign to us his claims
against Sigmund Eisenschenk and the Estate of Sigmund Eisenschenk, currently pending in Circuit Court of Cook County Illinois, and
assign the accrued dividends due to him on his Series A Preferred stock. In return we agreed to pay Bellows, in the aggregate, $1,650,000
(of which $1,000,000 was paid prior to December 31, 2015 and the remaining $650,000 is payable over a six-month period commencing
January 31, 2016, three installments of $108,333 have been paid to date). The Agreement included mutual releases of claims each party had
against the other in addition to the release by Bellows of claims he had pursued against several other individuals, including various officers
and directors of Icagen. The parties also agreed to dismiss all other ongoing litigation between them with prejudice, on October 29, 2015,
the dividend and redemption litigation was dismissed pursuant to the settlement agreement.
46

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
RBSM LLP serves as our independent registered public accounting firm.
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees and Services
The following table sets forth the aggregate fees including expenses billed to us for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 by our
auditors.
December 31,
2015
$
42,600
11,000
10,000
$
63,600

Audit fees and expenses (1)
Taxation preparation fees (2)
Audit related fees (3)
Other fees (4)

December 31,
2014
$
41,800
14,300
$
56,100

(1) Audit fees and expenses were for professional services rendered for the audit and reviews of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, professional services rendered for issuance of consents and assistance with review of documents filed with the SEC. The
2015 balance includes a provision for the 2015 audit and the review fees charged for our 10Q reporting. The 2014 balance includes a
provision for the 2014 audit.
(2) Taxation preparation fees were fees for professional services rendered to file our federal and state tax returns. The 2015 fee includes a
provision of $11,000 for the 2015 taxation return preparation.
(3) We incurred fees to our independent auditors of $10,000 for audit related fees during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015.
(4) We incurred fees to our independent auditors of $-0- for other fees during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Practice.
Prior to our engagement of our independent auditor, such engagement was approved by our board of directors. The services provided under
this engagement may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services. Pre-approval is generally provided for
up to one year and any pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of services and is generally subject to a specific
budget. Pursuant our requirements, the independent auditors and management are required to report to our board of directors at least
quarterly regarding the extent of services provided by the independent auditors in accordance with this pre-approval, and the fees for the
services performed to date. Our board of directors may also pre-approve particular services on a case-by-case basis. All audit-related fees,
tax fees and other fees incurred by us for the year ended December 31, 2015, were approved by our board of directors.
PART IV
Item 15.Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
(a)(1)

(a)(2)

The following financial statements are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.
1.

Independent Auditor’s Report

2.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014

3.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

4.

Consolidated Statements of changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

5.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

6.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A l l financial statement schedules have been omitted as the required information is either inapplicable or included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements or related notes.
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(a)(3)

The following exhibits are either filed as part of this report or are incorporated herein by reference:

1.1

Form of Placement Agreement dated April 19, 2013 between Caldera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Taglich Brothers, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2013, File No. 333-179508)
Form of Placement Agreement dated as of December 31, 2014 by and between XRpro Sciences, Inc. and Taglich Brothers, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 7, 2015 File No. 000-54748)
Certificate of Incorporation dated November 12, 2003(Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
February 14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
First Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated March 8, 2011(Incorporated by reference to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed February 14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Certificate of Designations dated March 14, 2011(Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
February 14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
By-Laws (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed February 14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated April 10, 2012(Incorporated by reference to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed April 20, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 5, 2014, File No. 000-54748)
Certificate of Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed December 5, 2014, File No. 000-54748)
Amended and Restated Bylaws (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 25, 2015, File No.
000-54748)
Certificate of Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2015, File No. 000-54748)
Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 31, 2015, File No. 000-54748)
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed February
14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Promissory Note, dated September 21, 2006, in the principal amount of $2,200,000 payable to the Incorporated County of Los
Alamos (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed February 14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed February 14, 2012, File No. 333179508)
List of Warrant Holders (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed February 14, 2012, File No.
333-179508)
Form of Bridge Warrant (Incorporated by reference to the Annual report filed on Form 10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 00054748)
Form of Bridge Note (Incorporated by reference to the Annual report filed on Form 10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 000-54748)
Promissory Note dated May 23, 2012 in the principal amount of $750,000 payable to Los Alamos National Bank (Incorporated by
reference to the Annual report filed on Form 10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 000-54748)
Promissory Note dated June 8, 2012 in the principal amount of $148,500 payable to Los Alamos National Bank (Incorporated by
reference to the Annual report filed on Form 10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 000-54748)
Promissory Note dated May 23, 2011 in the principal amount of $750,000 payable to Los Alamos National Bank and Commercial
Loan Agreement dated May 23, 2011 between Los Alamos National Bank and Caldera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to the Annual report filed on Form 10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 000-54748)
Commercial Loan Agreement dated June 8, 2012 between Los Alamos National Bank, Caldera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and XPRO
Corp (Incorporated by reference to the Annual report filed on Form 10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 000-54748)
Certificate of designations for Series B Preferred Stocks (Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29,
2013, File No. 000-54748)
Form of Advisor Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2013)
Form of Placement Agent Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2013, File No. 00054748)
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2013, File No.
000-54748)
Form of Investor Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2013)
Form of Investor Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 7, 2015 File No. 000-54748)
Form of Placement Agent Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 7, 2015 File No. 00054748)
Form of Bridge Exchange Warrant (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2015, File
No. 000-54748)
Form of Series B Exchange Warrant (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2015, File
No. 000-54748)
Form of Placement Agent Exchange Warrant (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 3,
2015, File No. 000-54748)
Employment Agreement with Lori Peterson (nee Court) *(Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed February 14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Exclusive Patent License Agreement, dated September 8, 2005, by and between the Company and The Regents of the University of
California *(Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed June 14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)

1.2
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7
3.8
3.9
3.10
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12
4.13
4.14
4.15
4.16
4.17
4.18
4.19
4.20
10.1
10.2
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10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.24
10.26
21.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Project Participation Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2006, by and between the Company and the Incorporated County of Los
Alamos (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed February 14, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Amendment No. 1 to Participation Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2007, by and between the Company and the Incorporated
County of Los Alamos (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed February 14, 2012, File No. 333179508)
OEM Agreement, dated July 5, 2011, by and between the Company and our equipment supplier (Incorporated by reference to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed June 8, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Assignment of Exclusive License Agreement by The Regents of the University of California to Los Alamos National Security, LLC
(Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed April 20, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Lease Agreement with Reeves & Associates, LLC in connection with Suite C (Incorporated by reference to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed April 20, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Lease Agreement with Reeves & Associates, LLC in connection with Suite D (Incorporated by reference to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed April 20, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Extension and Modification of Lease Agreements (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed
April 20, 2012, File No. 333-179508)
Contract 2R44AI079935-03 with the National Institutes of Health; to develop strontium-selective therapies, contract
amount: $3,000,000.00, operative from 08/24/2011 - 07/31/2014, $184,954.01. (Incorporated by reference to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed April 20,2012, File No. 333-179508)
Contract 1R43GM090387-01 with the National Institutes of Health; to develop assays for carcinogens, contract
amount: $200,000.00, operative from 08/06/2010 - 08/05/2012. (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form
S-1/A filed April 20, 2012, File No. 000-54748)
Employment Agreement with Benjamin Warner dated March 15, 2013* (Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form
10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 000-54748)
Security Agreement dated June 8, 2012 between Los Alamos National Bank and XPRO Corp (Incorporated by reference to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 000-54748)
Guaranty dated June 8, 2012 by and among Los Alamos National Bank, Caldera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., XPRO Corp and Ellen K.
McBee (Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed April 1, 2013, File No. 000-54748)
Settlement Agreement and Release between the Company and Gary Altman dated as of July 30, 2014 (Incorporated by reference to
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarter ended June 30, 2014 filed on August 14, 2014, File No. 000-54748)
Employment Agreement with Richard Cunningham dated as of November 24, 2014* (Incorporated by reference to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2014, File No. 000-54748)
Securities Purchase Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 7, 2015, File No. 00054748)
Form of Series B Preferred Stock Exchange Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 3, 2015, File No. 000-54748)
Form of Bridge Warrant Exchange Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 3,
2015, File No. 000-54748)
Form of Series B Preferred Stock and Warrant Exchange Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on February 3, 2015, File No. 000-54748)
The Placement Agent Exchange Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 3,
2015, File No. 000-54748)
Asset Purchase Agreement and Collaboration Agreement dated as of June 26, 2015 between XRpro Sciences, Inc. and Icagen, Inc.
(2) (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2, 2015, File No. 000-54748)
Master Service Agreement dated as of June 26, 2015 between XRpro Sciences and Icagen, Inc. (2)(3) (Incorporated by reference
to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2, 2015, File No. 000-54748)
Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 2, 2015,
File No. 000-54748)
Icagen, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit B to the Preliminary Information Statement on Schedule 14C
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 24, 2015 and to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 29, 2015, File No. 000-54748)
Icagen, Inc. Stock Option Agreement under the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (Incorporated by reference to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 29, 2015, File No. 000-54748)
List of subsidiaries (1)
Certification of Richard Cunningham, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) (1)
Certification of Mark Korb, Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) (1)
Certification of Richard Cunningham, Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 1350 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002(1)
Certification Mark Korb, Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 1350 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002(1)
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**+101.INS XBRL Instance Document
**+101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
**+101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
**+101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
**+101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
**+101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
(1) Filed herewith
(2) Certain exhibits and schedules, to this agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of
any omitted exhibit and/or schedule will be furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.
(3) Confidential treatment has been requested as to certain portions of this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.
*

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be identified pursuant to Item 15(a) (3) of this report.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned.
ICAGEN, INC.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Richard Cunningham
Richard Cunningham

Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

April 14, 2016

/s/ Mark Korb
Mark Korb

Chief Financial Officer

April 14, 2016

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Date: April 14, 2016

By: /s/ Richard Cunningham
Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: April 14, 2016

By: /s/ Timothy Tyson
Timothy Tyson
Non-Executive Chairman

Date: April 14, 2016

By: /s/ Benjamin Warner
Dr. Benjamin Warner
Director

Date: April 14, 2016

By: /s/ Vincent Palmieri
Vincent Palmieri
Director

Date: April 14, 2016

By: /s/ Michael Taglich
Michael Taglich
Director

Date: April 14, 2016

By: /s/ Edward Roffman
Edward Roffman
Director

Date: April 14, 2016

By: /s/ Clive Kabatznik
Clive Kabatznik
Director
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EXHIBIT 21.1
Subsidiary
Icagen, Inc.
XRpro Corp.
Caldera Discovery, Inc.
XRpro Sciences, Inc.

State of Incorporation
Delaware
Nevada
Delaware
Delaware

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14 OR
RULE 15d-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Richard Cunningham, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Icagen, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: April 14, 2016
/s/ Richard Cunningham
Chief Executive Officer and President

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14 OR
RULE 15d-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Mark Korb, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Icagen, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: April 14, 2016
/s/ Mark Korb
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Icagen, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard
Cunningham, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

T h e information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
/s/ Richard Cunningham
President and Chief Executive Officer
April 14, 2016

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Icagen, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark Korb, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

T h e information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
/s/ Mark Korb
Chief Financial Officer
April 14, 2016

